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PREFACE

This thesis is written in a somewhat more subjective and literary
style than is common for graduate theses. An objective style is .
usually maintained to deliver us from what A. J. Ayer calls "the
egocentric predicament” (1969, p. 79). All too often, however,
the effect is to impede commmication and to deliver us into another
dilemma, the Cartesian split of the cbjective and subjective. In
point of fact, as the physical sciences are now reminding us, when
we discount the subjective factor, we decrease rather than increase
the accuracy of our cbservations.

This style is also supported by recent changes in the APA
Publication Manual (1974). In the words of this publication:

. Absolute insistence on the third person and the passive voice

has been a strong tradition in scientific writing. Authorities
on style and readability have clearlyv shown that this practice
results in the deadliness and porposity thev call "scientificese.'
Same scientists maintain that this stvle preserves objectivity,
but the validity of this assertion is suspect. . . . An
experienced writer can use the first person and the active

voice without dominating the communication and without
sacrificing the objectivity of the research. If any

discipline should appreciate the value of personal
camumication, it should be psychology. (p.28).

The inquiry here reported is in what Rychlak (1968) calls the
dialetical, rather than the demonstrative, tradition. That is, it
does not demonstrate the truth of Proposition A and the.falsity of
Proposition B. Rather, it is truly empirical in its attempt to

iv



describe the reality of the situation as accurately as possible within
the limits of our present scientific knowledge, and to take into account
as fully as possible the position of the observer and his impact upon
the field of study.
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INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

During the 1960's, much of the awareness of people in the United
States was captured by radical groups. This fascination moved even nore
strongly to the forefront of our national consciousness with the
Democratic National Convention in 1968, A small band of radicals,
unable to mobilize extensive support among other radicals of that
time, nevertheless was able to force themselves on the national
political scene through their ability to capture and dominate the
attention of the media, and by their shrewd use of theater and mob
psychology.

This convention marked a critical point in the evolution of
United States politics which has been extensively studied. However,
it ‘also marked a change in the perception of radical movements on the
part of the people of the United States. The majority experienced a
powerful psychological reaction to the events of that period, and
powerful psychological forces were released. There was a polarization
of reactions, with Mayor Daley and Abbie Hoffman serving as major foci
for these reactions. The trial of the Chicago Seven followed, once
again with protagonists to crystallize reaction, in Judge Julius
Hoffman and Bobby Seale. Reactions to events in this period seemed
determined more by perceptual sets within the observers than by the
nature of objective events. Moreover, during that period, many of

the leaders took on personal identities for the majority of the



people, and were perceived primarily as intelligent, white, middle—
class intellectuals. The rewolution was coming close to home, and
people were identifying the revolt of their own children with the
events they saw on the TV screen. |

Many people clamored for an analysis. They wanted to know what
had happened, and demanded of their experts in human behavior scn'e kind
of explanation. In the Chicago area, even the psychological commmity
was polarized. Bettelheim and Flacks emerged as spokesmen for its
divergent branches, appearing to be caught up in the very forces they
attempted to analyze (see Braden, 1970). The cbservers were, as in
physics, affecting the forces they attempted to cbserve, and were
also caught up in the subsequent fallout. Listening to their debate,
the general population seemed to be more reinforced in their previous

The confusion following these events was about to be intensified.
During this period, Keniston (1968) published his study of young radical
leaders inwolved in a Vietnam Summer Project with a somewhat
optimistic analysis. These radical leaders seemed more idealistic than
destructive ’ and appeared to be well integrated, productive individuals
‘'within both the academic and radical commmnities, although there were
personal factors shaping individual involvement and group conflicts
affecting the movement. Keniston's analysis 'was samewhat impersonal,
and it remained for a journalist, J. Anthony Lukas of the New York Times,

to bring a personal analysis to events (1968). His cbservations



tended to fit well with Keniston's, and in an afterword he supported

Erikson's view that

the values of any new generation do not spring full blown from

their heads; they are already there, inherent if not clearly

articulated, in the older generation. The generation gap is

just another way of saying that the younger generation makes

overt what is covert in the older ceneration; the child

expresses openly what the parent represses(Lukas, 1968, p. 446).

Subsequently, even those members of the academic cormunity that

had been samewhat supportive and sympathetic to the radical young were
disconcerted by the emergence of the Veathermen (Krueger and Silvert, 1975).
This group was a study in contradictions that prompted a request for an
explanation even nore strongly. Breaking with less radical groups,
they appeared to be determined not to change the system fram within,
but to destroy it. This was a group from this country's upper micdle-
class who emerged from conflict within the radical student movement
to dominate America's consciousness. Their personal histories, for
the nost part, seered incongruent with the images that dominated the
media. Most of the country seemed to view them as spoiled rich
brats clamoring for attention (see the portrayal of Marin in Didion's

novel, Book of Carron Prayver, 1977). However, the one personal

acocount of the Weathermen which emerged, following the explosion
of a town house in MNew York, seemed incongruent with this picture.
Again, this study was by a journalist whose attempts at
psychological explanation were not very sopﬁisticated, but at
least gave us same concrete material to think about (Powers, 1971).

Beyord all this, the cantus firmus to this syrphony of

emergent conflict and discord was the Vietnam conflict. One



could almost say "Vietnam conflicts" because, as the external was
escalated, the internal war kept pace.

However, even as the Vietnam conflict wound down, and the
oconflict with the country seemed to be deninishihg,‘ a new radical
group emerged to claim the attention of America as few radical
groups had before. The Symbionese Liberation Army (SIA), with
their killing of a black school superintendent and wounding of
his assistant, their choice of a seven-headed cobra as a symbol,
and rost of all their choice of a victim in Patty Hearst and their
subsequent conscious domination of the media, seared our national
psyche and commanded burning attention from the time of the kidnapping
until the dencuement, the dramatic shoot-out and explosion which
almost seemed to be staged for national television.

The United States was stunned by the impact of these events.

At the time, I was teaching a course in adolescent psycholoay for
worklng college students of the aporoximate age. range of the members
of the SIA. There was a tremendous fascination with the events and
personalities of this group, and a need for same kind of explanation,
same context of meaning, which I shared. During the following days,

a great deal was written about this group and its members, and in the
Chicago area we heard particularly about Emily Harris and Camilla Hall,
whose parents lived in the metropolitan Chicago area. What we heard
of these two seemed only to add to the curiosity: two women from.
good families, both seemingly well liked and well adjusted, and in

Camilla's case the daughter of a Lutheran minister. A sympathetic

-



article by Ellen Hume of the los Angeles Times about the members of
tﬁe SIA and their families, published only a year after their deaths
(1975), only provided a few clues to faécﬁmte still further.

Again these events seemed to cry out for some kind of explanation,
which ocould be provided at least in part by psychology. Recognizing
this, the lLos Angeles Coroner's office attempted what it called a
»psychological autopsy," a psychological reconstruction of the
motivations of the people who died in the raid, utilizing psychiatric
and psychological experts. However, they were unaﬁle to camplete the
study because of the unavailability of data, due partially to a
skepticism on the part of the parents that their "psychological
autopsy” would be an accurate portrayal, rather than an attempt to
justify the actions of the political powers (personal communications,
Dr. Noguchi's office, 1974).

It was during this period that I became interested in doing the

study myself, partially because no one else seemed to be doing it.
It also appeared to me that the task of studying the group in depth
would be impossible within the limits of my resources, so I decided
to choose an individual to study in depth, from as many perspectives
as possible. |

I recognized also that there would be problems with this type
of study. The first was the question of ;wheth.er this would be viewed
as an acceptable topic, within the historical framework of
ps&dnlogy as an academic discipline., Preliminary research into
this area convinced me that there were traditions in the fields of



case study and psychohistory which would provide an acceptable academic
context. The second question, posed also by my advisers, was whether
there was enouch data available. Camilla Hall's parents were interested
in understanding their daughter's motivation, and their cooperation
provided enough preliminary data to indicate that ample material

would be available. The next task, then, was a search for an
acceptable methodology from within the field of academic psychology.

For this I turned to the available literature.



REVIEW OF TEE LITERATURE

In reviewing the literature, there seemed to be three major. areas
of research pertinent to this'study. 'I‘h&sé were the renewed interest
in the single case study, the emergence of psychohistory and
psychobiography as fields in their own right, and the develogment of an
extensive body of namothetic studies from social psychology on group and
individual factors involved in the development of radicals and the
radical movement.

As outlined by Hersen and Barlow (1976), the use of a single case
study in scientific research has a long history. They trace it back
to Bernard (1957), the nineteenth century French physiologist who
argued for the use of the single subject against colleagues who
maintained that physiological processes were too complex for
experimentation within a single organism. He noted that the site
of processes of change is in the individual organism, and group
averages and. variance might prove misleading. Intensive stuéy of
the individual then Elourished. '

Much of the background of clinical psychology, at least in
the psychoanalytic school, developed out of the study of single
cases. These were criticized within academic psychology as being
too subjective and biased. Hersen and Barlow arque that they

failed because these early clinicians were unaware of the basic



principles of applied research, such as the proper definition of
variables and the manipulation of independent variables (1976, p. 9).
Allport (1939, 1961) was for a period the only major woice in
American academic psychology arguing for the use of personal documents
and case study methods in the study of personality. He saw these
idiographic methods as complementary to the nomothetic methods more
common to the field. In addition, he developed important methods for
the study of personal documents in a more objective manner (1942, 1965).
Then Dukes (1965) wrote an important article, one of the first
major articles to deal with the case study method. He reviewed
studies of single cases in psychological research. He found 246 studies
in the literature over the past 25 years, and indicates that a review
of these studies reveals "many instances of pivotal research in which
the cbservations were confined to the behavior of only one animal" (p.74).
He indicates that single case studies are most valuanle in the following
situations: (1) when between-individual variability for the factor
being studied is negliagible, and results from a second subject may be
considered redundant; (2) when a single case reported in depth is
representative of a larger class or group; (3) when one case provides
negative results forcing reconsiderations of a hypothesis which is
assumed to be generally applicable; (4) in the case of a rare or
unusual opportunity such as multiple personality, congenital
insensitivity to pain, etc.; (5) when the research situation involves
a long period of time, specialized training, or unusually difficult

controls; and (6) when a research simply wants to focus on a problem



in a preliminary way to define questions to be asked and indicating

future approaches.
- Shontz (1965), in his survey entitled Research ethods in

Personality, includes a chapter on the case study approach in which

he lists seven possibilities commonly presented in the literature for

the use of the case study method. He also deals with the q11esti§n of

bias as inhering particularly in this method.
Granted that this characterization is at least partially valid, it
need not be taken as a condemnation of the case study method as a
whole. Bias is not invariably detrimental. As with cother methods,
the critical question is whether case studies are erploved
appropriately in specific instances to the accomplishment of
purposes they serve best (p. 82).

In the meantime, Shapiro (1961) had demonstrated in England that
the case study method could be applied in é careful, controlled manner.
Many people in the behaviorist tradition were picking up cn the example
. -of Watson and using concepts of base rates and intra-subiect
. variability to applyv the case study in classic, experimental fashion.
The case study had moved full circle, from the.dialetical use of the
case study in the non—experimental tradition of the early psycho-
analytic school, in which the case studies were as mich literacy
as scientific productions, to what Hersen and Barlow call "the
experimental study of a single case" (1976, p. 24).

However, Lazarus and Davidson (1971), who overate from within
the behaviorist position, take a mediating view of the role of the
case study. They see this method as bridging the clinic and the

laboratory, and recognize that
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some of the greatest advances in therapeutic theory and practice
came through clinical experimentation and innovation, rather than
through laboratory research or controlled field trials across
large samples cof cases. . . . Furthermore. . . the process of
discovery that is carried on within the clinical practices of
same therapists is the equivalent of research (p. 196).

ILazarus and Davidson also support the use of controlled
cbservation studies, as well as those utilizing a statistical analysis,
quoting fram Erickson: "The nature and cﬁaracter of a single finding
can often be more informative and valuable than a voluminous aggregate
of data whose meaning is dependent upon statlstlcal manipulation” (o. 198).

In addition, they provide a set of characteristics of case studies
as relatad to research which have sore similarities to those suggested
by Dukes and Shontz. There is also a voluminous literature presenting
case studies. It is difficult to choose among the many case studies
in various therapeutic traditions, but as Marceil (1977) states, tﬁe
case study "approaches an art form in such phenamenological-
existential efforts as Kuhn's (1958) 'The Atterpted Murder of a
Prostitute,’ and Binswanger's (1948) 'The Case of Ellen West. '

These two case studies are also somewhat more related to the
present study than many others in that they do take acocount of the
Eigenwelt, the Uwelt, and the Mitwelt, providing samething oeyoqd
the intrapsychic dimension. However, even in these classic, existential
case studies, although there is an intellectual, theoretical beauty to
them, the persons remain somewhat abstract; and though the subjects
appear to be samewhat affected by the movements of the time,the
historical and cultural connections are explicated only in terms

of the subjects' immediate experience of them. They remain much
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more within the clinical tradition of the case study as individual
pathology rather than the psychohistorical approach.

It is in part because of these limitations that the contribution
of the literature on case studies needs to be sdpplemented by other
approaches. The case study approaches in the traditional literature
rarely take into account the interaction between the perscnality of the
individual and family, group, and historical processes that profoundly
alter the direction of an individual's life. Erikson, in his profound
study of Luther (1958) points out that

Only in ill health does one realize the intricacv of the body; and
only in a crisis, individual or historical, does it become obvious
what a sensitive combination of inter-related factors the human
personality is-—-a combination of capacities created in the present;
a combination of totally unconscious preconditions develoned in
individual growth and of social conditions created and recreated in
the precarious interplay of generations. In some young people in
some classes, at some periods in history, this crisis will be
minimal; in other people, classes, and periods, the crisis will

be clearly marked off as a critical veriod, a kind of "second
birth," apt to be aggravated either by widespread neuroticisms
~or by pervasive ideological unrest (pp. 14-15).

Erikson has deronstrated the usefulness of this method in
generating explanatory constructs, and has been one of the pioneers in
developing the emergent discipline of psychochistory. Other studies in
this area have also demonstrated the importance of understanding the
interaction of historical variables and personal dynamics, e.g., Dicks
(1972), whose study of same S. S. killers based on clinical test data
indicated that these were not pathological personalities in the ordinary
sense, but in many cases were men with weak personalitiés caught up in
forces more powerful than their own personalities. It is therefore to
psychohistory and psychobiography that I am looking for rmch of my

methodology.



DeMause, editor of the Journal of Psychchistorv and one of the

ieaders in the field, has recently issued an extensive bibliography
of the major literature of the field (1975) . He describes psychchistory
as "a new science of patterns of motivations based on a set of problems,
a conscious methodology and criteria of excellence all its own."™ He
states that

What the new psychohistorians are creating is a radical erpiricism

which moves from actual evidence of childhood and adolescent

© experience to actual adult rotivational patterns, each discovered

only through painstaking historical research into the crimarv

documentation. The results contain that element of surprise

which is the mark of true discovery. . . (op. vii-ix).

Erikson has been one of the leading oontributors to the

development of this discipline with his volumes on Luther (1958) and
Gandhi (1969). Much of the development of his thinking in this field

has been compiled in a series of essays entitled Life History and the

Historical Moment (1975). He provides an example of intelligent

" psychological analysis interacting with historical and sccial research.
In addition, his development of ego psychology  allows him to focus on
development as well as pathology.

Many of the leading figures of the rovement currentlv operate out
of the psychoanalytic tradition, and Mazlish has carpiled a

significant group of writings from this verspective in Psychoanalvsis

- and History (1971). Others, such as Renshon (1974), take a rore
‘eclectic approach. There are many other sianificant volumes listed
in the De Mause bibliography.

Another more .eclectic, academic approach to political psychology

- is found in Knutson's excellent Eandbook of Political Psychology (1273).
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One of the chapters in the section on methods of inquiry is a
discussion of the contributions of psychabiography by Glad. She states
that "Despite certain brilliant achievements, psychobiograchy as a
research form is just now beginning to win general acceptance . . ."
(p. 296). After a history of the development of this research form, she
outlines prevailing assumptions which have in the past detracted from
the value of psychobiography, e.g., emphasis on the pathological and
psychological reductionism at the expense of environmental forces, but
points out areas in which it has been very useful and offers
contributions for the future. In her view, in spite of the traditional
problems in obtaining data, one can gather
sufficient information on an individual to warrant a psychological
explanation. Memoirs, letters, speeches, artistic productions,
public docurents, newspavers, interviews with associates, and oral
histories can all provide clues to the subject's personality
which the astute observer can then piece together into an
explanatory framework (p. 313).
These are the data sources which will be utilized in this research.
She also suggests some methods for integration and interpretation.
In short, in addition to the literature on case studies, there is
a rich body of literature and an academic tradition which has
developed in recent years which can provide the background for this
research approach.

In addition to this literature on idiographic methods, there is
also a body of literature applying more namothetic methods to the
developrent of the revolutionary personality, particularly the research
tradition of social psychology. Gurr (1970) has done same of the most

. extensive theory building, utilizing the frustration-aggression model
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of Berkowitz to develop a fairly camplete predictive model for the
emergence of revolutionary groups. Smith (1969) studies a group of
radical leaders within the university context using Kohlberg's theory
of stages of moral development, and discovered that most leaders tend
to be at the advanced stage of intermalized moral concerns, but a’
subgroup of radicals tends to be at a less advanced, egocentric stage
of development, and tends to use the movement as a screen for their
own needs. Schwartz (1972) has developed a conceptual model for the
process of alienation; which he sees as the first stage of the
psychology of revolution, using the conceptual theories of social
psychology. These models are of some use in providing general
hypotheses, but are of limited use in achieving an understanding
of an individual. .

t In contrast to the above efforts is an interesting analysis of
revolution by Krueger and Silvert (1975). In a chapter called

*The Psychological Model," in which they provide a good overview of
psfchological résearch and cammentary on student protest, they note
a wide range of value judgments in these writings. They go on to

suggest that '

One characteristic, however, is common to alrost every
psychological explanation: a tencdency to explain away
the subjects of the actions, the students. * They pigeonhole
them either (1) social-psychologically (protest is the
product of an overpermissive socialization resulting in
spoiled, intolerant, irresponsible adolescents with
infantile responses; (2) scciologically (activists come
from professional, upper middle-class, liberal families
and are outstanding students with strong academic
camitments and a "basic allegience to creedal American
ideals"); (3) psychiatriczlly (protest is the result of
traumatic early childhood experiences and rebellion
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against parents); (4) situationally (student protest is a pattern
of adjustment to the "depersonalized," "dehumanized" ocollege
education of today or to the status inconsistencies students
encounter in contemporary American society); and finally,

(5) generationally (student protest is an outgrowth of adolescence,
a transitory phase whose difficulties result from changes in
society). / References are cited for each of the positions/

These explanations not only negate the students as subjects of the
protest, but in their emphasis on mental, subjective, or atypical
factors they are also inherently ahistorical and overlook the
rootedness of the protest movement in a set of social
circumstances (pp. 35-36).
This is an important caveat against seeing the radical point of view from
a totally psychological standpoint. Perhaps, as the authors indicate,
the radical response can never be totally understood in psychological
terms, since it expresses a transcendent hisotorico-political position
as well as the personality of its proponent. Nevertheless, as with
Erikson's study of Luther, psychological investigation can give us
the human, determined side of the equation which is an important part

of our understanding.



THE METHOD AND PROCEDURE

The choice of method was governed by the nature of the problem
and the sources of knowledge available. It appeared to me that a much
more accurate picture of Camilla Hall could be developed by asserbling
as much data as possible ard treating it from several perspectives, to
generate a general interpretation (a dialetical approach), than by
beginning with an hypothesis (demonstrative method). In point of fact,
the methods are not discrete or mutually exclusive. Vhile my approach
was basically dialectical, there were times when rore demonstrative or
linear methods were appropriate in the analysis of the data. I also
maintained a constant awareness and concern for the signs of bias in
interpretation, while not eliminating the legitimate use of clinical
experience (De Mause, 1975, p. 169) and the use of the researcher's
own emotions.

The primary goal was to understand Camill'a develogment, the
internal and external forces which shaped her perscnality and behavior.
To samwe extent, this posed the proverbial problem of the five blind men
and the elephant: how to develop an overall perspective that focused
on the total personality, and not just a particular, nearsighted
perspective. Many writers (e.g., Krueger and.Silvert, 1975) warn
agéinst attempting to understand the radical movement from a narrow
‘paychological perspective. On the other hand, I began this study

" trained as a clinical psychologist, with the expertise and experience

16 .
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that comes from this field, rather than as a historian, sociologist or
political scientist. Ewven a blind expert who looks at a part of the
elephant utilizing particular skills will contribute more to understanding
than one who has no particular perspective. Nevertheless, the goal was
not to understand an aspect of the "elephant," or to prove that it
acted in certain ways because of neurotic factors, but to attempt to
understand the elephant from a particular perspective by integrating
that knowledge into the total field. That is, I have attempted to
understand Camilla Hall by utilizing those perspectives that allowed
a higher level of abstraction and interaction with other viewpoints,
while including an attempt to understand her own subjective processes.
Fiske (1971) discusses this problem in the measurement of personality
and utilizes the same example (see pp. 62-67).

This perspective seemed to be provided by integrating all three
approaches outlined in the previous chapter. It seemed important to
utilize some of the cbjective methods suggested particularly by Allport
and Glad for analysis of personal documents, but also to integrate the
broader social, historical, and clinical perspectives provided by the
psychohistorical tradition. This methodology is outlined in more
detail below (p. 24ff.) In addition, it seemed irportant to
understand the radical movement from the nomothetic perspective
provided by Gurr and others.

My primary intention was to assenble as much data as could
conveniently be gathered for analysis, without a preliminary bias

or hypothesis. It was terpting to select an hypothesis and
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attempt to prove or disprove it, e.g., that Camilla was rotivated by
pathological needs, or that, on the contrary, she was an integrated
personality; or to select a particular theory, e.g., unconscious
rebellion or identification, and attempt to prove or disprove it.
Instead, I chose to operate phenomenologically, without a

preliminary hypothesis or theoretical perspective. I was rather
like a psychological detective, looking for all the relevant clues
without deciding who the suspect is beforehand. The good detective
and the good scientist are similar in that a particular technique or
point of view is less important than powers of observation and
intelligent analysis: the ability to be open to any detail, no matter
how insignificant it may appear, while being able, at the appropriate
time, to order the details into some kind of consistent analysis. Many
of the classic case studies have failed, not because of a failure to
use the scientific method in its narrow sense, but because the clinician
ordered abservations to fit a predetermined theory. It is true that the
final interpretation requires some kind of hermeneutical or theoretical
framework, but at least we can preserve the order of cbservation
followed by interpretation, rather than the reverse.

| Several years ago, during my training in diagnostic testing, I
encountered an article (which I have been unable to locate) which
provided a similar perspective. The article suggested that the good
diagnostician use the method of "successive sieves" in gathering and
analysing the data. In this method, the clinician initially gathers

data without presuppositions, but continues to sift the data through
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successive interpretive "sieves." During this process, the data begins
to gather in certain clusters, much like a non-mathematical factorial
process, until the diagnostic picture emerges from the data. We can
compare what the clinician does to theory building in the scientific
area. From the basic data he induces concepts to explain the data
and forms into a constantly developing system. In Rychlak's
terms (1968, vp. 74 ff.), we operate procedurally, using the cognitive
method, and then attempt to validate our hypotheses. At this point
the clinician utilizes an appropriate theoretical framework to order
and communicate the data. It is this process that I have attempted
to follow in the study of Camilla Hall. |

The search for the data began with extensive reading into
journalistic accounts of the events. I studied the contemporary account
in the major newspapers and the underground journals, primarily fram
microfilm sources (Hume, 1975; Sorenson and Hall, 1974;

the Berkeley Barb,1974). I read several popular accounts and analyses,

e.g., Soltysik's account (1976) of his search for his sister, who was
Camilla's lover in SLA, Weed's (1976) book on the events surrounding
the kidnapping of Patty Hearst, Bryan's (1977) book on Joe Remiro, and
the interviews with the Harrises in the New Times (1976).

I also read generally in the radical literature of the times
(e.g., Goodman, 1970), to understand the thinking emanating from
radical groups during this period.

I then began collecting data relating specifically to Camilla

Hall. One of the major sources was interviews with people who knew
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Camilla well, from different perspectives. These interviews are '
recorded on cassette tapes, available from the author. The sources
are listed in Table 1. I spent a couple of days with Camilla's
parents, interviewing them about Camilla, and taking an extensive
family history, beginning with the grandparents. I then continued
with a developmental and life history, and ended with an account of
the final period and the parents' attempts to understand the events
of that period. This period presented a dilemma which occurs
frequently to the clinician/researcher: that of really attempting
to "get inside" the subject and know that subject intimately, to feel
those feelings subjectively, without beginning to identify. In
particular this was a problem with the parents of Camilla Hall, who
were very cooperative people who elicited a natural empathy. I have
not had extensive contact with the Halis since that period, partly in
order to preserve cobjectivity and detachment. In the course of this
study, I had initially considered seeking some kind of institutional
support, but I awoided it partly because I wanted to feel campletely
free to pursue the answers without pressure. Nevertheless, I was
aware of some internal pressure operating at this point, in that I
felt it would be difficult to present material negative to the Halls,
if such developed. They appeared, however, td be aware of that risk,
and to be willing to take it. There was no pressure on me to came to
any conclusions or view Camilla in any particular light, but there
was obvious concern that I view Camilla from a total perspective.

Reverend Hall was particularly concerned with the theology of



revolution (cf. Berrigan and Coles, 1971) and with Kierkegaard's

caments on The Present Ace (1962), which view he felt Camilla shared.
In addition to the interviews, Iviewedhonemﬁes showing members of
the family in typical interactions.
I also interviewed Camilla's supervisors and co-workers at the

Hennepin County Welfare Department, where she worked from 1968 to
1970 (Table 1, Tapes 4 and 5). In addition, I traveled to California
to interview one of Camilla's high school fr'iends,» who became a close
friend during the period imrediately before she went underground, a
waman who lived in the same building with her and had frequent
conversations with her during that final period (Table 1, Tape 7).
I also had a comversaticn with Claude Steiner, a West Coast therapist and
author of a well known bock an transactiocnal analysis (1974), who had
known Camilla personally, though not intimately.

| The next source, which provided scme objé;:tive, controlled data,
was her student file at the University of Minnesota. In her file were
three tests taken during student days: two Strong Vocaticnal Interest
Inventories, one taken during her last year of hich school and the
second during her second year of college; and an MMPI, taken during
her second year at college. Experts at the University of Minnesota,
where these tests originated, were also kind enouch to provide
interpretations of these measures. The Strong was interpreted by
Dr. Jo Ida Hansen of the university counseling center, who was aware

of the subject and her background. The MVPI was interpreted by



| Dr. John Brentner, of the university hospital staff, who initially
interpreted the profile blind, and then discussed it further with
awareness of the subject. The protocols were not available, but the
scores of the Strong are listed in Table 2, and the M\PI is recorded
in Appendix B.

In addition to the above data, I was given access to other
important documents. Of particular interest is her file at the Hennepin
County Welfare Department office, which incluaed evaluations by her
supervisors and references from friends (see Appendix A). Since these
were written before Camilla's death, they were not colored by any
reactions during that period. This file also contained a three—arri-a-
half page autobiography written for the agency by Camilla.

In additicn to these documents, I had access to letters to her
parents written over the period from 1963 to 1974, including a letter
addressed to her parents found on her body (as transcribed by the FBI).
There were also a nurber of poems written during the last few years of
her life, J.n her own hard. These provided extensive access to her
verbal style, as well as her primary themes and concerns. (Randaom
sammples of her letters and significant sarples of her poetry are
listed in Appendix C.) An extensive legacy of her art also provided
a window to unconscious processes and dominant themes and concerns.

I was able to view a great deal of the collection at her parents’
home, and made slides of approximately forty works to show to
colleagues and art therapists Abby Calisch of Michael Reese Hospital
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and Linda Cohen of the University of Illinois at Chicago Circle, both
graduates of the noted training program of Hahnamann Medical College.

I also utilized the extensive pathologist's report on the
autopsy (1974) and the report of the ACLU on the final shoot-out (1974).

It became cbvious that the problem was not in cbtaining enough
data, but in proper selection and analysis of the material within the
limits of the time and resources available to me. A purely
phencmenological approach was no longer possible; there had to be
criteria for the selection of data. Several options were open.

I ocould have focused on data supportive to a particular mode of
explanation, e.g., information about the family system, or about
psychosexual develomment and unconscious processes, or restricted

to her own overt behavior. I decided that my aim would continue

to be to provide as full as possible an understanding of Camilla Hall
as a person, and data were selected for extensive analysis on that
basis.

I would also like to deal with some of the basic questions of
research methodology in a more specific, technical manner. This
research is basically a study in personality assessment, and
although it is not typical of much of current personality
assessment, basic scientific and research principles can be applied.
Therefore, I would like to relate this research varticularly in terms

of Fiske's (1971) book on Measuring the Concepts of Personality.
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Fiske discusses two basic strategies used in coping with the various
extraneous influences on the behavior we wish to observe and measure:
One strategy is to establish conditions that minimize the effects of
these outside influences. With this approach, we do not cobserve the
phenomena as they occur in nature, but instead we induce the
phenamena under controlled conditions. . . The other strategy is
to have these extraneous influences cancel each other out. In
principle, if we observe a particular reaction under all possible
circurstances and then averace our observations, we can arrive at
an index that is larcely free of any systematic bias. Such an
approach has to assume that no one influence is present a
disproportional amount of time, i.e., that it does not affect
so many of the cbservations that it introduces a distortion in
our average index. p. 44).
It is obviously the second of these strategies that applies in the present
research, since the conditions of data collection cannot be carefully
controlled. Dukes supvorts this approach in N = 1 studies and the
reliability of sampling data across situations rather than subjects
with a quote from Brunswick. "In fact, proper sampling of situations
and problems may in the end be more important than proper sampling of
subjects, considering the fact that individuals are probably on the
whole much more alike than are situations among one another.”" (p. 74).
In Camilla's case, I have attempted to guard against systematic
bias or distortion of data samples by having many data sources across
the span of an extended period of time and across many situations. I
feel this is particularly important in studying a research subject who
tends to arouse strang positive and negative responses.
However, in addition to gquarding against bias in data sampling,
we need in this case also to guard against bias in the interpretation

of our data. Basically, we are asking how dependable our data sample
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is (Fiske, 1971, p.46), and this is usually discussed in terms of the
concept of reliability, or the extent to which measurements agree with
each other, across times and situations (convergent validation). However,
it is inportant to note that a comlete understanding and explanation also
has the task of recognizing the differences or inconsistencies in results
from different sources or opinions.

In interpretation, we are also looking for the validity of the
interpretation. While an N = 1 study is not as readily subject to
objective statistical confirmation, it can utilize the same basic
concepts. Again, in data interpretation we can guard against bias
by either of the two strategies outlined above. We can check the
reliability across subjects (e.g., many judges rating the same MVPI)
or across situations (different judges approaching the data from
differing perspectives). Again, this second strategy has been
followed in this research. There are analyses of the different
data sources by experts (Strong, MPI, art, poetry), analyses by
people who knew only the barest biographical details, such as age
and sex of the subject (MMPI, art). There are also observational
samples taken from work situations (work file). However, there are
additional reliability checks, e.g., two experts giving independent
judgments (art therapists). These procedures are again used to guard
against systematic bias or distortion, and to provide a measure of
acbjectivity (cf. Table 1).

However, as indicated above, in addition to the traditional

.research methodology used in the measurement of personality and
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the case study model, I have utilized the methodology of psychobiography,
particular that outlined by Glad (1973).

For many of the psychoanalytically oriented psychobiographers, the
primary source of validation has been the method of internal cognitive
oonsistency, or agreement with theory. While this method has same
validity, it has not always encouraged cbjective checking against
external sources of validity. Therefore, many more recent psycho-
biographers have emphasized more cbjective measures, but as Glad
indicates, there are limitations to this approach.

In terms of scientific rigor, this approach (emphasizing objective
measures and quantitative techniques) has ruch to recommend it, but
as a research technique it is likely to have a limited use in
psychobiography. In covering an entire life, the biogravher is
required to draw from a wide variety of sources; intuitively, he
may discover that some are more important than others

(Garraty, 1957, p. 219 Holt, 1961). In tae Hughes study, for
example, themes apparently unimportant by quantitative measures
(for example, the number of references to "reasor:" in his speeches)
were shown--through an investigation of the teachings of his
parents, church, and school authorities--to be the keystone of his
ideological system. This finding could not have been determined by
any formula for collecting and handling the data announced at the
beginning of the project: it was based, instead on an interplay
between theoretically based "hunches" and flexibility in the
choice of trails leading to data (see the method of successive
sieves outlined in the first part of this chapter). Furthermore,
in comparative biography one may have to relv on data types that
are not comparable in quantitative terms. Any available source
must be used when one is trying to capture relevant but slippery
facts about diverse individuals, who may have left quite

different trackings behind them ( p. 314).

However, at the same time, she indicates that:

Because the psychobiographer may attend to some wnusual and varied

- data forms and because his personality may influence what he can
get and how he interprets it, it is particularly Iportant that he
follow traditional rules for data collection and management. In
interpreting data which is often fragmentary and sometimes internally
contradictory, he is well advised to follow guidelines such as those
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suggested by Allport (1942) in his "Use of Personal Documents in
Psychological Science." . . . Equally irportant is the requirement
that his sources be civen, so that the credibility of his sources
and his relative objectivity in erploying them can be checked.

(p. 315, 316) N

For this reason, in addition to the usual citations, I have prepared
a table (Table 1) listing all of my data sources and where the materlal
is available.

The final methodological question is that of generalizability. As
Dukes (1965) and others have indicated, generaiizability is not always a
required or desirable feature of N = 1 studies. In fact, one of the
reasons for such a study may be the very uniqueness of the personality
and the factors inwlved. This is, nevertheless, one of the desirable
goals of scientific research, and one of the reasons for doing this
~ study is because Camilla may be representative of a larger group of
people. Nevertheless, the immediate study can only stress the
reliability and the validity of the findings under present conditions,
and it would remain for a separate study to determine to what extent
and under what conditions these firdings can be generalized. This is
the way scientific research has typically proceeded: isolating
particular factors in a single instance, then generating hypotheses
which are studied in similar instances involving additional subjects.

Finally, in terms of methodological considerations, there has
been a concern for basic accuracy of the data. 'mereforg, all data
(not interpretations) were checked by two sources: Camiila's parents
and Mary Pearsan, who was Camilla's roommate during her last year at
the University of Minnesota and maintained a friendship with her over

subsequent years.



THE DATA

In this chapter, the data about Camilla Hall are presented, along
with interpretations of particular data samples, where appropriate.
(For a list of the sources of data, see Table 1.) In the following
chapter, there will be an analysis and integration of all the data
presented. During her last two years of high school, until she
moved to California, Camilla was known as Candy, but for purposes
of stylistic consistency she will be referred to as Camilla.

Camilla Hall was born March 24, 1945, at 3:12 p.m., in
St.Peter, Minnesota, where her father was Chairman of the Department
of Theology at Gustavus Adolphus College. Her father had gone to
Seattle, Washington, to preach at a Lenten service, so Camilla
encountered one of the realities of being part of a minister's family

from the very beginning.
CAMILIA'S FAMILY BACKGROUND

Camilla's paternal grandfather, George Daniel Fall, was born on
a farm in Sweden in 1370. He had about six years of schoolihg,
interrupted by farm work, sickness, and storms. At the age of 18,
he decided to emigrate to America. He came from a religious family
which belonged to the pietistic movement that affected much of
Eurcpe ard America, a populist movement emphasizing immediate,

experienced religion and reacting against institutional formalism,
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Table 1

List of primary data sources utilized in

research on Camilla Hall

I. Interviews taped on five 90-minute and two 120-minute cassette

tapes. On file with the author.

A.

Tapes 1 - 3 are 90-minute tapes of interviews with
Rev. and Mrs. Hall, the parents of Camilla, and
Susan O'Brien, a high school friend.

Tape 4, also 90 minutes, includes interviews with
Alan Carlson and Jean Bigelow. Alan Carlson was one
of the supervisors at the Hennepin County Welfare
Department, and Jean Bigelow was a friend and
co-worker. This tape also includes the beginning
of Dr. John Brentner's analysis of the MMPI.

Tape 5,also 90 minutes, includes the rest of

Dr. Brentner's analysis, an interview with

Dolores Peck, Carnilla's primary supe.jcvisor at

the Hennepin County Welfare Department, and

Dr. Jo Ida Hansen's analysis of the two Strong
Vocational Inventories.

Tape 6, 120 minutes, includes interviews with

Fhonna Landy, a co-worker in Minneapolis who



Table 1 (continued)

also moved to Los Angeles, and Betty Esbjornson, who
was also a co-worker in Minneapolis. ‘Camilla stayed
with Betty and Dick Esbjornson when she moved to
Topanga Canyon, near Los Angeles.

E. Tape 7, also 120 minutesl, includes the interview
with the friend fram Minneapolis who later lived
in Berkeley, who asked rot to be named.

ITI. Camillas student file fram the University of Minnesota. These
materials are on file at the University of Minnesota.
A. T™Wo Strong Vocational Interest protocols. Cf. Table 2
for the scoring profiles.
B. An MPI. Cf. Appendix B for a copy of the protocol
listing Camilla's scores.
C. College entrance tests.

D. Transcripts and grades. .

ITII. Hennepin County Velfare Department personnel file. This
file is available at the Hennepin County %elfare Department
in Minneapolis. The following materials from the file are
included in Appendix A: '

A. Three letters of recommendations from friends .

B. Supervisor evaluations from Duluth.

C. Camilla's autcbiography submitted at the time of her
D. Camilla's application.
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Table 1 (continued)

Additional evaluations are included in this file for each six month
period.

Letters and poems written by Camilla. The original copies are in the
possession of Rev. and Mrs. Hall, but the following are on file with
the author:

A, Forty-five letters written from 10-5-64 to 12-8-73.

B. A copy of the final letter found on Camilla's body.

C. Twenty poems written by Camilla.

D. A written analysis of the above materials by

Dr. Lee Roloff.

Selected letters and poems, including the final letter, are included
in Appendix C.

Paintings and drawings, including a sketch of a ciaildren's book with
illustrations by Camilla. Some of these are in the possession of the
Halls, but at times selected paintings are on exhibition or in the
possession of other people, includinc members of the collective.
The following materials are on file with the author:

A. Approximately 40 slides of Camilla's paintings.

B. Cassette tapes of comments by art therapists Abby Calisch

and Linda Cohen after viewing the above slides.

The camplete autopsy report prepared by Dr.Noguchi, chief medical

examiner for Los Angeles County. A copy of this report is

a\ailable from the author.



VII.
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Table 1 (continued)

A report issued by the Los Angeles chapter of the ACILU entitled
"Issue of adequate warning to occupants of the house and
residents of the comumnity." This is an investigation

into the circumstances surrounding the death of Camilla and
her fellow members of the SILA, questioning police procedures.

A ocopy is available from the author.



when he came to America, he worked on a farm in New Jersey and was
active in the local Mission Convenant Church. His innate talent and
interest were noticed, and he was urged to become a minister.

His first marriage was a short history of tragedy. A deformed
child was born, who spent most of a short life in an institution near
Chicago. His wife died of consumption after a year or two of marriage.
He then took a little church in rural Nebraska, and there married a
young woman who played the organ in one of the churches he served.
Her family had moved to Nebraska to homestead after being burned
out by the Chicago fire. Vhile they were serving parishes in Kansas
and Nebraska, their four children were born: Clarence, who became a
Lutheran pastor and the President of the Nebraska Chapter o€ the
Augustana Synod; then Elsa,.who married a medical doctor in General
Practice in Albert City, Iowa; Dorothy, who married a mail carrier
in Albert City, Iowa; and George Fridolph, Camilla's father, who
was born July 24, 1908. The family moved to the Humboldt Park area
of Chicago (1913-1920), but the Rev. Hall, Sr., had difficulty making
the transition from Swedish to English, so they moved to Lanyon, Iowa,
where they stayed until his death in 1927.

Camilla's father was thus the youngest of four in a high-
achieving family, upwardly mobile in a socio—cultural rather than
an economic sense. He was born in Stromsburg, Nebraska, spent most
of his grade school years in Humboldt Park, an area of Crucago with
mixed ethnic populations, and then went to high school and college
in the rural midwest. In grade school he was advanced a year.
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Predictably, he was a high achiever in high school, on all athletic teams
as well as in declamation and drama. He attended Augustana College in
Rock Island, and was oriented toward extra-curricular activities,
particularly music. After travelling in Europe with the school band,
he wrote a book which was published when he was 19. Vhen his father
was known to have cancer, the family decided he should go to school
all year, to get as much as possible before the money ran out. He
went to Iowa State one summer, and graduated from college in a little
over three years. He then went to Augustana Seminary, and here he
became more academically oriented. He heard Dr. E. J. Goodspeed,
a noted New Testament scholar, speak at a dinner club and decided
to study with him. He came to the University of Chicago Divinity
School, and attended while serving the Ebenezer Lutheran Church
part time. Although he had not originally intended to work for
a degree, he obtained a Ph.D. from the divinity school in New
Testament Studies at the age of 25. Thus, he was not only the
youngest in his family, but generally a year or two younger than
his classmates during hls educational develoovment.

He was ordained in 1934 and served a Lutheran church for two years
in Gary, Indiana, with a congregation of steel workers struggling
through the depression. In 1936 he went to Bethany College, in
Lindsborg, Kansas, as a religion instructor. In 1937 he met and
married a young art student, Camilla's mother. He was called to
Gustavus Adolphus College in St. Peter, Minnesota, in 1938, where

-he stayed until 1954, During this period, he served as chairman
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of the Religion Department and as Vice President of the
ocollege.
Camilla's maternal crandfather was born in Nebraska in 1874 to

a family of German immigrants. Her maternal grandmother came from
Germany at the age of 5. Both were youngest children of prominent
families, but as younger childrenwere left nothing. Both families
settled in Holton, a town in central Kansas. Mrs. Hall describes
her parents as having a good, solid marriage. Her father started
a newspaper in a small town in Missouri. They moved to Coffeyville,
Kansas, where he wanted to start a newspaper, but the loss of one
eye in an accident forced him to give up the newspaper and open a
furniture store. He was also very active in the local Methodist
church, where he served as Sunday School Superintendent, and was
often told he should have been a preacher. (He had brothers who
were teachers and preachers.) He was an inventive man, mechanically
skilled as well as creative, and he developed an awning business.
He was a practical, hard-working man, an idealist and something of
a dreamer. His wife worked hard, helping him in his business
ventures and sewing clothes for the family. There was never quite
enough money, but scmehow their dream of four children completing
college was achieved.

' The oldest daughter, Naomi, became a teacher and a drama coach.
The second, Josephine, became a medical technician, raised a family,

then returned to high school teaching. ILorena, Camilla's mother,
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was the third of four daughters. Helen, the fourth, was a very clever

writer who married and did free-lance writing in the Boston area. She
was a very private, independent person. Both Helen and Naomi died of
cancer.

lorena was a shy, self-conscious child who liked to lose herself
in drawing. Vhen the time came for college, she did not feel mature
enough, and worked for a year and a half to save money. She attended
Junior College in Coffeyville, then went to Oklahoma College for Women
for one year. She transferred to Bethany College to study with
Birger Sandzen, a midwestern painter whose work she liked. During her
senior year she was asked to be an assistant in the art department, and
was asked to teach part time the following year. She married
George Hall the day after her graduation, May 30, 1937. She
continued some work and teaching in the field of art until the birth
of George Terrence (Terry) in 1941. Peter Kermit was born in 1942,
Camilla in 1945, and Nan in 1947.

Brief accounts of Camilla's siblings follow, as described
primarily by Iorena Hall. Terry, she reports, was the kind of
child who seemed like an older brother from the day he was born,
and always seemed exceptionally mature for his age. His mother
felt he would probably have become something like a minister.
However, when he was 7 years old, while the family was vacationing
in Colorado, he became seriously ill. He appeared to recover, but
died as they were returning home, in Rapid City, South Dakota.
The cause of his death was later diagnosed as myocarditis,
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possibly caused by a cold. Camilla was three years old at this
time.

Peter Kermit Hall was born May 17, 1942, and though he and his
brother were like twins in some ways, always wearing the same clothes
and very close, he is described as entirely different. FHe was a
"little Rascal,"” moving all the tlme, who had to do everything his
own way His mother feels that he would have been a brilliant,
creative person, and remembers that his first-grade teacher always
talked about his accamplishments. Peter died on March 1 at the age
of eight of nephritis, after a month in the Mayo Clinic. Camilla
was five at the time, and Nan had celebrated her third birthday the
day before.

Nan was born February 28, 1947, wvhen Camilla was twenty-three
months old. She was born with a congenital hip defect, and required
a great deal of attention. From the beginning she liked pretty,
frilly things, and received much attention, especially from people
outside the family. She frequently underwent manipulative procedures,
and had to relearn to walk seven times. The family was very inwvolved
with her. During Camilla's middle high-school years, Nan began needing
more medical attention, and the family was told that she probably
would not live to adulthood because she had als.o developed nephritis.
In spite of all medical efforts, Nan died December 15, 1962, when
Camilla was seventeen and in her senior year. The day before,
Camilla had been named "class clown" of her high school class of 1963.



CAMILIA'S LIFE

Camilla appears to have passed through the early developmental
stages at the usual rate; nothing unusual is recalled. When she was
about a year old, the family moved east, to Upsala College in
New Jersey for a one year teaching assignment, to permit Reverend Hall
to study with Tillich and Niebuhr during a sabbatical year. The second
semester he took over a church and parsonage in Stanford, Connecticut,
in addition to his studies, and it was here that Camilla learned to
walk. They moved back to St. Peter and Gustavus Adolphus, and when
Camilla was between two years and thirty ronths old, she developed
pneuronia and was in the hospital about ten days. There were no
complications, but she was isolated from the family, and when she
came home she vas "so happy she ocouldn't cope, but turned around
and refused to look at any of them."

It was also during this period that Camilla had to cope with
the appearance of a younger sibling who demanded a lot of attention,
and there were times when Camilla was jealous of all the attention
shown to Nan. In this period, too, the family was pounded by the
successive blows of the deaths of Terry and Peter. The family was
generally very close, with a lot of family activity and trips.

Terry and’Peter had been particularly close, and Camilla had been

close to Peter.
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Before Candlia was born the family had considered going to Africa,
to help meet the needs of a wartime missicn field, but passports for
the children were denied. However, in 1951, when Camilla was six,
Reverend Hall was asked to go to Tanganyika, East Africa, where he
was the education secretary for the Luthefan church in the Northern
and Tanga Provinces,having responsibility for about 300 teachers and
30,000 students in 85 schools. He traveled a great deal during this
period, and Camilla and Nan spent much time with their mother, who
was also Camilla's teacher for her first and second grade work, using
materials provided by the school in St.Peter. Her playmates were
African children, but there was also contact with other white children
fram missionary families living nearby. Camilla ard Nan learned to
play shepherds flutes and hame-made stringed instruments and exchanged
songs with the Africans. They viewed this as a happy time, but returned
after one two-year term, in 1953, because Nan needed medical attention
which was not available there.

After a year in St.Peter, Reverend Hall was asked to go to
New York to be Secretary of Missions for the Lutheran Vorld Federation
Comnission of Younger Churches, which involved a lot of overseas
travel. The family settled in Montclair, MNew Jersey, where Camilla
and Nan attended an excellent but danand_mg school. Camilla had
some difficulty with math, as this had not been emphasized in Africa,
and had to struggle to overcome it. She continued her interest in

music, playing the mouth organ.
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After several vears in New York, Reverend Hall accepted a call to
Arlington Hills Lutheran Church, on the East Side of St. Paul, Minnesota.
This was a large and desirable church, but the decision to acceot was
also motivated by Nan's need of treatment, as this church was near
Children's Hospital. After two years Reverend Hall went to the |
University of Minnesota as student pastor, and Camilla completed
her high school years at Washburn Figh School.

As her mother describes her, Camilla had been at times a very
stubborn and strong-willed child. Shortly after she started first
grade, she made it plain that she did not like wearing dresses. She
preferred basic, simple clothes. Although a bit overweicht, she was
an active, energetic, athletic child. A friend a year older remembers
her as sarething of a tamboy,loving to play cowboy and Indian games.
She liked people, always wanted friends, and in the earlier years was -
like a little puppy, demanding so much attention and affection that
she sametimes alienated people because she was so anxious to make
friends. Her mother recalls that she was always apparently harpy,
never cbviously depressed. As she grew older, she was considered
independent, but very affectionate and considerate.

In high school there was sore conflict with parents,
particularly because of loyalty to her peer gx';:up, which meant a greai:
deal to her. Camilla began smoking during her last high school years,
buying cigarettes out of her allowance. Her parents disliked this,
but did not forbid it. Like her father, during this period she was



more active in extracurricular and social activities than in academic
work, but a friend recalls her as having impressive intellectual
capabilities when her intemst was aroused, as in a Shakespeare course.
Her account of her high school years lists her as participating in
several talent shows, the class play, the Quill Club, and Hi-Y.

She was voted into the school's Hall of Fame.

During her second year, Camilla requested an open house party,

which her parents permitted. Word was passed around at the preceeding

football game that evening, and according to police accounts about
4,000 kids showed up at a party that had been planned for 50. Police
were called, but little damage was done. |

Camilla dated during high school, but more socially than
seriously, and rever appeared to have a crush on anyone or stay with
anyone more than a few months., She constantly displayed the sense
of humor which got her designated as "class clown” in her yearbook.
According to Reverend Hall, there were many talents and abilities of
wh'ich he was unaware and which her Washburn-classmates told him
about later. According to a high school friend, she was. one of the .
few at that hJ.gh school to be able to cut across group lines, and
- would befriend people outside of her group while remaining accepted
within it. She disliked the name Camilla, and during her junior
and senior years was known to everyone as Candy.

Camilla and her sister Nan were close during this .period, and
much of the family activity centered around Nan. They had been told
two years earlier that Nan might not live to adulthood because of

41
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nephritis. After Nan's death during her senior year, Camilla cried |
and wanted to go home when she saw Nan's body in the casket. However,
Camilla appeared later to take the death in stride, and she received
a good deal of support fram her friends. Wwhen the family returned
from the burial in St.Peter, Minnesota, they found that students ‘from
Washburn had gotten into their home, set up a Christmas tree, and
decorated it.

After Graduation, Camilla took a summer job at the University
of Minnesota Student Center and enrolled in a course at the university.
She was not favorably inmpressed, and, to the family's surprise, decided
to enroll at Gustavus Adolphus together with a few of her friends. At
the same time, her parents moved to Maywood, Illinois, where her father
began teaching at the ILutheran seminary. She describes her experience

at Gustavus:

Our dorm was divided into sections composed of 12 girls each rather
than corridors with individual and private rooms. Because of this
constant contact, I came to know these girls very well in a
relatively short time. As far as close contact with other people
goes, my freshman year at Gustavus was the most rewarding year of
my ocollege career. I did not feel, however, that I was getting as
good an academic education as I had expected from college and so I
transferred to the University of Minnesota. (Autobiogravhy,

Appendix A} .
Her father's comment was that the girls were so involved in each other
socially that they were not very involved in the life of the school,
and only one or two returned to Gustavus after the first year., It also
appeared that one of the problems of attendance at Gustavus was that

Camilla was known as her father's daughter.



43

When Camilla's parents moved to Maywood, they rented out their
Minnéapolis home with a stipulation that the room and bath over the
garage would be available to Camilla. Wwhen she went to the University
of Minnesota, Camilla moved in there and lived with the family of renters
during her junior and senior years. She was pretty much on her own, but
did develop ties, particularly to the ten-year-old son, becaming a
sgbstitute for his older married sister.

At the University of Minnesota Camilla majored in the humanities,
which she described as the atterpt "to understand, the intellectual
products of a culture or age, whatitmeanttobeaﬁmxanbeingin
that period,"and fram this to achieve "an awareness of what it means
to be a human being in the twentieth century.” Her grades in this
area were usually A's, but in other areas, particularly in required
ocourses, they covered the whole range. She did not appear particularly
motivated to achieve hich grades, but she did appear interested in
intellectual questions.

. During her junior year her parents went on a tour of mission
fields in South America, and Camilla accompanied them. They spent
a share of the time in the villages and slums. Soon after shé returned,
she decided to move closer to carpus because, "I was missing out on a
lot of student activity. . . The renters (with whom she lived) were
rot particularly interested in my studies or 'intellectual discussions'
and thus I felt I was missing out on an important aspect of college.”
(Autobiography, Appendix A). She shared an apartrent with tl';e
. daughter of a man who had been successful in the candy business,
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. but many others flowed in and out of the apartment. During this period
there were increased indications of the develomment of a social
conscience, ard Camilla was very active in campus anti-war activities.
Newspaper accounts indicated she was involved in gay rights activities,
but according to her roommate of that period, Mary Pearson, this was not
true. She began refusing to pay the excisé tax on her telephone bill
as a war protest. Most of her expenses were provided through summer
ard part-time jobs and loans.

As graduation approached she went throuch a period of indecision.
Job prospects were not good at the time, and she was thinking of selling
aluminum cookware, but after trying her sales vitch a few times, she took
a civil service exam and became a caseworker for the Minresota County
Welf_a.re system in Duluth. On her application she is listed as five'
feet five and a half inches tall, and weighing 155 pounds. She began
her position as a probationary worker August 21, 1967, and after a
six-;rronth period was given a one-step merit increase and pla@ed on
permanent status. Her supervisor evaluates her as having "excellent
natural quali.ties, the foremost being her concern for people. This
is self-evident in her relationships with both clients and the agéncy
staff. She works with enthusiasm, meets deadlines readily, and is
always willing to accept additional assigrments.” FEe views her as
having limited knowledge of the behavioral éciences. but learning on
her own. He criticizes her "tendency to make ermptional decisions,
limiting planning to immediate needs and reacting to crisis

situations.” However, he also states that she "recognizes her
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limitations, has a good desire to learn, and accepts criticism well."
He sees her as lacking in confidence because of her limited knowledge,
but as having the motivation and capabiliﬁy to be a good social worker.
(See Appendix A).

Camilla was anxious to return to the- i*dinneapolis area, howéver,
and transferred to the Hennepin County Welfare Department in
Minneapolis in May, 1968. Her final evaluation there referred to her
warm, exuberant personality and deep concern with people, which allowed
her to form excellent peer and client relaticnshivs, They indicated
that they were disappointed that she was leavi.ng,A and saw her as having
good potential for a career in social work. While in Dﬁluth she joined
the Duluth Caseworkers Association and applied for rembership in the
Lake Superior chapter of NMASW. She also composed a theme song for a
foster hame recruitment drive and performed it on TV and radio.

In Minneapolis, as in Dulut_h,- she was assioned to work with
uwed mothers, and while her initial evaluation was still very positive,
some tension began to develop with the system vithin which she worked
and with her supervisor, Delores Peck, a traditional worker who believed
in working within the system. Camilla became increasingly frustrated at
her inability really to solve the problems of her urwed rothers within
the constraints of theb welfare system. In an evaluation of
Decerber 19, 1969, she was rated as performing only adequately.
(See Appendix A). Her strengths were listed as her involverment with

her clients, and her inability to tolerate social injustice. However,



she was criticized for her immatience with agency red tape and policy
changes, and her neglect of routine work and dictation, although she
was cited as having good work habits. In an interview with this
supervisor, Mrs. Peck indicated that she had always liked Camilla, but
was bothered by her impatience, and was particularly bothered that when
Camilla left at the end of February, 1970, she failed to come in for her
exit interview and left without authorization.

Another supervisor still with the department, Alan Carlson, felt
that these qualities were what made Camilla a good worker, and was
capletely positive in his evaluation. While he was not her supervisor,
she frequently discussed her situation with him when her supervisor was
not in. He described her as seemingly happy,- never depressed, having a
good rapport with others. He saw her as intelligent, interesting, and
talented. In response to ny questions,. he felt that her impatience and
frustration with society were not out of hostil'ity.,v but rather of an
ability to cut through the morass to see what needed changing. She was
also viewed as very self-demanding, crushingly so.

During this period Camilla was also increasingly involved with
anti-war activities and worked on an underground newspaper. At one
point she was very critical of her father for not taking a strong-
enough anti-war stand, and when her mother tried to calm her,they
got into an argument during one of the weekly telephone.calls in
the family. During the 1968 election campaign she went to a
Wallace rally to protest. The police fired tear gas into the
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protesters, and she felt that her eyes suffered permanent damage,
though she had been severely near-sighted all her life, and usually
wore thick glasses.

Camilla was experiencing frustration on several levels during
this period. (See letters, Appendix C; interviews with co-workers,
source indicated in Table 1, tape 4). On the level of her agency
work, she was constantly frustrated by the inability of the welfare
system to meet the needs of the unwed mothers she worked with. She
was also sharing the frustrations that thousands of liberal Americans
were experiencing at this time because of their seeming inability to
affect the war policies of their government. On a personal level, she
was experiencing frustration in regard to relationships with men. During
her college years, she had gone for a long period with a young man whom
she had brought hame to Maywood to meet her parents. He had been waiting
for a job in the Peace Corps, but when it finally came through, he did
not take it. Soon after that, the relationship seemed to play itself out.
She had dated someone in Duluth who proposed to her, but she did not
care for him that much. Now, back in Minneapolis, she dated a variety
of men, including black men, but somehow always ended up getting hurt.
As a co-worker put it, she would always be open and trusting, expecting
a man to want to experience the same openness, but men never seemed to
appreciate her inner beauty. She was experiencing frequent headaches
and stomach problems. The frustrations of her job seemed at times

more tnan she could take.



An artist friend had moved out to Topanga Canyon in the hills
above los Angeles with his wife, a former co-worker of Camilla. After
driving out for a visit, she decided to move there. She stayed with
the couple initially, but some minor strains developed in the
relationship, and she found a place and friends of her own. She had
intended to write songs, but started making line drawings, and
gradually expanded into a whole range of drawings and paintings,
which she sold inexpensively in parking lots and art fairs. She had

gone out with $1200 which she was able to save from her pension fund.
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This was a productive period, a period when she seemed to put old friends

behind. It was characteristic of her to enter totally into a new
experience once she had left the old. She changed her name back to
Camilla, and made a conscious decision to seek for deep relationships
with women rather than men. This was the only major decision she had
been unable to share with her parents. She always intended to, but
could never quite bring herself to it. She related to new friends,
rather than those she had known from Minneapolis. The headaches
disappeared and she seemed to feel more free. She became a vegetarian,
and stopped smoking, insistirg that others do the same.

She went to Berkeley in 1971, and liked the feeling, the
atnosphere, the intellectual stimulation, the Way people seemed to be
making new lives for themselves. She moved uo to an apartment on
Channing Way, where one of the residents was Pat Soltysik, Camilla

and Pat fell in love, and though they never lived together, they
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shared a great deal, and this was seemingly a period of intense
happiness for Camilla. She wrote poetry for Pat, and in one of
her poems gave her the nickname "Mizmoon", which seemed to carry
a special significance. Another resident of the building was an
old friend from high school days, who was now in theater. They A
found they had a lot in common, and during the years 1972-1973
spent a lot of time talking together.

Suddenly Camilla dropped her art, and took a job as a gardener
with the Oakland Park District. She had appeared to lose interest in
national politics, and had not even bothered to vote in 1972, but became
very active in the women's movement, particularly in helping to organize
her co-workers to demand equal rights and equal pay. However, problems
developed in her relationship with Mizmoon, and she became restless.

Her parents helped finance a trip to Europe, and although she went on
a hitchhiking, hostel tour through Holland, Spain and Greece, she did
not stay as long as they expected. She carme back to Chicago, and
indicated that she had been lonely in Europe. She telephoned Mizroon
and arranged to meet her in Denver. She drove out, and they enjoyed
a tour of the southwest of which Camilla wrote glowing reports. Her
parents thought she was growing, maturing out of her extreme radical
period, and she seemed to be appreciative of the good things in the
country.

Her job with the park district was only for the summer months
but she did not seem too concerned, and continued to line up gardening
jobs. During this period she developed a beautiful garden for her own

apartment, and spent a lot of time outdoors, camping.
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According to a friend from Minneapolis, during this period she
developed some problems with her kidneys. She went to a doctor, but
did not have much faith in standard medical treatrment, and relied more
on herbal, natural treatments. Sometime during the latter part of
1972, she hecame involved with the SLA, but little was known of her
activities. She went home to Chicago for the Christmas of 1973.

It was a normal time, in which she helped her mother with her plants,
and said she wanted to see the old movies of the family, including
pictures from the only Christmas that the children were all together.

During this visit, .in conversation with her parents she showed
a frequent apocalyptic strain. She expected a severe depression, and
questioned whether the country would survive it as we know it. On the
way to the airport, she said orim things about how serious the situation
was in our country. This was the last tire her parents would see her
alive.

This must have been an extraordinary period in Camilla's life.
Shortly before her visit hore, the SLA had killed Cakland's school
superintendent (Noverber €, 1973), and during this period, they were
preparing for the kidnapping of Patty Hearst, but there was no
indication of anything unusual during her visit. Her parents were
never aware of any dramatic radical change, but; in retrospect thought
that samething seemed different. She seemed older, and had lost her
usual sparizle. It bothered them a little, and they blamed themselves

for not being able to ormen up to her. They also stated later that,
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"we had not known of her illness that fall. She did not tell us until
Christmas because she thought we would be deeply worried assuming that
she was developing familial nephritis, the same disease that had killed
Peter and Nan."

Even after the kidnapping in January, Camilla spoke to her friends
about her plans to take a job as a gardener. She made many applications
for work and wrote to her parents about them. Then, she disappeared.
She had asked her parents to take her pet cat when she visited them,
but they felt it would be cruel for them to try to keep the cat, and
she gave it to a family at the animal depot who had come seeking a pet.

The next appearance of Camilla was when she and other SLA members
robbed the Hibernia Bank on April 15, 1974. A friend of Camilla called
the Halls to warn them that her picture would be appearing. During
this period they had frequent visits from the FBI, but no specific
charges were made. It was still hard to beliewve it was Camilla who
appeared in the photographs of the robbery. She had always been so
near-sighted as to be helpless without her glasses, and had never
been able to wear contact lenses, but in the pictures she seemed to
operate as part of the precision team without wearing glasses. This
prompted a Swedish newspaper man and some friends to speculate that
this was not really Cémilla, or that there were two Camillas.

Camilla disappeared again with the SLA, and nothing further was
known of her until the tragic end, the shoot-out in Los Angeles.
Camilla Hall had for most of her life been radically opposed to any

violence—to the point that even during those final months, she took
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snails from her garden and carefully removed them to a new site so
ﬁxey; would not be hurt. A convinced pacifist, she died in what
same have called the most violent,. explosive peacetime confrontation
in American history.

Fow much Camilla and the other SIA members participated in this
violence is a matter on which the Los Angeles Police Department and
other investigators (cf. ACIU report, 1974) differ. It is known that
Camilla had beccme proficient with a gun,. ard according to at least one
cbserver, handled it with confidence, as an extension of herself. The
ambiguity, the camplexity of this picture continues until her final
rmoment. The tiny house in which the SILA was confired exploded into
flames after an enormous arount of tear gas had beenpojected into the
building. Camilla Hall and Nancy Ling Perry attempted to leave the
building, crawling out an entrance at the rear. The tcp c¢f Canilla's
head was blown off by police fire, allegedly as she fired a revolver
at menbers of SUAT Team II. Others, including the ACLU, feel that
boﬂ'x..wa:en were atterpting to surrender. Nancy Ling Perry was
apparently shot in the back as she tried to drag Camilla back into
the house. In any case, Camilla's body was dragged back near a
corner of the house, where it was not discovered until two days later,
on May 15. Her body had been badly burned, and was beginning to decampose.
Camilla had come a long way from St. Peter, and in the letter to her
parents which was found on her body, she indicated that.shewas there

by conscious, aware choice.



CAMILIA AS OTHERS SAW HER

Early descriptions of Camilla by her parents and childhood friend
give us a p;'.cture of a somewhat overweight, strong-willed, indevendent
child who at times was jealous of her younger sister. We also have a
picture of a child who was very affectionate and considerate, enjoved
school, needed a lot of attention and affection, and was something of
a tamboy—very active and athletic. She wore basic, simple clothes
all of her lifetime—not masculire, but functional rather than beautiful.
Her mother described Camilla as having her husband's temperament and
gifts. She was interested in everytining, very creative. They also
describe her as sameone that they never knew to be really depressed.
Although she did not like to practice rusic or do routine work as a
child, and was nmot particularly studious,. she was constantly learning
new things and improving her abilities. She always had a few cloée
friends, and always seemed to have' a good time. She at times resented
going to church, and felt that it was important for her to be good
because it was samething she wanted rather than samething imposed
on her, she rekelled against institutional religion fairly early.
Later she is described as like her father in sharing some of his
more philosophical interests, but like her mother in enjoying cooking,
entertaining and the arts. Her mother indicates that the cne thing
she would have changed about Camilla would have been her lack of

patience in certain areas.
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Susan O'Brien, a friend from high school who has been doing research
for a boox on Camilla, remembers her as one who was able to move across
lines of the social system. Susan remembered that her original reaction
to the SIA was that they were a bunch of kooks, but when she discovered
that Camilla was one of them she changed her perception and they became
individuals. Camilla had more of an impact on her than anyone else in
her class of 500, enough to involve her in trying to understand and write
about Camilla in terms of a personal quest.‘ She had recalled Camilla as
one who befriended many who needed befriending, including herself.
(Interview recorded on Table 1, tapes 1-3).

Another source of data about how people saw Camilla is the letters
of recommendation written by three friends when she applied for a job
with the welfar~ department. While letters of recammendation,
particularly from friends, are not notably ocbjective or sources of
negative information, nevertheless they do share same consistencies
in the way they portray Camilla. (These letters are included in
Appendix A).

The first letter is from Kathy Wennberg, a friend who had
known her for nine years. She described Camilla as always having
more than her share of »friends, and as sameone

who has always been able to bring out the best in everyone by
being interested and sincere about what interests them. She has
such a variation of types of friends that sometimes I wonder what
she can find to have in common with them.

She also describes Camilla as very stable, able to weather disappointment

and tragedy without giving up. She describes Camilla as never making
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snap judgements, but thinking things through carefully. She sees her as
open to criticism, trying to please, samething of a perfectionist who
listens to others, but always wants to try her own way first. She also
sees Camilla as being verbally gifted, as always interested in her
world, and as talented. 'lhe’ ocne demurrer. she offers is a suggestiaon
that perhaps Camilla dréssed too informally, perhaps in campensation
for her body build.

The second letter is from a friend who had known her through
college, Mary Stewart. Mary indicates that Camilla had helped her
and many others through difficult periods. She describes Camilla
as very open and direct with people,- one who enjoys meeting and knowing
all kinds of people. She describes her as dependable when doing
sanething she enjoys, but less so with "busy work." Mary agrees that
Camilla is open to criticism and suggestions., as well as new ideas, ard
that she expresses herself well. She indicates that when they met -
Camilla was unsure of herself 1n serious conversations, but now was more
confident.

Her one reservation was the Camilla was not always effective
in arganizing and budgeting her time, though she was learm.ng |
| The third letter is from ancther friendl through four years of
college, Elizabeth Thrig. Similarly, Elizabeth describes Camilla's
ability to put any person she meets at ease. Her earliest
recollection of Camilla is how she was notably instrumental in
creating fellowship among shy and timid college freshmen, going out
ofherv:ayi:obefriexﬂly. She sees her as never erecting any
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artificial social barriers with anyone,'_ as one who became known as
»Mother Mil" because girls with problems would take them to her because
of her ability to put people at ease and listen. She sees her as samecne
who is able to make a considered and mature judgement of carplex
situations, and able to adjust to situations easily. She also sees her
as one who was able to manage the practical affairs of her own life
weil, being independent and able for the most part to support herself.
Elizabeth also states that one of Camilla's rost appealing traits
"is her genuine enthusiasm for geople, literature, and other fine arts."”
She sees her as having the rare ability to go beyond what is covered or
required in class, and remembers her being involved in many lively
intellectual discussions. She also refers to her ability to teach
herself to play guitar. Her sumary 6f Camilla states that her
good sense and basic sense of huror, combined with all the
- other traits I have mentioned, ultimately presents a picture of a
person of empathy with, and deep understanding and syreatnyv for
fellow humans.

" Allowing for the exaggeration produced by the circurstances, we
still have the picture of sameone who comes across as particularly gifted
in her relationships with other people, and as sameone with an insight,
a good listener.

4 I interviewed Alan Carlson and Delores Peck at the Hennepin County
Welfare Department in Minneapolis, who had known her well over the two
years she worle? there, and they picture her as someone who always'
seemed happy—no ane ever saw her depressed. She was interesting,

. intelligent, talented, and seemed to relate well to others. She
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was described as dressing in loose-fitting,v baggy clothing that'wvas
‘comfortable and without pretense. They never saw any indications of
hostility or rebellion from any personal motivation, but an impatience
with the slowness of the system and a concern for the client. The
supervisor who criticized her impatience -and neglect of the more rundane
activities still supported a very positive description of Camilla as a
person, and indicated that she had personally liked Camilla very much,
though she was hurt by her abrupt departure.

In answer to questions about whether they could have foreseen
Camilla's role with the SLA, or whether they were surprised by it,
one supervisor said he was not surprised at her radical‘ politics, but
was very surprised at the direction it took, since she had been very
much of a pacifist and could not stand to see anyone hurt. A co-worker
'and former friend said she was not surprised because Camilla was a
person who followed the logic of a position to its bitter end, and
was very sglf—denanding. (Table 1, tapes 4 and 5).

One pattern that emerged in these interviews and laters ones
was that people who were not ordinarily sympathetic with the methods
of the SIA were very uncritical about Camilla. The impression was
that, while it had initially created same cognitive dissonance, their
regard for Camilla was so positive that it leant integrity to her
actions. They could not see her as acting out of anything but
integrity. All of the people I met appeared to have same difficulty
resolving that conflict, but none resolved it by viewing Camilla in

a neqgative light. They tended in sare cases to postulate wild



theories, such as the existence of two Camillas (even though they held
this theory more out of emotional than rational reasons, and none very
seriously), or to see the action of the SIA in a more positive light.
Extended interviews in Los Angeles, with two friends who talked
about the period just after she moved to California, revealed some
details which in retrospect were very interesting. (These were
friends who worked with Camilla in Minneapolis, but also moved to
California. See Table 1, tape 6). While Camilla's letters home were
very positive about her new life, these friends picture Camilla as not
revealing her usual cheerful smile, and as much more angry during this
period. Her discussions on volitics were more angry, and one of them
indicates that when she heard the SLA statements, they sounded in many
ways like Camilla at this time. Also, Camilla seemed to need to put
her old relationships behind her, and her relationships with her
friends from Minneapolis developed some strains. There was a kind
of suspiciousness and touchiness about her during that period which
was unusual for Camilla. %hen her parents visited, there were
arguments with her father, and on one known occasion an angry outburst
that he treated her like a little girl, although this was not evident
to her friend. Camilla seemed to be in competition with her father,
and to resent his seeming perfection. Nevertheless, there was a lot
of positive interaction and discussion during this period as she
struggled to establish herself as an artist. She was active not
only as an artist, but in struggling with the mundane requirements
- of "making it," learning the ways to survive as a struggling artist.
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The final interview in Berkeley was with a friend who had known
Camilla casually in high school, but had known her intimately during
the final two years before Camilla went underground. (See Berkeley
interview, Table 1, tape 7). This friend asked not to be identified.
She was one of the women with wham Camilla left her art just befére
she disappeared, and was active with these five other wamen in forming
the Camilla Hall Art Collective. They had many long conversations
during that period.

She was the only one of the group willing to talk to anyone about
Camilla,and was willing to talk with me only because the Halls had
approved it, but once we began talking was very open, sharing her
intense pain over the events of that period. She indicated that she had
never been able to understand Camilla's involvement with the SIA, and
never knew of it until Camilla's picture appeared after the bank
robbery, even though they had many intimate conversations. Although
herself politically liberal, she had been very negative about the
kidnapping, and thought it was a stupid, politically naive action.

The strange thing was that vhen she expressed these feelings to Camilla
after the kidnapping, Camilla agreed with her! She had never kncwn
Camilla to be anything but straight with her, and can't believe that
Camilla was knowingly deceiving her. Camilla remained aboveground
during this period, immediately after the kidnapping to the end of
February, and talked of taking a gardening job in Palo Alto. In
retrospect, she thought Camilla served as a lookout for the group

during this period.
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This BRerkeley friend has a recurring dream which has continued to
preoccupy her, sometimes even during waking hours. This dream began to
occur right after the shoot-out, before Camilla's body was found, when
there was still hope that she was alive. She dreamed that Camilla had
come to her late at night, very tired and muddy, and that she had
taken her into her basement to hide her and provide for her. She
asks Camilla to explain to her why she did it, and Camilla starts
to speak--but in the dream either no words come out, or they are somehow
electronically scrambled. Camilla seems to be talking ordinarily, but
is unable to produce a coherent message. This dream is to me a striking
symbol for the dissonnance that Camilla produced in many people, and of
their need to understand and give meaning to her life and death.

This Berkeley friend has since discovered, in talking to other
friends who knew Camilla during this period, that in her political
conversations, Camilla tended to talk just to the left of whomever
she was talking with. She does not understand why.

This friend also indicates that during her final ronths (at least
as early as December), Camilla had been having kidney problems. She
had gone to an M.D. for medication, but distrusted the standard
medication, and had begun treating herself with garlic tea and other
natural remedies. Her theory is that Camilla was afraid she was dying
of the same malady that had plagued her siblings, and had chosen
involvement with the SIA as a way to commit suicide. She acknowledged
that this theory had many problems, but no other way of understanding

Camilla's actions made sense to her.
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There was also a conversation with Claude Steiner, a well-known
transactional analysis therapist from the Berkeley area, who was
noted both for his work with a therapy collectivé in which he had had
contact with a number of radicals, and for his writing in the field of
transactional analysis. He had some contact with Camilla in a few
casual situations, and she had worked for him occasionally as a gardener.
His impression of her was someone who always seemed happy and smiling.
She was very nearsighted, but really loved and was interested in plants.
At parties she danced with a lot of joy and vigor. He thought she was
unusually good-natured, zesty, full of life, very trusting. She was
also a militant feminist with strong opinions, who was quite verbal.
He was very surprised at the time to find out that she was part of
the SILA. He had worked with Mizmoon, and had seen some indication
of the anger and hostility in her, and was not really surprised about
her involvement. Camilla, by contrast, he viewed as a trusting,
nearsighted person psychologically as well as physically, a person
of the heart who was probably swept into the group by her relationship
with Mizmoon and wasn't able to get out of it. He thought that she
probably had nothing to do with the murder of Foster. He also knew
her during that final period, just before she disappeared.

This, then, is the many-faceted picture of Camilla Hall as
viewed through the eyes of people who knew her well, a picture for
the most part at variance with the image of the radical, gun-toting

revolutionary we saw in the papers.



CAMILIA AS SHE REVEAILED HERSELF

The first source of data in which Camilla reveals her own
personality is the two vocatiocnal tests she tock: ore at the end of
high school, in 1963; and one when she was transferred to the
University of Minnesota, in 1964. I was given an evaluation of this
data by Dr. Jo Ida Hansen, an expert in the interpretation of the
Strong on the counselling staff of the university. (Table 1, tape 5).
I was not allowed to covy the protoocol, but I did list the major
categories, which are given in Table 2. She was aware of the
identity of the subject, but knew little about Camilla's life before
the period with the SIA.

According t> Dr. Hansen, we have a fairiy typical profile for
a college student of her age, with fairly ccnsistent profiles, good
differentiation, and interests similar to those in the verbal/
linguistic field. |

In both versions, Camilla is consistently low on what u_sed to
be known as the "homemaker" scales in earlier days, which .squests
she was interested in an education rather than a husband. The
musician/perfcrmer scale is frequently high in college students,
and may be affected by an anti-military set.

The 1964 profile emerges as one frequently encountered, the
artist/social worker profile. Dr. Hansen indicated that she had
fairly often encountered people who entered one vocationally while
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1964

63

Table 2

Results of Strong Inventories

A category: Musician Performer
B category: Dentist/Engineer

B category: Music Teacher, Author, Librarian,
Social Science Teacher, Psvchologist

B category: Artist

Rejected category: Elementary Teacher, Phys. Ed.Teacher,
Social Worker, Secretary, Lawyer,
Housewife, Hame Ec. Teacher,
Occupational Therapist,
Math and Science Teacher

Masculine feminine score: approximately 32.

A category: Author (highest), Artist, Librarian,
English Teacher, Musician Performer

B category: Social Worker, Music Teacher

C category: Steno, Secretary, Psychologist

Rejected category: Home Ec. Teacher, Dietician, Nurse,
Math and Science Teacher,
Occupational Therapist

Masculine feminine score: approximately 42.
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while pursuing the other avocationally, with social work being the usual
vocational choice. Thus her profile is fairly Predictive of the patterns
Camilla did follow vocationally.

The one element she indicated was a ].ittle surprising was the low
M-F scale. She irdicated that a high M-F score was usually consistent
with more cultural/aesthetic interests, and a low score with rore
*realistic,” mechanical/outdoor/business interests. Usually sameone
with her artistic/verbal interests would score above 50, but in the
first she scores in the 30-35 range, although there is an upward
movement on the second. Consistent with this is the decrease in the
dentist/engineer cateqory. There aprears to be samewhat of an increase
in more humanistic, people-oriented interests, and a decrease in the
more "realistic" areas.

_ Typical descriptions of people with the 1964 profile according to
Holland (1976) would be: Emotional, sensitive, creative, ll.kes to work
independently, interested in people.

There was a punched-out score on the 1964 blank which was in the
area which was frequently used for academic orientation. Camilla |
scored very high on this, and if it is her academic achievement score,
it would be typical of people who continue toward the doctorate.
Unfortunately, Dr. Hansen felt there was no way of checking for sure,
asthecanpanythatinallprobabilitydidthescoringhédgoneout
of business the previous fall.

The second source of standard test data is an MMPI that Camilla

tock as part of her corientation when she entered the University of
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Minnesota as a sophamore in 1964. Again I was not allowed to copy the
protocol, but the scores are copied onto a protocol which can be viewed
in Appendix B.

The following interpretation draws extensively on an interpretation
by Dr. John Brentner, a clinical psychologist on the staff of the
university hospital at the University of Minnesota and an expert on the
MMPI. He initially viewed the test blindly, with no data on the
subject except age, sex, and the circumstances of admission. (Table 1,
tapes 4 and 5).

Camilla's MMPI would, according to Dr. Brentner, be fairly
typical of a normal college student. He cited a study which indicated
that 25% of Midwest college wamen had high point nine profiles. He
described a typical waman with this profile as someone who is actiwve,
energetic, restless, po:-sibly talkative, with a surprising lack of
depression for a college student at that time. There were reasonably
feminine interest patterns, and little anxiety or neuroticism. In
fact, he would wonder at the absence of anxiety and depression, and
see same possibility of denial of anger and hostility, with possibly
a cyclical pattern of euphoria and activity followed by fatique and
depression. There is a normal social rebelliousness, but she is
otherwise a socially conforming, "cheerleader" type. She apoears to
get along well with her family. He also cited a recent study of
psychiatric inpatients that showed low 6 profiles to be associated
with denial of anger and resentment, with reaétion formation. She

tended to be a doer rather than a thinker, and demonstrated none



of the usual existential distress found in college students. When I
revealed the identity of the subject and reviewed same of her background
with Dr. Brentner, he was very surprised and interested, and very
supportive of the study. Again in the MMPI we have data which show an
apparently normal, well-adjusted typical college student, samewhat
extraverted and active. However, there are ambiguous hints of a
subterranean denial and resentment, and pe.rhaps depression. The
validity scales indicate that this is a valid test, without
excessive defensiveness.
Descriptions of this type of code profile which emphasize the
pathological and are based on elevated profiles suggest that
the most salient characteristic of the 49/94 individuals is a
marked disrecgard for sccial standards and. values. They frequently
get into trouble with the environment because of antisocial
behavior. . . . (these) individuals are narcissistic, selfish,
and self-indulcent. Thev are quite impulsive and are unable
to delay gratification of their irpulses. Thev show pPoor
judgement, often acting witnout considering the conseguences
of their acts, and they fail to learn from experience. . .
(they) tend to be armbitious and enercetic, and they are restless
. and overactive. They are likely to seek out erotional
stimulation and excitement. . . .Beneath the facade of
self-confidence ana security, (they) are irmature, insecure,
and dependent persons who are trying to deny their feelings.
(Graham, 1977)
. No one who knew Camilla during her lifetime would have applied this
description to her, but I am certain that many' who did not know her
personally would apply it to her based on her final actions, and feel
that this was the true Camilla. However, it must be kept in mind that
in this approach, every profile is pathological in one form or
-another, and that it would not ordinarily be applied to Camilla's
profile, as indicated by Dr. Brentner.



- Camilla also .revealed herself through her art. During the two
years she worked as an artist after going to California, she produced
a great wolure of paintings, drawings and prints, and supported
herself by selling her work at local shopping centers and galleries
which were set up for itinerant artists. I was able to view a good
many of these works at the hame of Rev. and Mrs. Hall, where the
collective had sent the art collection. Her art reveals a great deal,
but the message is not always clear, and seems to be affected to same
extent by the perceptual set of the viewer. '

I know that after her death a swowing of her art was held, and
many people were deeply moved by it. Frcm'fhe corments they wrote
at the exhibition, they saw it as evidence that she was a deeply
‘ sensitive, open, caring person. I also responded positively to her
. art, and the person that I felt was behind this art. I had about forty
slides of her paintings done fram negatives.. I initially showed

them to approximately five colleagues in the field of therapy who
were e.lther analysts or in the final stage of analytic training.
I tried to have them react to the paintings before telling them
who Camilla was, but bécause they were aware of my project, most
~of the discussion was with full awareness of the subject. They
felt that there was a lot of distortion and anger in the paintings
andhadastrohg sense of unease after viewing them. .

I then showed thedides to an art therapist from Michael Reese
Hospital, Abby Calisch, telling her only that this was a
fxm-—hospitalized twenty-nine year old female, and that I wanted her
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to tell me as much as she oould on the basis of the paintings. The

following are some of her impressions. (Table 1, V).

She viewed the drawings as high—level productions, integrated,
direct, well done, by someone who was able to direct unconscious
energy in an integrated fashion to relate samething to the viewer.

Some of the figures have very definite, powerful expressions, but the
eyes are very prominent. They were frequent animal/human caricatures
that seemed to be a wvehicle for social commentary. Nevertheless, at
times the figures look ominous, sinister, and disapproving of the
viewer. There is also a great deal of humor in the pictures, and a
sense of childlike playfulness. Some of the paintings were very harsh,
demanding, strident, while others were soft, hazy, indistinct. There
was an impression of someone who was going through some major changes.
The use of images and vivid ocolors suggests and evokes very powerful
feelings, but in a controlled, directed way. Many of the pictures have
two major figures: either male/female figures that at times seem to
blend in identity, or a powerful, huge figure and a tiny, insignificant
figure. At times the huge figure is threatening or holding captive
the smaller figure, but at times the smaller figure seems to be
controlling the larger.

Her impression was of a person with two distant parts: one was
playful, childlike, "floaty," lyrical in a specific, defined way.

The other was a very controlled, powerful, aggressive, possibly
critical person. This latter part often seems to have sameone watching

him or be watching someone else. It was hard to tell if this
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represented an internal struggle or a struggle with the
enviromment.

There was a sense that at the time of one series Camilla was
very depressed, and possibly at times anguished. Ms. Calisch felt the
artist might have problems with maie relationships, and was very involved
generally with the problems of relationships, but experienced her as
sameone she would probably like, with a lot of capacity to integrate
feelings, and a lot of drive and motivation to accarplish thincs.
Camilla seemed pretty well inteqrated in terms of her ability to functicn,
but there was some concern about the images of watchfulness veraging on
paranoia, and the critical, suspicious side.

As a check on the reliability of this interpretation, I showed the
same slides to another art therapist, Linda Cchen, also a araduate of
the art therapvy program at Hahnamann Medical College and currently on
the faculty of the University of Illinois at Chicago Circle. The basic
personality descrption was quite similar, particularly invthe emphasis
on the dual nature of the personality, the critical, suspicious flavor
verging on paranoia, and the strong evidence of periods of depression.
Ms. Cohen emphasized more strongly the defensiveness of the many
cartoon-like charactefs, and the negative self-image which seemed
to stand out in her productions. There was extensive agreement
between the two in their assessment of Camilla, but Ms. Cohen tended
to shade it somewhat more negatively. She pointed out, however, that
judgement about appropriateness or pathology of the defense mechanisms
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used is dependent more on external functioning and was more difficult
to judge from the artistic productions.

In understanding Camilla through her own productions, I also had
access to an extensive selection of her writings in three forms: a
nunber of poems in her original hand, an extensive file of letters
to her parents covering the years 1964 - 1974, and an autobiography
that she wrote in 1967 when applying for a job with the welfare depart-
ment. (See Appendix C for sarples of the poetry and letters, and
Appendix A for the autobiography). The file of letters was extensive,
covering much of that period, but there were gaps caused by the fact
that some of the more political letters were earlier eliminated by
her parents out of concern for their possible implications. Perhaps
this selectivity reinforces an overwhelming impression of the letters
as a whole: these letters are too good to be true! The first few
letters reflect someone who is capable of human foibles, who can even
say something mildly critical of another person. After that, we have
a perfect, loving daughter, who is never angry with her parents,
always understanding, never demanding, and seems to communicate on
a level of genuine intimacy. She also almost never has anything
neqative to say about her own life, and never ;eflects any depression
or loneliness. There is a lot of chatter about the minutiae of life,
like a description of a blockparty or a camping trip, etc. It almost
sounds like a series of letters to a close college friend.

There are heavy,- negative images in the letters, but they all
have to do with social and political problenﬁ, never with personal



problems or feelings. The personal images are all positive, and there
is almost unreal quality in the juxtaposition of some of the innocent
chatter from someone who in the final letters was involved with a
group plotting to kill Marcus Foster and kidnap Patty Hearst. The
only jarring note cames in her comments on society, or her final note
in which she expected fascism or chaos at any moment.

The poems express a yearning, a desire for a transformation, and
for freedom, but again there is little reflection of any despair or
real view of the negative side of life in its concrete manifestations.

The autobiography (Appendix A) also has a seeming innocence,
almost a naive, girlish quality about it, but there are a couple of
unusual features. Camilla begins with a short comment about the death
of herAhrothe‘rs. One is immediately struck Ly this as the lead
paragraph. However, this is stated tersely,‘ factually, with no feeling,
no elaboration, no indications of any impact on her life. This is
followed immediately by a lyrical innocent description of life in
Africa, which sets the dominant tone for the rest of the
autobiography. In addition, there is a strange discrepancy in a
ocouple of crucial dates. Camilla gives her age at the time of Nan's
death as fifteen, when she was a senior in high school. It appears
strange that she would not recall that she was seventeen during her
senior year. (Camilla's reference is to Nan's age. Nan died at
age fifteen). She also gives her age as four at the time of Terry's
death, when she was actually three. Perhaps there was some

distortion and campression of these events on an unconscious level.
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The above descriptions are personal reactions and impressions to
this written material. I wanted additional input from more objective
sources. I felt that the kind of cbjective analysis technique using
content analysis suggested by Allport (1965) were beyond the scope of
this thesis, and would have involved a se;;arate topic in themselves.
So, I again turned to an expert, and asked Dr. Lee Roloff, a professor
of interpretation at Northwestern University and a man with extensive
training and interest in the therapeutic analysis of poetry and other
forms of written communication, to offer his reactions to these
writings.

Dr. Roloff comments on the poetry as follows:

The predominant sense of the voems is that they are attempts to
link the speaker to a feeling. The images are sparse, and when they
occur, they eruot from the page—primitively, suddenly, and
violently. The writer is a person for whom feeling is autcnorous,
unconscious, violent. . . .HYence I would not be surorised bv a
history of depression, as well as a history of masked depression.
There are images of 'mirrored' self. . . . There's a sense in
the poems that (Camilla) had a very fracile eqo, that ner only sense
of confirmation came throuch others. In her poem, the first line of
which is 'Keva shares her sunshine. . : .,' (Camilla) plays
with the masculine vrinciple of sunshine as a life sustaining
force but would'bite off' the plant that has been nurtured by it. . . .
I would not be at all surprised that she possessed enormous
latent hostility at/for her father, but because of his 'oowerful
sun quality' could not consciously confront him. . . . The
'Reflections of a Pimple' is the clearest expression of her
psychological state that you are going to find in the poems. . .
she makes her position perfectly clear: ‘I am a blemish.' '
What kind of blemish was she? On herself? This is a very
strange reflexiveness and narcissism. On her family? This
is more credible. The shadow side of her versonality never
found adequate form of expression as far as I can determine.

He also comrents that in terms of structural analysis she uses

space in a way that suggests that negative space is as important as



the words and their locations, and that the poems yearn for completion,
that which is between the lines. There is also a freedom from form, a

refusal to conform to any conventions of poetry.
Dr. Roloff read through the entire set of letters on two separate

occasions, and indicated the following reactions:

The first matter that fascinates me is the dearee and extent to
which Camilla feels the necessitv to be accountable. . . . In a
psychological sense she was never free, never felt free, and only
gave a sense of freedem in her shared fantasies.

It is the 'fantasy' world that is the second motif that haunts
the letters. Alwavs she sugcests to her parents fiat other places
are more allurincg, more attractive, more suitable. . . for her
than where she is. This abviously becomes a critical factor in
the develcpment of her personality for the ‘revolution' will

eventually create the Edan that she has become radicalized to. . . .

There's an untrust-werthiness to her reocrtage—a 'will to see'’
rather than a 'seeing' that has a dispassicnate quality.

. « oI thoucht her thinking of herself as a ‘'alorv hourd’
is quite accurate. She never got enouch ego gratification in
life, and died in the pursuit of it. A poignant and powerful
saga.

When I first received this analysis from Dr. Roloff, I was very
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surprised by it. It was greatly at variance with the portrait of Camilla

that she reveals directly, and also at variance with Camilla as others
saw her. My initial reaction was that he was influenced negatively
by his knowledoe of Camilla and her ®wolutionary past, but I had been
exposed to other analyses by Dr. Roloff, and had never experienced
him befare as being negatively predisposed or influenced by the
beliefs or life style of an individual. Nevertheless, this is still
a possibility, and one that it is not possible to check out within
the constraints of this research,. at this point in time.

As I continued to ponder the materials, however, I began to feel
that although this also was a one-sided portrayal of Camilla, it was



based on a reality that was there in the written materials, even if not
evident to the casual reader. As in the MMPI and the paintings, we have
the image of a darker, more shadowy side that is never revealed to the
world. And it is perhaps an accurate reading between the lines. The
lines themselves reflect such a positive persona, that the space almost
necessitates, by contrast, an emphasis on that shadow personality which
is not directly revealed. At any rate, Camilla seems to reveal herself
again as a nore conplex personality than she revealed to her friends and

her family, and perhaps more complex than she fully realized herself.
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CHAPTER IV
THE INTERPRETATTION

What, then, can we say of Camilla Hall? Wwhat kind of person was
she? Why did she join the SLA? What can we learn fram her? These
questions are extremely difficult to answer in any straightforward
manner that provides cognitive consistency and solid certainty.
Camilla was a complex person, and the circumstances of her life add
a complexity and ambiguity that make this the most difficult case I
have attempted to analyze. Although the data is ample, the
interpretation of the data is somewhat ambiguous, giving little
satisfaction to our needs for classifying and pigeonholing. To
make the matter more conplex,. the interpretation of the data is
affected by the position of the viewer much nox;e than in ordinary
cases, and by how much one views the context of the events.

To attempt to arwe.r the first question: What kind of person
was Camilla Hall, I will review the data, and move toward a
synthesizing of the data which involves some interpretaticn, but
leave a more theoretical interpretation for later, utilizing a second
level of abstraction.

First of all, regardless of our viewpoint, the data suggest
that at least in certain areas at certain times of her life Camilla

was a highly developed, well-integrated, creative individual who
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was very concerrﬁd‘ about other people and the problems of her day.
whether viewed in terms of Kohlberg's stages of moral development,
Maslow's hierarchy of needs, or Freud's criterion of the ability to
wark and love, she would have been rated as a person who is highly
developed. I am fairly certain that in 1967, at the time of her
graduation from college, if Camilla had undergone a fairly intensive
psychological examination for something ]_ike' a peace corps apolication,
she would have been accepted, even as in the next few years people with
some psychological sophistication tended to evaluate her positively.

Certainly there is also for us, as for those who knew Camilla,
a need to answer the question in a way that brings cognitive consistency.
The temptation is also for us to evaluate her actions in the SLA in a
positive way, assuming that a person like Ca.réxilla would not have joined
it unless there was same kind of valid rrotivation; or if we begin w1th
the a priori assumption that the actions of the SIA were irrational, to
look for signs of irrationality in Camilla. And, it is true, we can
find indicators that could be built up into a case for pathological
mtivétion. "Many interpreters would point to a problem J.n sexual |
J'.‘dentificatior;, based on her wearing of fmet-_lonal clothir;g and her
| change fram a hetercsexual to a predominantly.lesbian orientation.
Other interpreters would point to the suspicious, parancid orientation
thaﬁ was only hinted at by a reaction formation in the MMPI, but
became more pronounced later, as indicated by her suspiciousness of
her friends ‘in Califofnia; the somewhat paranoid quality _of her art,
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and her eschatological, paranoid thinking in her final ronths, in which
she expected the entire structure of the United States to collapse.

There was also a preoccupation with death during those final
months. Soltysik (1976) reports one of her friends as telling him
that she kept a loaded shotgqun in her kitchen, and that, "the idea
of death had been preying heavily on her mind at nights, and that
she had trouble at first accepting it as a reality.” (p. 183).

However, even the above data is anbiguous; particularly viewed
in personal and historical context. There may have been a need on
Camilla's part o identify with her lost brothers. There may have been
a need to stake out an identity separate from Nan's, who always wore
frilly dresses, even as th‘e brothers seemed to divide roles in the
family. Neither the Strong nor the MMPI indicate sex role disturbance,
but rather the Strong apparently moves toward greater consistency and
sense of identity. Her supervisors and co~workers describe her dress
as functional rather than masculine, and attribute her dress style to
her aversion to a feminine persona, in which she was ahead of her time.
Certainly her clothing would not have been viewed as abnormal at the
University of Chicago or Berkeley. Also, her switch to lesbianism
seems to have been a rationally considered decision which many other
waren of that time experienced in response to the women's movement
(e.g., Mitchell, 1966), and seems to have brought positiwve
satisfactions to her. Her only ambivalence seems to have been in

relation to her parents' acceptance, not in relation to her choice.
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Similarly, her paranocia must be viewed in context of the movement

and the times. In viewing the movie Black Orpheus, we see a woman

engaging in what seems to be obviously seriously disturbed behavior,
until we see it as part of a religious context. Similarly, psychology
has come to understand in recent years the political implications of
diagnosis, and the importance of understanding class and group
behavioral contexts. Likewise, it is important to understand that
during those years, among liberal/radical groups, what we would label
as "paranoia" was viewed by them as the only possible view of the
political structures of that period. I remember reading in the

Chicago Seed, an underground newspaper published during those years,

interpretations of the establishment which seemed very paranoid, but

in the light of subsequent events turned out to have a hard plausibility.

Camilla shared a context of belief with many other people which went
samething as follows: the death of Kennedy in 1963 marked the
beginning of the takeover by the military-industrial mlex which
led to the complete breakdown of democratic government. Subsequent
political decisions were managed rather than democratically produced,
as demonstrated by the Chicago Democratic Convention, in 1968,

the Gulf of Tomkin incident, and the entire course of the Vietnam
War. The experience of powerlessness and inability to change the
oourse of the nation, combined with constant surveillance and
provocation by intelligence groups, led to a feeling of loss of
ocontrol, of needing to do something radical to change the ocourse of

events before all freedom was lost. The point is not that this view
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was an accurate interpretation of political reality, but that it was an
alternative that raticnal people with adequate reality testing shared.
(This view is described in her letters and interviews with her friends.
See Table 1).

The question of Camilla's relationship to the SIA is difficult
to keep within an ohjective context. On the other hand, we cannot judge
Camilla by an a priori judgement of the SIA and its actions; nor can we
sever the rest of Camilla's life from this period. Her life moved
toward this action as the culmination, and unless we view it as a
meaningless aberration, we need to include it as part of the context
within which we view Camilla. In judging the SIA and Camilla, it is
easy to confuse political and psychological evaluations. Even a
psychological evaluation is somewhat difficult on an objective basis,
but it appears that even for those who would ‘have approved of the
pc;litical context and motivation of the SLA, there would be questions
of the efficacy and rationality of their actions. As a symbolic,
psychological rovement, it had enormous effectiveness. However,
the members of the SLA seemed often to be moved rmore by autonomous
conplexes and by their own symbolic personal needs than by any
rational movement toward revolution. From descriptions of their
activity during their final days (Harris and Harris, 1976; Payne,
Findley and Weber, 1976), it appears that consciously or
unconsciously the SLA was moving toward and inviting the final
confrontation. After all their skill at eluding the dragnet, it

was almost as if they had chosen to end their flight. Several
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of the people with whom I spoke in California (Table 1, tapes 6 and 7)
talked about their instant feeling that these people were determined

to commit suicide on a grand scale. Even here, .however, one could argue
that this was the only choice that made sense for them, and allowed them
to achieve a martyrdom and closure to their actions that could nof have
been achieved otherwviise.

Another way of eliminating our cognitive dissonance would be to
assume same dramatic intervening variable to change Camilla's
personality drastically. We could assume, as many middle-class
parents have in other circurmstances, that she was a perfectly good
child before she got into drugs and went straight to hell in a
handbasket. However, for Camilla there is little evidence of any hard
_drug usage, and no evidence of the kind of structural damage or
temporary abberation that would make that hypothesis tenable. We also
know that the SIA code was against the use of hard drugs (Pearsall, 1974),
and that there was no evidence of any narcotic substances in their
autopsy (Noguchi, 1974).

We can postulate that she was an innocent, naive child who
fell under the influence of evil carpanions. There is same data
to suggest that she was highly influenced by her love for Pat
Soltysik, and several people, including Pat Sbltysik's brother
(1976, pp. 173 ££.) and the therapist Claude Steiner, subscribe
to some version of this theory. I also believe that the data
lend some support to this version. It is hard to answer the
question of whether Camilla would have been involved in this
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movement without the influence of Pat Soltysik. Nevertheless, the data
also indicate someone who was very independent and arrived at her own
conclusions, who would not act unless she believed in samething, who
usually fully understood the consequences of her actions, and who
fully supported the aims and goals of this movement in her final
letter.

Therefore, this theory also cannot be fully supported by the data,
and to the extent that it is supported, we still need to answer the
question of why she was so susceptible to Pat's influence. We could
speculate that one reason that Camilla was so susceptible to the
influence of Pat and the other members of the SIA is thaf in them
she recovered her lost sister and brothers. In her poem "For Pat"
(Appendix C) she says: "'Sister,' that's what your button said the
first time I met you—and I believed you and now I feel it too--sister. . .
Thank you." Hacker(1977) in his description of terrorist groups, as
well as the Harris' (1976) own description of the SLA, points to the
intense closeness of the group, much more powerful than any family ties.
Also, one of those synchronistic details that lends an addtional
ironical support to this theory is the fact that the date of Camilla's
death in the shootout (May 17, 1974) was the birthday of Peter, the
brother closest to her, as well as of Pat Soltysik. Another possible
answer could again be the application of dissonance theory: that
because of her relationship with Pat, she invested much more in the
novement than she ocould justify, and thus needed to believe even more

strongly in the validity of her action. There are indications that
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this was true for the whole SIA: the initial negative reaction to their
}ulh.ng of Marcus Foster prompted them to put their lives on the line
to prove to the world that their actions were justified. It would make
an interesting research topic to pursuve just in terms of this hypothesn.s
Nevertheless, I believe that thlS is only part of the reasbn for
Camilla's invoivenent, and that this involvement does not came as a
radical departure frcm earlier patte.rns.‘ I believe that it also fails
to do justice to the camplexity of Camilla's character. She was not
only a naive, innocent, nearsighted woman, but she was a strong,
aggressive, determined woman with strong needs to assert her power
and her individuality.

Ancther theory involving an intervening variable is expressed by
her Berkeley friend, (See Table 1, tape 7), that Camilla feared the
approach of her own death, and SIA involvement as a way of committing -
suicide. Again, there are data which could support her theory. Camilla
certainly had reason to fear death from. her kidney problems in light of
her siblings' history, and there is ample e;ridence of her preoccupation
with death in her conversation with friends and her parents 8uring those
final months. Again there are contravening data. Camilla may have been
- extremely depressed at an unconscious level, as same of the data
suggests. Nevertheless, her friends and her letters reveal her as
soneone who was still full of life, who enjoyed life, who felt better
about herself at some levels than ever before, who was involved in

life-sustaining activities such as gardening, and as one who in spite



of all her fears for the country had some personal mopes for the
future. Also, the dream of this friend (See interview, Appendix F)
does not portray Camilla as one who is explaining her actions in terms
of suicide. Rather, her dream portrays Camilla as one who is calmly
explaining her position, a position which is incomprehensible to her
friend because it is too dissonant with her own values and perceptions.
No such dissonance would have existed if Camilla had been explaining
to her why she committed suicide. In addition, Camilla was not the
kind of person to accomplish her own ends at the cost of death and
suffering of others. Perhaps rather than leading to suicide, her
kidney problems created a sense of urgency, of lack of time in which
to accamplish the necessary changes.

So, we return to the paradox: a seemingly loving, life-
affirming woman who enjages in behavior that seems irrational and
destructive.

One way of resolving the paradox is to adopt a version of Gurr's
frustration-aggression hypothesis (1970). Gurr's model is much more
complex than can be presented here, but he has suggested a model
predictive of the development of a radical movement in a country which
is fundamentally based on the paradigm that as frustration of personal
needs increases,‘ together with an inability to resolve those
frustrations through ordinary channels, the likelihood of aggression,
i.e., a radical movement, increases in a country.

Certainly,we could view Camilla's response as related to her own
frustration with society as it is presently constituted. Camilla had

spent many years attempting to change what she felt to be the
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injustices of her world by peaceful, concrete methods that produced
zesuits, but these results merely increased her frustration. This was
particularly true of her work for the Hennepin County Welfare Department
with unwed mothers, ard there is a:rple.. evidence of her frustration, as
indicated by her response to her supervisor, as well as her physical
symptoms. She hoped to escape this frustration in the apolitical

life of an artist in California, but even there her personal life was
inextricably bound up with external forces. Her powerlessness in the
face of the establishment was emphasized by the actions of the treasury
department and the govermment in denying her the symbolic protest of
withholding the excise tax from her phone bill. Even when she atterpted
to translate her political goals into the immediate, concrete., non-
ideological struggle for woren's rights in the Oakland Park District,
she met with same suocess,r but nmore personal frustration,as her job

" was only temporary. On a personal level, she was frustrated in that
Pat Soltysik, the person with whom she had experienced much happiness,
was t_mavailable to her, at least on terms accepta.lee to her. Pat was
urwilling to camit herself to the kind of relationship that Camilla
wanted, and though they remained close, Pét moved on to 6the.r
relationships (Soltysik, 1976).

Another explanatbry mocel which fits in with the above theory
could be suggested from the work of Hacker (1977), a psychiatrist who
is an expert on the study of the motives and methods of terrorist groups.
He cites the Arabs and the Israelis as illustrating a pattern of

identification with the aggressor. There is a histarical pattern of



the Israelis being victimized by terror (the Nazis), and in turn using -
the methods of terror on the Palestinians in their quest for their own
homeland. The Palestinians, in turn, are good learners, and talk
openly about using the methods of the Israelis, the "Zionists" (p. 76).
whether one explains this in terms of identification with the aggressor
or in terms of learning theory, it is certainly a repeated pattern. In
this way, one could suggest that Camilla, a nonviolent pacifist,
experienced a violent, aggressive response to her attempts to change
society, and began identifying with those methods. Many people,
particularly those who ascribe causation to societal factors, would
subscribe to the above views. Even those who viewed her actions as
"crazy” or destructive, would say that it was a response to crazy,
destructive behavior on the part of the forces she was trying to
change.

We are reminded here that the human person-,. as in the analogy
of the elephant, is an extremely camplex vhenomenon that cannot be
isolated under. the microscope for single, monoterporal analysis, but
sl';ifts with the position of the observer. Even when we take one case.
if it is studied in sufficient depth, what initially appears to be |
simple, determined behavior is camplex, multidetermined behavior,
The microocosm is as coplex as the macrocosm. -

_ Nevertheless, as the elephant cannot be understood totally from
the outside, as a stimulus responding to outside factors,A so Camilla
must also be viewed as determining her own behavior, I also believe

there is a way of locking at and understanding Camilla from within that

give_s some depth and ccherence to the above portrayal.
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In this understanding of Camilla, we return to her family
background (See biography of family above). Camilla came from
a very good family on both sides, exemplifying the fulfillment
of the American dream at its best. There was an emphasis on
achievement, of never losing an opportunity to make something
of oneself. The highest ideals were religious and moral. There
were no failures, no black sheep, no apparent neurotics in this
family history from the time of their arrival in the United States.
It was a family that was almost too good to be true. There was
tragedy, but there was little time wasted on self-pity or despair.
Their pioneer spirit and their religious beliefs incorpofated tragedy.
Thus, when Grandfather Hall's first wife died, there was little time
wasted in mourning. There was little discussion in the family of the

tragedy of the first child. When Rev. Hall senior dies, the family

continues with plans for the living. Mrs. Hall's father does not spend
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a lot of time feeling sorry for himself because of his accident and loss

of his career, but goes on to a new life. Her younger sister living in

Boston tells her family little of her problems and terminal cancer.
These are, for her, problems to be born individually, in silence.
This is in many ways an admirable attitude, particularly for an
earlier generation, but it does have its costs. It is a family
with little history of failure, but there are accounts of tragedy
and illness.

It is into this family and this tradition that Camilla is born.

It was a very close-knit family, in spite of the occasional travels
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of the father, and the first years must have been very happy ones for

Camilla and her family. Then tragedy struck, with the death of Terry,
in a sudden, unanticipated manner, in the middle of a family vacation.
At the vulnerable age of three, Camilla had experienced tragedy.
However, she experienced it through the feelings and attitudes of her
family, at a preconscious level, rather than at a rational, ego level.
Then, two years later, tragedy struck again, not as suddenly this time,
but still with devastating force. No family, no matter how religious
or how integrated, can go through blows of this kind without
experiencing some anger, depression, and despair. Even Job became angry
with God. Rev. Hall does state that he did experience a momentary anger,
but this was fairly quickly overcome. One can only assume that much of
the anger and depression was denied and rema’'ned unconscious, even
though same of it may have been transformed through religious faith.

Frances Wickes (1967), speaking out of years of experience as
a therapist working with children states that children frequently live
out and experience what is unexpressed in the unconscious of their
parents. Their dreams at times reflect more of what is happening
in the family and between the parents than what is happening in the
young child's life, I think that Camilla must have received some of
this kind of unconscious burden.

I would like to place this description within a Jungian
theoretical framework. In his model of the personality, Jung talks
about the ego, the persona, and the shadow (1958). The ego is
~basically similar to the Freudian model as a dynamic hypothetical



construct. The persona is that part of our personality which we have
adapted to the outside world, our mask, as the Latin word implies.

To some extent, it corresponds to our social role, our self as defined
by society as well as that which we wish to show to society. If the
persona is our self as we wish the world to see it, the shadow is

the parts of our self that we want to remain hidden. To some extent,
it corresponds to the personal unconscious of Freud. There is
something of a dynamic relationship between the persona and the
shadow: The more we are forced to live collectively, relating to the
expectations of others, the deeper is our shadow.

The role of the minister and the minister's wife entails a highly
developed persona. Recently many ministers and other religious, as
well as their wives, have reacted against this burden. This theme is
treated to some degree by Hillman (1967, p. 66 ff).

This burden is particularly heavy when the minister experiences
personal tragedy and loss. In spite of Bergman's movie, The Silence,
(Bergman, as a minister's son, is preoccupied with this problem, as
seen in his movies of this period), most ministers do not share their
despair, anger, and persocnal anquish with their congregations. They,
and their wives, are somewhat trapped by the demands of their role
and their belief system. Admittedly this is somewhat speculative,
but it also seems to be consistent with the data, and with my
impressions of the Halls and events as they occurred then.

It is not that Rev. Hall is a man who hides behind his role or that

. he is unaware of his humanity. Nevertheless, he and Mrs. Hall are
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people with powerful, though quiet, personae, and this is one thing that
Camilla at times needed to fight against in search for her own identity.
In any case, much of their anger and depression must have remained
unconscious and to same extent unresolved, and therefore absorbed by the
young Camilla. Some of the fund of basic trust in her universe which she
had built up during her early years must have been expended during this
period. In addition, during these crucial years, the stage which Erikson
(1950) describes in terms of the polarities of initiative vs. guilt, she
would have experienced what Lifton (1967, 1970) has called
"survival quilt,” the guilt that accrued to survivors of Hiroshima and
the holocaust,but also occurs in family constellations.

To quote from Lifton:

A central conflict. . .is the problem ot what I have come to speak
of as survival priority——the inner question of why one has survived
while so many have died, the inevitable condemnation in the face of
others' deaths. For the survivor can never, inwardly, simply
conclude that it was logical and ricght for him, and not others,
to survive. Rather, I would hold, he is bound by an unconscious
perception of organic social balance which makes him feel that
his survival was made possible by others' deaths: If they had
ot died, he would have had to; and if he had not survived,
someone else would have. This kind of quilt, as it relates
to survival priority, may well be that most fundamental to
human existence. (1970, p.169)

Furthermore, Lifton has himself related this problem in a more general
way to the problem faced by revolutionary youth in our contemporary
culture. This generation as a whole grew up under the threat of
extinction, and perhaps the profound sense of guilt is related to

this survival gquilt and the quest for immortality. As Lifton states:
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Under extreme historical conditions, however, certain grouos—in
this case, youth groups--feel the need to cling to the arnipotence
provided by a more literal imace of immortality, which thev in turn
ocontrast with the death-tainted lives of others. When this hapvens,
we encounter a version of the victimizing process: the young
"victimize" the old (cr older) by equating age with individual
or historical"exhaustion" and death; and the "victim,"” under
duress, may indeed feel himself to be "as if dead," ard collude
in his victimization. Conversely, the older ceneration has its
need to victimize, sometimes (but not alwavs) in the form of
counterattack, and may feel corpelled to view every innovative
action of the young as destructive or "deadly." (1970, pp. 363-364)

Thus the circumstances of Camilla's life make her particularly
susceptible to liring out a central conflict of our contemporary period.
In the same section, discussing contemporary man, Lifton has an
additional quote which seems prophetic: "romantic totalism tends
to confuse death with immortality, and even to equate them.” (p. 365).

I think that this hypothesis is supvorted by her art work and by
the final events of her life. It is also supported by inference in the
constant emphasis on how happy she was, by the data of the MVPI.
HBowever, Camilla continued to experience a loving family amd a protected,
happy life during her childhood. The shadowv, the anger and doubts about
her universe remained underground. Only in her sensitivity to hvpocrisy,
her early rejection of the established church, her irpatience, and her
stubbomness do we have the shadow side of the bright, happy, well-
adjusted child, but there was no reason for the shadow to emerge until
near the end of high school. Then the death of Nan was a prelude to
her experience of the shadow side of the world. But this depression,
this anger and sensitivity to the injustice and the failure of the

world to run smoothly, was breaking out in spite of the almost manic
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level of activity, and the constant humor which in so many cases protects
from the pain and despair one is really feeling. Camilla was unconsciously
responding to that inner pain and despair as she consciously responded to
that vhich she was beginning to experience in her outer world. But
because it was experienced in projected form, rather than as caming
from within, it was experienced with an intensity and urgency which
kept it from being manageable. This rust have been experienced very
intensively in her work with urwed mothers.

Camilla hoped to escape this conflict by leaving her work and
roving to California, but she ocould not because it was partly within
her. Perhaps it was a need to once more externalize the inner conflict
that led Camilla to move again in 1971. 1In her search for the original
Eden she moved to Channing Way in Berkeley, the center of political
ferment and unrest. Every oconflict imaginable centered in this area:
class, race, sex,r politics, and ace. Ironically, the deterioration
of the neighborhood, graphically described in one of Camilla‘'s letters,
forced her to move again, to another part of Rerkeley, but she describes
it as a very happy place and period of her life, and wanted to look for
another place like it. Even in her art, she continued to experience
and express this shadow side of existence. There was the continuing
interplay between the lyrical, happy, childlike Camilla, who lived in
a world of happy, thurberesque characters, and the critical, aggressive
Camilla who lived in a reality that she saw as distorted and threatening
to her. Even while she was talking of her freedom there was a loss of

- that smile which had been so constant. There was the alternation of
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elation and depression, of almost manic activity alternating with

despair. Ther was the constant search for samething better, the search
to regain the lost Eden. I think it is this that explains the discrepancy
between the Camilla most people knew and the Camilla orojected in
uncorsdous material. It is this that explains the Camilla who could
féel very good about herself,. yet constantly be struggling with a
feeling that something was wrong with her. It was this that gave such

a fixity to her view of the world; which made it so dangerous and
threatening. In line with Hacker's theory (1977) that with terrorists
"one's own aggression is experienced as inevitable self-defense against
outside aggression (p. 76)," Camilla in her involvement with the SLA and
its activities was defending against a deadly and destructive
establishment. Since she could not believe in a God who was running an
unfair world that could allow children to die, she was compelled to
believe in an all-powerful establishment which controls everything,

but in a very unfair and destructive way.

One thing that is constantly emerging in Camilla's writings of
the final period is an odd kind of juxtaposition between Camilla the
loving daughter, and Camilla the gun-toting revolutionary showing up
on the TV screens of the nation. Her anger was never directly
mobilized against her parents, because they were always very loving,
giving, and accepting. But at same level there must have been a lot
of unconscious anger against them for the burden she was carrying.

In her final visit around Christmas of 1973, the Halls had some
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feeling of regret .that they .did not push more to really try to come to
grips with what she was feeling. Perhaps what she was feeling could
not be campletely articulated.

At any rate, Camilla's story carries samething of the feelmg of
classical tragedy. In classical ‘tragedy,: such as Oedipus Rex, the
characters bear a burden.of guilt that is more archetypal than personal,
that leads them to an inexorable, t.:ragic fate. The power of these
classical stories of tragedy cames fram their archetypal quality, the
fact that they represent a central conflict of their time. I think
that this is part of the significance of Camilla for our time. The
United States, too, was discovering its own shadow, and its youth were

screaming out its existence to their elders, perhaps in anger for their

own loss of innocence. For a long time the United States had been passing

fram generation to generation in its educational gystem the myth of
pri'nal innocence, of god-fearing pioneers who only wanted a new place
to practice their religion in freedom. This was a part of the history
of the United States, but the shadow side, the hawk-like aggressiveness,
began to emerge around this time in our national ccnsciousness. it is
sarehow synchronistically fitting that the culminating days of the SLA
shared headlines with the climactic days of Watergate. Watergate was
the other face of the SIA, the results of tﬁe paranoid mythology of

the menbers of the establishment, who projected a destructive,
aggressive conspiracy onto every movement,A and identified their

perscnal destinies with the destinies of the nation, les etat cest moi!!
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The SIA and the Watergate leaders projected onto each other their own
inner conflicts, and in so doing became identified with the archetypal
movements that swept them away. The cynical realism of the Watergate
leaders was the other face of the unreal idealism of the SIA. .

Is this, then, the true explanation of the life of Camilla Hall?
The dialetical tradition of research recognizes that there is no single
true way of understanding the reality of a complex personality in
historical perspective. The theoretical intervretation outlined above
outlines a way of understanding Camilla which seems consistent with the
data as well as offering internal cognitive consistency, and would
serve as a useful hypothesis for further research. Other people such
as Diana Oughton, the Weather radical who was similarly known as a
loving, gentle person but blew herself up in a New York city townhouse
while making bombs, or the members of the Baader-Mennhof gang in
Germany, who could move from working with kindergarten children to
radical terrorism, could be usefully studied to see if this hypothesis
would be supported with additional people who seem very unlikely
cardidates for terrorism.

Certainly no theory that simply operates fram an internal
individualistic psychological viewpoint can adequately understand and
explain Camilla. This thesis would simply dis;tort the reality of
Camilla by failing to include the historical and political factors
which were such an important part of her history. Nor would the
antithesis of this theory, a reductive socio-economic-political

theory, be more accurate in explaining the causative factors in
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Camilla's behavior; A radical erphasis on external causation leads to
the k:Lnd of projection that in the end plagued Carilla and her friends,
even as a reductive psychology often led radicals to distrust osychology
and psychiatry. The rovement of dialectic demands a synthesis, a '
transcendent position that incorporates both the psychological and
socio-political realities,» but maintains its empirical reference
point. |

Even with such a dialectical psychological viewpoint, the story
of Camilla ultimately retains samething of an air of rystery, of a
symbolic dimension which cannot be totally explicated. There are
questions of meaning which cannot be answered by psychological or
scientific research. The story of Camilla poses theological and
philosophical questions which transcend our empirical limits.

Nevertheless, I think it is particularly irportant for us in our
age‘to answer these empirical questions which we are capable of
answering, and to learn from our individual and group history.
It is too painful, too destructive to go on repeating this kind of
history, this blind clash of opposites. Perhaps the travail of
this period can be the prelude to creative development if we learn
the lessons that pecple like Camilla can teach us.
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May 26, 1967

Barbara L. Sundquist
Merit System Supervisor

Dear Mrs. Sundquist:

I am writing this letter in reply to your reference form sent to me on
Camilla Hall. I have known Camilla (Candy) Hall for nine years. I have
known her as a school mate and also as a very good friend all these years.

In answer to one of your questions: Candy has always had more than her
share of friends. People have always been taken in by Candy because she
has always been able to bring out the best in everyone by being interested
ard sincere about what interests them. She has such a variation of types
of friends that scametimes I wornder what she can find to have in cammon

with them.

Her emotional and mental stability is very sound. In these years that I
have known her she has had her share of disappointments, but never have

I seen her act throughly disgusted and ready to give up. She has lost
two brothers and one sister in her lifetime and both her parents are such
good god-fearing people that samehow they've put back together all the
"pieces" ard go on wonderfully.

Candy uses her judgement to the best of her ability. She never makes a
snap-judgement on anything or anyone. She always thinks everything
through carefully.

She has always had her ears open for criticism. She wants to do things
exactly as you would want them done. I suppose in her own way, she's
sort of a perfectionist and realizes that she can't improve samething
unless sareone helps her. But she always wants to try things her own
way first.

She has always been able to express herself beautifully. She never seems
to have any trouble putting her point across to anyone. She likes people
to understand how she see things and will try her hardest to get it across.
If she doesn't understand samething, she will always try to find out about
it and pass it along to you. Her writing is enjoyed by everyone who knows
her. She can put together anything fram a simple personal letter to a
carnplex poem if she puts her mind to it.
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cardy is never bored with having nothing to do. She is almost constantly
at her guitar; writing songs and lyrics. This is also samething she likes
to share, as soon as she has only three words she calls you up and plays
them over and over for you. She also writes short stories and poems as

I said before, ard has had scme of them printed up in the school's

papers. (Washburn and the U.)

I don't want to make it sound as if Candy's perfect. ©She's not! I suppose
one of the first things you notice about her is her appearance. Candy is
not a picture of the feminine lady! She loves to dress casually and
sometimes overdoes it. This, I guess, had to do with her being such

a big built girl. Also, she's been a student for so long and dressing

like it, she doesn't realize that there are skirts and dresses. But

I'm sure that as soon as she starts work, this will be corrected.

I hope this information is what you wanted——please feel free to notify me
if there is anything else I can do for you or Candy.

Sincerely yours,

Kathy Wennberg
5921-13th Ave.So.
Mpls., Minn. 55417

MAY 31, 1967
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2124 University
Des Moines, Iowa

Mrs. Barbara L. Surdquist
County Welfare Merit System
Centennial Office Building
Sst. Paul, Minn.

Dear Mrs. Surdquist:
Re: Camilla Hall

I met Camilla (Candy) Hall my freshman year at college which was in 1963.
We have been good friends since then. Candy has helped me over many
trying periods; she was one person I could always count on to help me.
While at school together and since then, I have seen her help numerous
people with their problems. One of the reasons she is able to help
people is because she likes them and understands them. She is not
obsequious in dealing with people but is very open and direct.

Candy enjoys meeting all kinds of people. I'm not sure what your question
means when you ask does she have a sincere liking for all kinds of people.
If you're asking whether she likes everyone she meets, the answer by any
sane person ocould only be no. If the question means does she enjoy
meeting different types of people the answer is a definite yes.

Like many of us, she is very dependable when she feels she is doing
sanething worthwhile. If saddeled with "busy work" she will procrastinate.

She is more emotionally stable than most of the people I know. But again
your question is misleading, what is emotional and mental stability? By
whose standards? Are people mentally stable by spending millions of
dollars killing Vietnamese children? Are people emotionally stable when
they cry at a sad movie but could not shed one tear over the people in
the ghettos ard poverty areas? Are people sane when they will not help
their fellow man? My definition of mental and emotional stability by
which I will describe Candy is that of a social responsibility, a duty
to help my fellow man. In the context of my definition she is
emotionally and mentally stable.

Candy will accept and profit from constructive criticism and suggestion.
She is always willing to accept new ideas and to incorporate them into
her thought patterns.

She is able to express herself well verbally and in writing. Wwhen I
first met her she had trouble in effective serious conversations.
She has gotten over a minor inferiority complex ard is now more sure
of herself in verbal communications.



Candy is learning to become well organized but still has trouble
effectively budgeting her time. This evaluation may be unfair
because I've never seen her in a job situation. I know with a
little training and practice she could learn to better organize
her affairs.

Candy would make an excellent welfare worker; she is able to empathize
rationally. Her marvellous sense of humor enables her deal with all
people. I know she would grow with the job and become a valuable

member of your staff.

Sincerely,

Mary Stewart

JUN 2 1967
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1227 4th St. S.E., Apt 201
Minneapolis, Minnesota
May 26, 1967

Dear Mrs. Sundquist:

In answer to your request, I shall be happy to tell you what I know of
Camilla Hall. Since Candy and I have been close friends during our

oollege years, my cbservation will be limited to a social rather than

a professional view. By giving you same concrete, day-to-day examples of
her behavior, I hope to present a consistent picture of her character. I
have known Candy for nearly 4 years, since the time we first met as freshmen
at Gustavus Adolphus College. Since that time we have maintained a close
and affectionate friendship. I know Candy both in the capacity of fellow-
student and friend.

One of Candy's most outstanding and immediately apparent traits is her
ability to put any person she meets at ease. My earliest recollection

of her is how she was notably instrumental in creating fellowship among
shy and timid college freshmen. She went out of her way to be friendly
with not only me but with many other new students. Everyone appreciated
this ability of her's. Since then, I have carefully observed in a nunber
of situations that no matter who the person, he is able to sit and talk
with Candy without feeling ill at ease. I have never seen her set up any
kind of artificial or social barrier between herself and whamever she is
with. I can remember when we lived in a dormitory our freshmen year that
many of the girls with problems would go talk them over with Candy, rather
than with the housemother or the dorm counselors. As a result of this, we
affectionately referred to her as 'Mother Mil.' One important reason for
this, in addition to the fact that she puts people at ease and sincerely
listens, is the fact that Candy is the kind of person who not only gives
respected advice, but who willing receives it herself. I transferred to
the University of Minnesota a year after Candy did; she was one of the few
people I knew here. Since then she has introduced me to many different
kinds of people arnd I have been proud to introduce her to people I met

by myself.

Although Candy and I have for the past 4 years lived in a collegiate
atmosphere, she has the ability to adjust to various situations, not only
situations involving people of her own age, but also those involving
older adults; for exanmple, parents of friends, and professors. Candy is
the type of person who, once she has made herself acquainted with the
various ard caplex facets of a situation is able to make a considered
and mature judgment of the situation and act in accord with what is
required. Although, as I have said, I have primarily seen evidences

of this trait in Candy as a fellow-student (for exanple, in her fulfill-
ment of class requirements) I think that given the chance, Candy will



108

channel this ability to adjust to the requirements of whatever job she
takes after graduation. Outside of the more academic evidences of this
ability to adjust to situations, I have observed this ability of Candy's
in a more practical sphere; she and I both live in apartments, and we
have both learned, for example, aspects of budgeting, housekeeping, cat-
rearing and the judicious use of independence. I think it is commendable
that at an early age she has been able to wisely requlate her own life at
school. She has, for the most part, taken upon herself to financially
support herself.

one of Candy's traits which is most appealing is her genuine enthusiasm—
for people, literature and other fine arts. For example, after taking

an art class at the University, Candy became so enthusiastic that she
began dabling in painting and produced some art work of her own. Another
exarmple is the fact that she taught herself to play the guitar; after she
had gone as far as she could by ear, she started taking classical gquitar
lessons from a professional in order to learn the finer and more technical
aspects of the instrument and music in general. Her enthusiasm also led
her to campose several songs herself. She has worked hard and plays the
guitar skillfully and beautifully. Candy and I have taken same literature
courses together at the University. Judging from her class performance, I
think she has the rare ability to go above and beyond what is covered or
required in class. I am sure that many of my fondest memories of college
will center around the lively and excited discussions Cardy and I held
about books we had read, plans we were making, and different philosophies
we held. Although I have emphacized Candy's enthusiasm so far as it has
been generated by an asthetic and intellectual atmosphere (since her
capacity for the past four years has been that of a student), I firmly
believe that her enthusiasm will continue to expand to include more
practical situations, since she already has a very good start in that
sphere, as shown by some of ny earlier comments.

In answer to your question about Candy's ability to express herself in
both speaking and writing, I know that Candy, as a Humanities major, has
had to do research on certain topics for certain classes, and in addition
to turning in a paper, has had to lecture her class and then lead
discussion afterwards. This not only builds poise, but also provides
practice in both verbal and written comunication. In addition, Candy and
I have often read, discussed, and criticized each others papers. As a
fellow student, I often envy Candy's ability to express herself, both
verbally and in writing, with insight and imagination.

In sumation, I think Candy's good sense and basic sense of humor,
carbined with all the other traits I have mentioned, ultimately presents
a picture of a person of empathy with, and deep understanding and
sympathy for fellow humans.

Sincerely yours,

Elizabeth Ihrig MAY 31 1967
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Autobiography for County Welfare Merit System

Camilla C. Hall

I was born in St. Peter, Minn. in 1945. I had two older brothers
and a sister two years younger than I. When I was four my brother Terry
died and when I was five my brother Peter died.

When I was six we moved to East Africa where my father was an
education inspector. My mother taught me first and secord grade because
there were no English speaking schools near where we lived. My playmates
were mostly little African boys and girls who lived in grass huts and had
little or no clothing. We were not near other Americans or any
commercialism so my sister and I made toys like the Africans did out of
sticks and strings amd rocks and old wrapping paper. When Christmas came
we decorated our tree with bits of tinfoil and threads and colored paper.
My sister and I learned to play shepherds flutes and crude home-made
stringed instruments and exchanged songs with the Africans.

I went to Washburn High School in Mpls. and graduated in 1963.
While in high school I participated in several talent shows and the class
play. I was also active in Quill Club and Hi-Y and was voted into the
Hall of Fame. My sister Man had been in and out of hospitals for several
years and died in my senior year at the age of fifteen.

vWhen I graduated fram high school my parents moved to Illinois and
I went to St. Peter to attend Gustavus Adolphus College. At Gustavus I
lived in a dorm and went through the typical "culturz shock" of living



112

with people other than family for 24 hours a day. Our dorm was divided
into sections comprised of 12 girls each rather than corridors with
individual and private rooms. Because of this constant contact, I came

to know these girls very well in a relatively short time. As far as close
ocontact with other people goes, my freshmen year at Gustavus was the most
rewarding year of my college career. I did not feel however, that I was
getting as good an academic education as I had expected from college and
so I transferred to the University of Minnesota.

My parents own a hame in Mpls. which they rented out to a family
when they moved to Chicago. Part of the rental agreement provided that
the room and bath over the garage be kept vacant in case I should want
to live there. When I transferred to the U. ofM; I moved back into our
house and lived with this family during my soph. and jr. years. Because
of my irregqular student hours and generally unpredictable schedule, I took
my meals alone rather than with this family. This was my first real
experience with budgeting money and I was pleased with this independence.
I prepared all my meals on a two-burner hotplate in my bathroom and
washed my dishes in the bathtub. Even though we did not take meals
together, the renters accepted me right away as a "member of the family"
and as such I had certain household duties and responsibilities. Emotional
ties also developed and I became sort of an ersatz big sister to their
ten years old son, whose real sister was married and living in California.
I learned a great deal about family behavior during those two years; more
than I ocould have learned from my own family life because I could be more
objective.
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During this period my father was training missionaries for South
america through the University of Chicago's Lutheran School of Theology.
As part of this job he trawvels to So. Am. periodically so that he can keep
up to date on what is being done there. In my jr. year I went along with
my parents to So. Am. for six months. We visited each country and spent
rost of the time in the villages and slums where the missionaries were
working. The So. Am. govermment does very little for or with the poor
people; the majority of the social work and financial aid is provided
by American churches through missionary activity.

When I returned from So. Am. I lived with the renters for a few rore
months. I had gradually been realizing that by living far away from
campus I was missing out on a lot of student activity. There were no
other college students in my neighborhood and when I came home from
classes it was like entering a completely different world. The renters
were not particularly interested in my studies or "intellectual
discussions" and thus I felt I was missing out on an important aspect
of college. So I moved into an apartment a few blocks from campus at
the beginning of my senior year. I have found this to be an improvement
in many ways. I have met a lot of other students, all from a great
variety of backgrounds. Being closer to campus it is easier to take
advantage of special lectures, exhibits and concerts than it was before.

My major is Humanities and in this program we study the fine arts,
literature, philosophy, and the social sciences. The enmphasis however,
in on literature, and the aim is to trxy to understand, through the
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intellectual products of a culture or age, what it meant to be a human
peing in that period. We try to work from this to more of an awareness
of what it means to be a human being in the twentieth centuwry. It is
partly due to the awareness gained in my studies, and partly due to

my travel experiences that I am interested in becoming a social

worker.

Camilla Hall

MAY 25, 1967



RS . \q\' MINNCSOTA COUNTY * "LFARE MERIT §YSTEM

v e dl questgn s, . i O W.122 ¢n
e /,/“::.‘.'/.é;:.::_“"“ W APPLICATION F R EXAMINATION i Y
’ Fill in on a typeweivr or LEGIBLY In ink

1. Priet Name: 2, Bieth Date: 3. Minaesots Residence:

HaLL __i‘*N\\\_l_Pr chrRisONg 3 24 (44$ g 3
w Leet Firet Migdie Me. Uay Year Yre. Moa.

4. Address: Number Steet Zone State 3. Telephone No.:
Present 104 21 7pe2 % A'zi\'[o? Tasls. S0y Ariwm . 73q-dize

Permanent A Ayt -

Y .
A iy one application aced be filed for a series of exami- Applicents who are NOT welilare bosrd emdloyees must chack here.
\3‘.&“ ‘9 listed on one snnouncemeant. Waellare bosrd amployees check one or Doth.
J I 0O NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE
3 below write the exact title of the exami- - .
which you ste applying. Open | Prom. | Acep. |C. Aca | Rep. ke, Reaaon o~
Worker T 'Y [ ~ 20 ALt N Ty
N L il et
7 . O |
= = |
r, Have you ever applied for a Minnesota County Weifare Merit System ecaminatizca before? Yes O No R
¥, -
4 . .
+/ &, Marical Status: 9. Ses: 10. Hetehe: L. Weiehe: 12. Marriage:
/ N
Single | Married | Divorcadt] Sepacatet Widowes Maile Femsie Peet Inches Paurty
1/ o, Day Yes
. X X S s 1557
13, Maidea Neme 11/ 2 Maceied Toman:) ~7
14. Number of dependents: e Relationsmip: _=——
15. ltave you ever been discharged or focced to resign irom any positioa? . Y€3 T No X
16a. Have you ever been arresred for 2 7i0iation of the law other thaa & minoe traffic violation? ....eeiuues Yes 3 No K
b. Has your drivers licease ever been sus, ended or revoked? Yes T No ) [ f yes, give iu
17a. Ase you physically bandicarped in any way? ..., rerecrevemmsnesrecneeas Y23 2 No X ¥ detoils on
b. lHave you ever been hospitaiized or received Uearmeat for nurvous Lreckdown, menzal illness or epilepsy? Yo T Mo M) amazhment.
{84 Do you o¢ have you used intoxicating beverages habteually or excessively? verenes Yes T No A

No X

b, Are you or have vou been addicred o the use of aav habi-formiag iruas’ ... oo Yes

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

oot Sekont md Lacrun S | WD | oSenm, | Iy seed don i
19. Grade an bl ""‘ 1”‘ 73733 /%o s 6 7 o I‘:’ ¥ )UV\C. 'qés
High bchool )J L9n burn I\r\p\ S i co! s |*/e3 9 19t l Dste
1. Colege or University: GesT8%im /siphun Lou A€ 1/ [YAC RS QN “taror Fietd Degree | Cac-
Qaiv. ot Minn rofod  fefng J ol ey
N Ide Aumgpines DA 6/ 7
22. Geaduste School (otner chan Sociai Tork): Hst 4
214l
" MAY 2|5 1
23. Graduste School of Soctal Tork: . |
1Y 2 2
Field York: tlours Agency
Hours Agency

24. Usdergradusce Field Tock: (Discribe by showiag che time speac, agency or agencies 1avoived, and major acuvinies periormed.)

ot

9 or Extension Course: (Lise completed courses only) 26. Membership in Organizations:
only Wk scbael achwhies dud dubs,
School Course e prqans ’;\!”b uﬂ-l'- w tlege
School: Course

268, Volusteer s0d Unpaid Work Esperience:

Anlyvi~



r

MOST RECENT POSITION FIRST.

LIST EACIHI PROVOTION AS A
SEPARATE POSITION.

7.

CMPLOY
(Use edditional | rper if necessary)

116

ENT RECORD

AE COMPLETE. YOUR LXVER; k_ (1»_
TILL BE RATED FROM TINS ,
INFORMATION.

1. Date ot Papntioyment 1. Name snd Add: of !rrguyu 1, el Yn Poaition (Give payrolt title U erploved
3. Lengin of Cnpleyment {Give number, o, clty, on Do tigt Write
3, Belary per “onth ond state.) » . D your duties ln conclee detall; indicate yaur re-| Inthis Coly-n
4, Houre Yorked per Waek 1. Resson for Leeving I epensibility, slae of ererstions, sucervialon if eny, ete.
L T éx ; X
L Fromdrn 65 o (B 1 \illage T ¢ Dr i_(l._msﬁ_ ruatin, ~m‘l.
M, Y1, Ma. Xe, ame of f.hployer e Of - Aiu,
. By ]
2. eu-._y_f-w-. .&’igﬂé_“ﬂ_&.\u__ v "CCWE e )« &t e J o)
l L; ﬁ ' 257 Numbar Streat M -
3. 8 {'_}A—"‘F Lﬁus pCU\'Z- bt
Minteum M.l Stats |
« 30 ‘pw | 2 ‘,QE¢1-L_ l
1. o&”i to ﬁ";i ; i, L(Ant"ﬂ\ 5 J' AL r“?& 1 i L'J—ft—{’\d’k
W Neame of LMplcY!' : z. Ape iad tr (A DM A..,
2. yesrs 3 mc:.@yls Uy e S¢ arzobel D\'
Number Ser . - ¥
2 (B 100/no | o o J el in_ -&__.LLL'PSJ______._
3 $ Pahe M.oan. hed ned p e jebemiria
Win irwaem aimam =Ny Tace | Y
‘. Yo - 2 Sl
i Fmé'aﬁl o3 to A‘J‘, 13 . —V‘k SL\ALJ‘{ ;‘5’3 i, A8 2 '\L‘.L'A‘J‘
s ¥r. CEAATR v of umm
i b sayae s abgue
2. years 3 mos., 1 1(3 umg "“C 5.Z ! -
3 i Number Street
5.8 /0 pg 8 10 o Vs Mown
Minimum ad tmam | Cdy‘ State i
4 Yo hn ;2 S i
L rm}-hj,_o_ N~ Lo [ 1 Tabing Korner \ardont 1 inaibeess
Yr. e, Yr. Name of Employer [l
, P Leatad,
2. yeuss -yl nou Hben UIML'C{’ ! aited Bbles
4 Fumbee e 5etd argc€nes
3 8 ZQ/LN H X{/ DAL Datom. | T2y vwisws fleors |
Man unum Cuy State i *
; ' i )
‘. 30 fia, L2, sdiad ‘ !
| |
1. From to 1. i1
e, Yr Me. Yr Nams of Eswployer i 2
L "“. mas: Number Strest j
5
. $
3 4 i o Masimum Tity KT
4. 2.
28. REFERENCES
{Do aoc list relatives)
GIVEN NAME & SURNAME o)
(ladicste: Ms., Mes, or Miss) -~ Number Cscfrh:l:‘LETE CURRENT AﬁDPhSS Stace
LM pary Steanst 2y ‘Ln.Lumuvs.l\g } 'Lj‘l)mes Towsa,
1 hais Kathw 'Menndtrs N Sy 3T ks T FIes oo
- Nss Closhetn Tiria LN L lerd SE Yhsir AaT s Vorde  Ba g,
S M b Eart Toibaa | Y4giy Fromerd £-2 3. Parle Daium

1 HEREBY CERTIFY thac this application contaias no willlul misrepresentation or faisification aad thac the iafoemation gives by me is et

ead complete 1o the dest of my knowledge 1ad belief.

1 am awase chat shiould iavestigation ar any time disclose a7 such misrepeasentation o

feleification, my applicatica wiil be rejected, my name will be cemoved (rom the cegizier, | will be disquslilied fr3 arplying in the future for
say position cades the jusdiction of tne MINNESOTA COUNTY SELFARE MERIT SYSTEM, 2ad [ may be recoved from the job after apporacr

. oue_May 1

€ 967

I
30 SIGNATURE (

(g

'

lﬂ-_n A’p_l.;:}_mn Tn:_

»Mn»-l »S,!llﬂ Ik’owu?', Centennial Office Building, St. Paul !, Yinm,




APPENDIX B



118

Profile and Case Summary

F

| The Minnesota Multiphanic Perlonalitv lnventOYY Name _ Camilla llald. . oo Femate
Starke R. Hathaway and J. Charnley McKinley Address e R
Scorer's Initiate ________ Occupati Student __Date Tested Sept. _19_91 -

Twle 7 b r € Hos b »:, Ao M s:o.u Mor :. (R iadyedl Educati Age_19
I'—_ :"Im
w : : ’_' - _ s Marital Status_Sin8le  Referred by

‘Female | . : . . : :
- - R e S L Bt L el R NOTES

: e e LS S :
" <o R e

Ao

’:; VU T ¥ X b W RE W R A SRR & :-;:k el s
-«miiﬁﬂlﬂﬁlﬂi&ﬁfa —
lhbo-“.‘_l _5 Ll ’_} _l -
Row Score with K _1. a5 PR L] —_
@ Signature i : Date




APPENDIX C



Reflections On A Pinple ;

Pore Little Me

When I get sad: feeling grim
I just clirb inside my skin
But it's so thin from living in

I break out on my chin.

1969
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I've got to move on;
begin again
the search I left off
before this old~fashioned interlude—
this senseless succession of straight,
rutted me out of my spiral weave.
I slowed down
to know you;
waited
through
patterns;
marked time
through mazes of moods.
Ah yes, youth is wasted on the down.

Iook in the mirror,
when you least expect it,
ard you will see it

3-71



For Pat

"Sister,"

that's what your button said
the first time I met you—
ard I believed you

ard now I feel it too—
sister. . .

Thank you.

7-71
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Keya shares her sunshine with the plants—
basking, side by side, in the window.

Warm, she unfolds a stretch. . . . so luxurious, the sun. . .

slowly ard always
with new-ness and bright
forever and ever

they grow

Iong kitty moves among the green. . .
she smells them growing
sniffing their buds.

nose-mizzling along pot bellies.

Ah yes, Keya shares her sunshine with the plants—
basking, side by side, in the window.
Ard when it gets too crowded

(no room to unfold)

she bites them.

8-72



124
9/18/'64
pear Mom & Dad—

Thanks for the letter and the money-—-Expenses have really been piling
up this week & I've had to pay out all that I got from you already.

I needed new glasses so I went to Plymouth Optical which is right
next door to where I work. The only reason I didn't go to Dr. Jerome was
that the soonest appointment was November 2! So I went to Plymouth, which
gave me an appointment for the same day. The examination was about $5, the
new frames were $7 & the lenses & hardening came to about $8. Imagine only
$20 for the works! Anyway, I paid them, so I'd appreciate a little
remuneration. I have a receit if you want it for tax purposes.

Then my Van Gogh came, which is $4.95, my coffee pot got fixed,
which was $7.50, ard my watch is being cleaned, which is $7.75. To top
it off, I had to have a new rebuilt generator & voltage regqulator put on
the Ford because the battery went dead 2 days in a row, after being
recharged 2 times. I paid for the battery charges, but you'll get the
bill for the generator & regulator—it was about $30. I had that Mike
at the 46th & Nic. Std. Station do it. Did you know that he used to
play drums for Ahmad Jamal? But he smashed his hand & couldn't use
it for a year sohemnﬁtoforeigncar school——or whatever you call
it. Anyway, that station is 3/4 his. He's really a nice & fascinating
to talk to.

I went throuwgh registration today--boy if that wasn't frustrating—
all the cowrses I had to take to fulfill requirements were CIOSED. So I
enrded up just taking electives, which won't help my transfer into Upper
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pivision and junior status come as soon as it should have. All I needed
to became a junior was 2 credits of art, 5 credits of astronamey, & 2
credits of anthropology. None of which were open. I'm taking instead,

a classics course from Roy Arthur Evanson (I hope to get him for an
advisor), a theater arts course (list of theater and study of some plays),
a couwrse on the history of Western philoscphy, and a 2 cr course in Public
Health. The courses sound pretty interesting, but as I said before, they
don't fulfill any requirements.

I'm glad to hear you are getting settled & I am also happy you have
more roam than last year. Leave it to Dusty to find a good hiding place—
reminds me of the 4th of July at Forrest lake when we had Dusty along &
she hid under that porch—-boy, we though we'd never get her out.

Tomorrow I have to go back to the U to take personality tests-
yippee skippee dooooco.

Mr. Tetling found your big desk up in the attic, dad, & put it
back together. He's got it down in the basement-—you know, with our
porch furniture & their spare TV. Mrs. T conplains that she can't
wash dishes, clothes, sprinkle the lawn, & take a bubble bath all at
the same time-—seems our water pressure is low. . .

Anyway, 1'd appreciate it if you could reimburse me about $40.00
so I can have same spending money—-my payroll checks go straight into a
savings account which I vowed I wouldn't touch till Europe.

Love-Candy
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5-19-70
HELLO!
Thanks for the $75 & the $50 for posters. I've been doing a lot of
drawing the last 3 weeks & will send you the "pick of the litter!"
T will start showing June 6 & 7 with 40 craftsmen in a big tent in
Topanga Canyon. There will be candlemakers, jewelry makers, potters,
leather crafters, etc. etc. I'm the only cartoon maker——probably in the
whole state as far as art fairs go! It should be fun & I'm getting
excited. I will be asking $10-20 for each drawing. Since you're
getting the best ones, you only get three—2 for your house & 1 for the
league.
When Dick gets back fram Mpls. hopefully we'll check into making large
posters for mass distribution. In all probability I'll provide ideas
& slogans & he (or someone else) will do the art work since I don't
think I'm that good yet. So far, I'm very pleased with my work because
it's getting better every few days. If only my eyes & hands were
skillful enough to keep up with my imagination! Wow!——would that be
fun!
Glad to hear you got moved in ok & that you're having such a good time.
Keep the dialogue going about the war Dad, it's really important. I'm
just sick over Kent State & MNixon's insane move in Cambodia. Things
get more scarey every day.
I'1l send the drawings sametime next week. Hope you like them.
Iove,
Camilla



5-5-71

pear Folks:

Just got your letter yesterday--great to hear fram you after so
long!

Happy Mother's Day, Mom!!!

Glad you liked the album——it's one of those that grows on you.

Well, today I finally found an apt. I'm so relieved. Housing
is really tight up here. There are lots of vacancies, but they're all
either too dumpy or too expensive. After I saw Berkeley, I knew that
I'd much rather live there than in SF & I was lucky enough to find a
1 bedroam apt. about 6 blocks from campus. I can't move in 'til the
15th & I'm really antsy to get in there & get my stuff unpacked & get
back to work. I think the environmment will be very stimulating & the

"vibrations" are just terrific. It's almost a world unto itself & is
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definitely a "liberated zone." They just elected 4 radicals to the city

council, so it will be fun to see what happens.
My new address will be

2021 Channing Way #4
Berkeley, Cal.

I'm going to keep the telephone number of the group living there
now to save a $10 service fee. That # is 548-1174.

This weekend I show at a shopping center in San Jose & I'm looking

forward to getting reaction to my work. My prices are going up because

everything is more expensive up here—but they'll just go up $5-$10

right now.
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I'm staying here in Fremont w/ David's twin brother Dan & his
(one of the other artists in the Asher show) two roomates & their dog,
Mr. Hamilton—who is % Gexman shepard & % bassett. . . very strange dog.
They've all been just great to Keya & me & are very generous & helpful.
I've been very fortunate in finding great friends I think.

Sounds like you both had a nice Mam's birthday! You guys really
know how to do things right. Wwhat are you up to these days Dad? How are
plans for the Orient coming?

Will write more later——just want to get this off in time for
Mother's Day.

Much Much Much love—

Camilla
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Dale?

Sumer 19727

Dear Mom & Dad—

Well, things have really been exciting around here the last 3 weeks——
specifically since the mining of the Hiphong. As you probably heard,
there was a lot of trashing here in Berkeley—rocks through windows
rostly; very little looting. No leaders, just small groups acting
spontaneously. Most energy soon focused on People's Park, and "we"
tore down the fence & liberated it. Within hours, people were planting
flowers, trees & vegetables in neat little arrangements, with little
barboo fences & other make shift fences around them to keep off the
dogs. Someone donated 5 waterbeds to play on, others built a rope
swing, teeter totter, bulletin board, compost heap, scarecrows & now
sameone has installed a toilet & shower. The first few days it was
just fantastic but then small gangs of black men began to take over the
park; they hassel wamen constantly & children too, they get in fights
with knives & same carry guns; some even cook their heroin over open
capfires—it's really an ugly scene & the test now ocames of how to
deal with all these problems—-drugs, race, sex, violence etc etc.

Very few people dare to use the park now because of fear. But people
are very concerned & there is a conference being held this weekend to
discuss the problem. Never a dull mament. . . |

Karate is going well & I'm really glad I'm taking it. With
warmer weather here we're unocovering more of our bodies (e.g. not

wearing overcoats) & there seems to be a proportioned rise in hassels
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fram men on the street. Knowing karate makes me feel a little better
prepared for survival even though I don't know for sure that I would
pe able to use it if I needed it. . . . so it's not like I have a false
self-confidence about it—I just don't give off fear-vibes like I think
I might have done in the past. . .but then I ain't locking for trouble
either.

Same black men moved in the building next door & brought same pretty
bad vibes with them. Wamen couldn't walk by their windows without being
hasseled; they robbed & beat up a man one quiet afternoon & because he
was a man & men are not encouraged to scream in the face of danger, no
one knew what happened or heard a single sound. We've been trying to
deal with it, but it's really touchy because of the racial issue. Ilast
week Gene (fram upstairs) was caming hame at 3 a m & heard lots of noise
from next door. He looked in the window & saw 4 black men beating up
another black man with pieces of broken furniture. Gene started yelling &
screaming for them to stop & one of them clubbed him & broke his jaw. He
managed to escape & run home to activate the phone tree & then everybody
came out & the fight ended. Now Gene is in the hosp. w/a broken jaw.
The nmoral of the story is that Gene would have been better off running
up & down the street yeliing for people to came out or activating the
phone tree immediately rather than trying to hardle it all by himself.
I probably would have done the same thing he did—but we'll all know/
remember better next time. He'll have to have his teeth wired shut for
6 weeks—what a drag.

The next day the landlord evicted them (the black men)~--so they've

probably moved on to do the same in a diff. neighborhood. We tried
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talking with them several times but ocbviously we weren't able to get
through. Revolution has to be social as much as political—maybe more. . .
put it's going so slowly that it doesn't seem like revolution at all. . .
very gradual consciousness raising would probably be a better term.
People are very difficult to struggle with & it takes a very great deal
of energy——but then you already know that!
I just finished doing the commission for that symphony program.
Tt's a series of 7 drawings to be placed sequentially in the 20-25 page
program, and it's called See me free; I need to sing—it's about birds
breaking out of their shells & people breaking out of office buildings
& they run & dance & sing. Sounds corny when it's said in words, but
the pictures are pretty neat & I'm pleased with it. I have some worries
that they won't like it because it's anti-status quo, but another part
of me says why shouldn't line drawings in a symphony program deal with a
heavy topic? It's one we're all concerned with after all. So we'll see.
I've started locking for another apt. because I feel it's time
for another change. The block isn't what it used to be & the over-
population of dogs is becoming really oppressive—not to mention
dogshit & flies. I'm in no hurry because I want something that will
turn out as nice & n‘elldw as this apt. has during the time I've been
living & growing in it; but I have begun checking out other places.
I'11l stay in Berkeley, of course. Pat's thinking of moving too—-
but close by, of course! I especially want a place with lots of sun

for my little green buddies.
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when will you be moving into your condominium? I bet that will feel
good—having a place to settle into for a while; a base of operations.
How are your travel plans shaping up? Hope to see you soon!
Well, I guess that's about all for now—-heavy times, these days,
heavy times.
let me know how it is with you.
Iove

Camilla
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9-25-73

pear Mom & Dad,

Well it's been pretty exciting around here. I'm sending a
newspaper clipping which gives a pretty accurate account of what
happened. Three TV cameras were there as well as reporters & photographers.
Management called out their militia (the Rangers) who stood guard in 10
gallon cowboy hats & billie clubs. This is the first time that's
happened. There were about 100 people there in total--all jammed into a
small conference roam. The conference room has three walls of floor to
ceiling windows & when the Rangers stopped people from coming inside,
people lined the windows from the outside, standing 3 & four deep, &
stared in at the Board of Directors. . . not making any camotion or
yelling or doing anything but standing still & staring in—it was
dynamite. They let them in. The Board had to finally agree unanimously
to adopt an Affirmative Action Policy & Program & now we have to keep
the pressure on & interest high so that they don't just "send it on to
camittee." I was interviewed over the radio & had my picture in the
paper & on TV. It's been exciting for morale in general at the Parks
Dept; even though they consider me a "Berkeley radical," they say it
sort of affectionately.

There's only 1 week left of my job: I apprbach termination w/
mixed feelings. I like the job & being able to save $ to put towards
early retirement (very early); but I'm looking forward to having scme

play time again & getting same more new interests & activities. I'm
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jooking forward to have a change again & curious as to what I'll be doing
next. I'm sure you know the feeling!

The rains have started about 1% months early here & we're going to
have terrific erosion problems bec. so many dead trees have been removed
due to fire hazard. It's been an extraordinary cool summer & I never even
got much of a tan even tho I'm outdoors all the time.

After my job ends, I'm going to plant my winter & spring flowers—-
cyclamen & of ocourse tulips & iris & daffs & crocus & all those spring
heralds. The tomatoes are ripening & only have a few worms.

The sky & hills are so beautiful after rain—washed, shiny,
blue~-sky & huge sculptured white billow clouds. Iovely fall weather—
but it's dark by 7 pm now. The house is chilly. Got to start baking
my own bread & warming the house with all day lentil cooking. There
are definite ways to enjoy fall. . . .one needn't grumble.

Hope you're well & jumping.

Camilla
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Copy of Camilla's letter found in her knapsack at her death

May 17, 1974 in los Angeles, California. Transcribed by FBI.

"Dear Mom & Dad

"How are you? I've been thinking about you a lot & hoping that
all is well with you. I get a lot of strength fram our love & it
really helps keep me going. I'm sending this through Phil & Candy
bec. I know you are probably being watched very cvarefully by now. My
name has been in the papers & TV etc (the FBI missed me by a matter of
days in Berk) but we're staying several jumps ahead of them at all
times by using our creativity & determination to survive & carry on
the business of the revolution. I want you to remember that I'm w/
really good people & that we've trained ourselves in a great many
ways bec. we realize the importance of the people's forces surviving
& gaining victory after victory (you know I never do anyting half-
assed). Our attitude is very positive & our courage cames from our
love for the people & hatred for the enemy. You know well that I
have worked for change all my conscious life. I went through many
stages of development, attacking the enemy in many different fronts
only to see change co-opted into reformism. I exhausted all the
possibilities before finally deciding that this was the only way
to actually get the revolution goirg in realistic terms. It has
became increasingly cobvious (or rather, I used to be incredibly
naive) that the ruling class & the corporate state have no
intention of giving up any power voluntarily (witness the
contortions Nixon has gone through to stay in power) & that
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the capitalist system is an evil that must be destroved. We are
actively engaged in battling the enemy wherever we find it--the enemy
within as well as the enemy without. The "putrid disease of bouregeois
mentality" is in all of us & we are constantly working to rid ourselves
of it so we can be better soldiers & fighters for the people.

"I don't know what kind of press coverage we've gotten in your
area or what kind of distortions they've been (illegible) people w/,
but I strongly recommend that you check into underground news sources
to get a better idea of what's really happening. The Barb has published
all our cammuniques as well as people's responses to our actions & it
would be very helpful to you in understanding all this to subscribe to
it. It's $10 a year & their address is Berkeley Barb, PO Box 1247,
Berk Calif 94701. Ask them to send you all back issues beginming
Jan 1974. Have them send it to you at school Dad, rather than to
the house. I also recammend that you do same reading on revolutionary
struggles arourd the world & writing of political prisoners in this
country. Our support ocomes fram oppressed people (illegible) will
notice how so—called radical leaders have stumbled all over each
other trying to get (illegible) other side of the fence to denounce
us—bec. we threaten their organization & prestige. They have all
becane reformists, revisionists, & are eager to protect their
interests. The truth is that they are scared shitless bec. we
have put them in a situation that calls for action to fulfill

the courage of their convictions. Our support is from the people
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& will continue to grow w/ each victory as we prove to the people
that revolution can indeed happen & will indeed be successful. We
intend to be around for quite a while & to live to see the victories.
I know you trust my sincerity even if you haven't yet come to agree
w/ the ocourse of action I have committed myself to. I am young &
strong & willing to dedicate that & my courage & intelligence & lowve
to this work. I feel really good about what. I'm doing & want you to
also. |

"I should warn you that the FBI can "bug" you through your
phone w/out ever stepping foot in your house—they can turn your
telephone into a microphone that picks up even whispers up to 20 feet—
even if the phone is on the hook. So you should discipline yourselves
to not talk about me in the kitchen or study. Also watch your mail
closely to see if any of it is delayed or tampered with. I'm

putting scotch tape around this & you should be able

to tell if it's been messed with. I'm sure you're beginning to
understand better why it is difficult to write you & still maintain
my security. Please try to urderstand that I won't be able to
camunicate w/ you again for quite a while for security reasons.
Security not only involves me but my comrades. We all face the
same problems of wanting to communicate w/ our loved ones but of
not being able to do so "for security reasons". So don't feel
you're alone—there are lots of others parents & friends & lovers
going through the same thing. I trust your courage & (illegible)
to understand these things & keep them (illegible) in your heart.
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"Enclosed is a poem I wrote after hearing newscasters talk about

my sudden, mysterious, & coincidental disappearance from my quiet
little Berkeley bungalow.

"I sent Phil & Candy $5 & a note w/ this saying that I was on the
road & hadn't been able to get anything together for your birthday Mom
& would they please buy you same pretty flowers & hand deliver them w/
this letter to you. I'm sorry I can't promise to be able to do this
on our special family days but know what I remember them & send you
my love on many many nore days than just those.

"Be strong

"Love-—Camilla"
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OUILINE OF "IV FAMLEY HESIORY=—-CMILIA [IALL

GPORGE DYWIEL HIIALL b. 1870
‘in Sweden, came to America
ﬁt age of 18. First wife d.

£ consurption in an institu-
tion after 2 yrs. of marriage.
Child born that he never saw.

JENNY ALFREDA HALL
2nd wife~-1little sald

GEORGE FRIDOLPH HALL b,7/24/08; married 5/30/37
Clarence +7 .
Elsa +5

Maternal glf.b. Neh.,

Maternal gf. born Germany,
parents {rom Geoumany

came to .S, age 5, settled
b. about 1874,  Started Holton, Xansas: Worked hard,
Newsipaper in offeylille, practical, sewed beautifully,
Kansas, thon ran furniture made clothes.
store after losing sight of
one eye in accident. Clever
at writing, drawing, repairng
things. Inventor. Always

nip & tuck financially, but
4 daughters through molleage

LORENA HALL N
Naomi +4 Junior oollege teacher, died cancer
Josephine +2 U.of Kansas, taught science

Dorothy +3

Helen ~2 Writer, free-lancer, = died cancer

Terry Hall-~(George Terrance) b, May 27, 1941, died at age 7 while family was vacationing out West.

From day born seemed like older hrother--miture——could have been conservative. Died of endocardia
inflammation, miy have been caused by nephritis.

Peter Kermit Hall--b. May 17, 1942, died at age 8 of nephritis. Entirely different than brother—
little rascal--moving all the timn. Nad to do everything awm way. Would have been brilliant,
creative person. TFirst grade teacheor always talked about what he did.

(Terry and Peter were like twing, wore samn clothes, etc.)

CAMITIA--b. March 24, 1945, died at age 29 on My 17, 1974, Times vhen stubborn,  Became jealous of
Nan because of all attention Nan ant. Shortly after lst arade, mot like to wear dresses.  Liked
simple things. Somrwhat overweidht, liked people, wanted fricwds, class clown.  Never known to be
depressed,  Independent, strong-willed, wry affectionate, mnsiderate.  Growp very inportant in
high school, so some conflict with parents.  Resenbled Rev. lall, more his temperament, talents.
Interested in everything, creative. oOnly thing change lack of patienoe. Like father--interest

in religion, philosophy. Like mother--cooking, help amtertain,

Nan—b. February 28,1947, died at age 15 on Deormber 15,1962 of nephritis. Liked pretty, frilly things.
Congenital hip defect, had to relearn to walk 7 times, frequent surgery. Family moved back to St.Paul

to be near ital for her. Desperately trying to raise money for her hospital care when she
died. Hospital told parents they had to have money up front.



APPENDIX E



142"




"

ey ol W5 o
s ‘




apa——

s s —

s

e ¢

3% bl T






146

e
ey




APPENDIX F



HES

2

PARTIAL TRANSCRIPT OF INTERVIEW
WITH REV. AND MRS. GEORGE HALL

TAPES -1-3 IN TABLE 1

Reverend George Hall
Mrs. Lorena ilall

Mr. Harvey lonig

Can you tell me something about your parents, Mrs, Hall?

My mother was born in Germany and came to this country at the
age of five., My father was born in Nebraska, but his parents
came from Germany. It was a German custom for parents to leave
their estate to the oldest child. Since both my parents and
grandparents were among the youngest children in their families,
they received no inheritance. They really had nothing; and, so,
they came to this country seeking new opportunities.

Were both families in Nebraska, then?

No, my‘mother's family settled in Kanéas. Then, my father's
family later came to Kansas from Nebraska. . . . My mother's
family farmed in Kansas. Both families had nothing but hardship
after they came to this country, my motherﬂs family especially,
because her father died about six months after they arrived in
America. So, my grandmother was left with five children. Later,
she remarried just for convehience. iIe was not the kindest
person; so, it was not a very happy situation. . . . I know
very little about my father's family. My father died at age 88,
and éy mother was 93 when she died. Neither of them was ever
111 until their final illnesses.

So your mother grew up under rather difficult circumstances?

148



LH:

Yes. My mother was in her early twenties when her mother died.
She wanted to become a nurse; so, she went to California to
studying nursing. She was in San Francisco when the big earth-
quake hit there., She and my father had met before this time.
He missed her while she was in California gnd proposed to her;
so, she came back to be married.

What was their life like?

It was a very good, sound marriage. ﬁy father was very clever
at writing and drawing; and he started his own newspaper in
Missouri. Then, they moved to Kansas. He wanted to start a
newspaper there; but he had lost the sight of an eye in a

childhood accident, and it was starting to effect the other

‘eye. Finally, he had to give up the idea of a newspaper; so,

he started a furniture store. . . . My father was very active
in the Methodist church there; he was the Sunday school super-
intendent. We always told him he should have been a preacher.
He seemed to have a talent for it. Several of his brothers were
teachers and preachers. He was very clever with his hands; he
was very good at making and repairing things. One day someone
asked him to make some awnings for his store, Then, more people
asked him to make awnings for them, since there was no awning
company in the town. Before long, he was in the awning business.
We were never very prosperous, but my father put all four of his
daughters through college. Of course, we all worked part-time
too throughout our college years. That was his big dream--to

put all of us through college--because he hadn't been able to go.
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2

Would you like to tell me about Camilla's development? Were
there any unusual things in her childhood in terms of walking
and talking and what she was like?

I think she developed very normally. She was always a very
happy child in her younger years. A little later she did have
this problem of being somewhat jealous of her younger sister.
She, perhaps, didn't realize that a handicapped child needs
special attention; and it was only natural that she should be
resentful, There were difficult times. She was quite stubborn
and rather hard to deal with at times.

So, pretty early she had a rather strong will of her own?

>Yes, she always had that. I don't really know when this began;

but i did notice that shortly after she started first grade, she
became a little hard to deal with. She didn't want to wear '
dresses. She didn't like fancy things; she always liked things
that were very simple. Her younger sister Nan, I think from the
day she was born, noticed what she wore. Isn't that strange,
that two children are so different. But, they got along very
well; they used to sing together and had fun together. But, they
were different.

So, they were close in a way, but there was also that jealousy?
Yes. We tried. But strangers and friends, people outside the

family, didn't realize what they were doing. They paid so much

‘attention to Nan because of her lameness, and Camilla naturally

felt left out. She resented it. Nan was small; and Camilla was
growing so fast, and she went through an awkward stage. This

was from about first grade on through junior high. In high
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.school, Camilla was still overweight; but she was not obese or

anything like that, Every now and then, she would think about
dieting; although, she was not one to worry too much about her
weight or looks. 1It's just that shelliked people and she
wanted friends so much. She always had a good time. I've
never known her to be depressed. I'm sure she had days when
she didn't feel one hundred percent, but she never let it show
and she was never crying on someone's shoulder, It came out

in other ways sometimes, of course.

In what ways would it come out?

Well, like I mentioned, in this obstinance. Wanting to go her
own way, her strong will. She used to resent having to go to
church, though we never forced her. But it was expeeted of her
to be confirmed and to go to cert;in things. We never had te
force her. She went, but we always knew there was a little bit
of resentment there. She said once; "I want to be good,
because I want to be good, not because I have to." She had
great faith in herself, I think; and she didn't think she
needed anyone prodding her. So, we tried to give her a free
rein; because we felt that was the way it had to be because
that's the kind of person she was.

She was also pretty independent?

Very independent and strong willed, but very affectionate.

She was very considerate of us. All during her college years,
she wrote so many enthusiastic, warm letters that we will always
treasure. She wrote home much more than I ever wrote to my

family when I was in college.
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Some of the letters to you, particularly, seem to be very
warm, very loving.

Well, they were usually to both of us.

Right, but on the occasions of your birthday and so forth.
Yes. Yes, she remembered our birthdays and anniversaries.
When she was in high school, she was considerate of her
friends. At first she went through all the problems that
teenagers have, wanting to grow up and be her own person, to
be independent, and yet still having one foot in childhood.
So, she had the usual problems, of course. Her group meant so
much to her; she wanted many friends. She was never a loner.
And she worked hard to get friends and to keep them. She was
not a sglfish person; she gave of herself. It wasn't until
her senior year that she noticed people outside her own group.
One day she said, “"You know, there are a lot of interesting
kids at Washburn in my class; and I just haven't seen them
before, I've been so interested in my own little: group." So,

I think that was a step in her development. And ever since

then, I think she looked at people differently; she made friends

with all kinds of people.

Did she always have several friends, or was there one or two
people she was particularly close to?

Yes. She had one, two or sometimes three that she was very

close with; but she also crossed lines and made friends with
others she met in her many activities...

How did she react to the fact that you had to move around a

lot, that she had to lose friends and change schools?
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LH: I don't know; I don't think it was a traumatic experience
for her, but it was an adjustment like it is for anyone.
I think it was a little harder for Nan, her younger sister,
who was not quite as outgoing or as able to make friends as
Camilla.

So from an early age, Camilla was fairly outgoing?

B

LH: Yes, she always was. In her earlier years when she was so
very awkward, she was almost like a stray puppy; she was try-
ing so hard to make friends that I think she turned a lot of
people off, because she was so anxious to make friends... But
later on, she grew more subtle about it...

HH: Was she ever sick during childhood?

LH: No, she never was sick for any length of time,

HH: How did she react to going to school the first time?

LH: Well, I think she enjoyed school because it was a social
experience. The only difficulty I remember is that she
wouldn't wear a dress; and in those days, little girls wore
dresses when they started school. It was just such a hassle
every morning, that I finally gave up. I decided that if she
could get awéy with it at school, then I'd just let her do it.

: Did she want to be like her brothers?

: Well, I don't think she remembered them that well...

Was she closer to your husband or to you?

E 358

I don't think she was any closer to one than the other; I think
it was about equal. She always resembled him somewhat; and,
I think, she had not completely his temperment but some gifts

she inherited from her father., She was always interested in
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everything; she was creative.

You were also an artist, is that right?

Yes, that was my major in school; and I did some teaching...

I don't think Camilla realized she had that talent when she
was growing up. She was musical; she liked to sing. We gave
her piano lessons, but she didn't like to practice. But later
on she took up guitar on her own, you know. Of course, no one
was telling her to practice then; she could just do it or not
do it. And she learned quite a bit. She bought herself an
instruction book and did quite well on her own. But she
wasn't satisfied with that; out in Berkeley she took classical
guitar. She was always improving herself. She was not a
drifter or a dreamer., She was always doing something, going
to classes, learning; although, she was not what you would
call a studious person. She wanted to learn about life.

Did you encourage her in art?

Yes. Well, she had gone to Berkeley I think by the time her
art télent and interest were surfacing. But I remember once
in high school she had a notebook she wanted to put a little
picture on before she turned it in. She gave it to me and
asked me to draw the picture for her. I had never really seen
her draw before, but I felt that anyone could draw a stick
figure or ca:toon if they had any imagination at all. So, I
told her it would be better if she drew it, She wouldn't do
it; and she worked on me so hard, I finally did it for her.
That seems so funny now, because after shebgot out to Berkeley

she started drawing and she put so much energy into it. She
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finally got to the point where she couldn't turn out that

many originals. These were all original drawings, you know,
each one. And so, she went to one of the colleges out there
and took a printmaking course so she could turn out a few
more. And she was beginning to sell her drawings.

In what ways was she like you?

I don't know; I never felt that she was like me. I think my
temperment is quite different from hers. She was always able
to organize her day, to make plans and carry them through; and
I was never as good at that as she was. I always admired that

in her, Camilla knew what she wanted, and she planned and

worked hard until she got it... I have never felt she especially

favored either one of us. She may have been a combination of

us plus others in the family.

~ Was there ever a period where she was particularly close to

one of you as opposed to the other one?

No, I don't recall such a time. She never leaned on people.
She never came running, crying for Mommy or Daddy. I don't
mean that she suffered in silence entirely, because that just
builds up frustration sometimes, but it just wasn't her nature
to do that. Other people often came to her. She was affec-~
tionate, though, and showed it. Everytime she came home to
visit, it was just such a lift for us; we felt so enthusiastic
and happy to see her.

Is there anythiﬁg you would have changed about her if you
could have?

You mean about the way we worked with her?
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No, about her personality, just the kind of person she was.
Well, we had those difficult first years; but my husband and

I both understood them so well. That doesn't mean we reacted
in the right ways all the time, because sometimes it's not
easy. But we did know what was going on; and we tried, we
tried not to favor Nan, but it was hard. It was awfully hard,
because Nan needed physical help. She was in and out of
hospitals and casts and needed to be carried around... It was
a joy to me to watch Camilla develop; because you could just
see the steps that she took, and she was so much interested in
everything. I remember when she took a class on Shakespeare
in high school. Iler eyes were opened in a tremendous way when
she took that class; she was so enthusiastic about everything
in Shakespeare; it was a whole new world for her... I don't
remember that much about her instructor in Shakespeare; I just
felt he must be a terrific teacher, because Camilla was so
enthusiastic about the class... She didn't have much patience

with arrogance, and she could bring a person down. We never

knew about her instructor's unfavorable qualities or about their

conflict; she didn't tell us about that incident.

It sounds as though there were a lot of talents and abilities
that Camilla had that she never really talked about at home.
It wasn't that. It's just that I don't think she realized
that she had them especially. She was always reaching out,
because she was interested in so many things. For awhile we
were worried, because it all seemed to be social. This group

she was in, they liked to go so much., Most of them were very
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good students; they got A's and B's and still went out a
lot. I don't know how they did it. Washburn was a good
school, with very high standards. But, we worried about
that for awhile, that Camilla was too much concerned with
being sociable and going all the time... Once she wanted to
go out, she was invited somewhere; but we said no because
she had been out once or twice already that week. We were
very firm about it, and she seemed terribly disappointed.
But later she told us that she was glad we had said no.

And the psychologists are telling us now that we should say
no more often to our children. That although they may not
realize it at the time, very often they are relieved and
grateful when we say no,..

Did Camilla take art classes in high school?

No, she was never for the academic kind of art. But, I
think maybe it was best that she didn't take art; because
the classes are usually too structured. She had this
originality that developed on its own... I never felt that
it was too bad that she never studied art; because I felt
that for what she was doing, she had all the equipment she
needed. She had a natural sense of design...

She also sounded like a student who didn't do that much
fotmally, in an academic sense, but when she was interested
in something could learn it very rapidly and seemed to learn
a great deal.

Right, she never worked for grades. She didn't take the

courses she knew she could get a good grade in; she took
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whatever she was interested in. If it really caught her
interest, she would work very hard for it. The required
subjects, those she had to take, I don't think she always
did so well in those. She concentrated on what she
enjoyed.

When did you go back to work?

I went back to work a little more than seven years ago.

My mother was living with us in her later years; and when
she passed away at the age of 93, I had been housebound
for quite awhile and felt I just wanted to get out and try
something different. But I was 58 then, and I didn't know

what I could do... Camilla had been a social caseworker in

Duluth and Minneapolis; and she suggested that I try to get
into the welfare department. She said, "You've got a college

degree and you could pass the civil service examination; and

that's all there is to it. There are a lot of older women

in that job who started late. They don't always catch on so

fast; but once they're in, they're reliable and sometimes

better than the younger women who move on to other things."

And so, I thought I would give it a try... I began working

with Cuban refugees, because I could speak Spanish; and I

have spent most of the seven years with them. Then about a

year ago, when the number of Cuban refugees dropped off, I
began working with the Vietnamese refugees. It was my job

to interview them, but we didn't have an interpreter. My

supervisor and I spent the first six months trying to learn

the language so that we could understand them... We were
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involved with relocating these families in homes and jobs.
I took their applications and interviewed them, but I
didn't have to go on home visits... I enjoy the contact
with the people, and I really love my job, I told myself
in the beginning that I was going to work two years
whether it killed me or not just to prove I could do it.
But after two years was up, I loved my job and didn't want
to quit...

Did you ever talk with Camilla about the experiences she
had and the ones you were having on the job?

Oh, yes. She was working with unwed mothers and placing
children. And I think the reason she gave up her work

was because it just got her down. She suffered with them
so much.

She got so involved with them?

Yes. It got so that she was having pains in her stomach.
I don't know whether it was an ulcer or not, but she
thought maybe it was from her work. And once she got out
to California, the stomach pains stopped. So, it was some
kind of tension... Part of her frustration may have been
Duluth, not just the job itself. Duluth is such a hard
climate, and she liked Minneapolis and looked forward to
the day when she could go back there. Sb, maybe she just
didn't give Duluth a fair trial... I think there were some
rules that bothered her too. For example, you can't touch
the client, you know. Well, you don't go around touching

clients very much; but there are times when you should...



She differed with one of the supervisor about a number

of things, I think; and her work was more taxing than

mine, I don't get that involved with my people... I

spend several weeks working with the, but then the field
worker takes over. I don't keep on with their problems,
because then the next week it's someone else. So, I don't
think it's as wearing on a person as being a field worker.
Have you ever gotten frustrated with the system or with

the people who come in?

Well, yes. But I think perhaps a field worker in the
ghetto area sees so much of the same things and sees the
same person making the same mistakes over and over again,
that it must be very hard to take. I see some of that, but
it is somewhat diluted; because I have all kinds of people.
People come to us because they have been laid off or for
health reasons. It's not just the "losers" as you might
call them, those who can‘t hold a job or are completely
unmotivated. Some caseworkers seem to have nothing but
cases like that, and that must be very hard.

Did Camilla ever feel like you were helping to maintain a
bad system? Did you ever talk about it?r

Well, yes. We knew that there was a bad side to the system.
It's not the answer at all. It may have contributed to her
social feelings about the country. It may have; I don't
know. But I really think she gct most of that when she got
to Berkeley. She was very outspoken about the government

during her college years; but those were the sixties, and
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the kids were going through that. And she was right in
there with them; she went to rallies and so on. But I
thought that she was growing out of that. I'm not putting
down that idea, because I think we have to have these
protests; but sometimes a person matures, and they realize
that there have to be other solutions. You know, that you
have to get at these things in a little different way. And
that's the point that I thought she had come to. But then,
she joined the women's lib; and she just put her whole heart
into everything she did. Then when she had others who were
militant around her, they encouraged each other. I always
felt that one thing that must have cgntributed to her very
strong feelings and that led to her being a part of the SLA
was probably the contact that Pat (Mizmoon) had with some 4
people who were in prison. She and some of her friends
visited these people in prison and knew them quite well.

I don't know that Camilla ever did, but she was close enough
to some of the others to know some of the awful things that
went on. And I really think that had a lot to do with it.
When we read that poetry that they sent, I felt that it was
not Camilla's poetry; because it was the poetry of someone
who was intensely involved with the people in prison, and I
didn't think that was true of Camilla,

No, I think Mizmoon and some of the others were from what I

have read. And I think when you visit people in prison and
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see these things, I'm sure it makes quite a difference

in the way you see everything...

Was there anything in particular about Duluth that bothered
her, such as the great dichotomy between the rich and the
poor?

I don't remember that she ever spoke about that; but that
goes on everywhere, That idea bothered her a great deal, of
course; I know that she used to be very much disillusioned
with the government that such things existed everywhere.

And of course, in Berkeley everyone just turned the spotlight
on those injustices. They made so much of them, and I think
she was hearing a great deal about it. After Camilla
returned from visiting other countries in Europe, she drove
out to the southwest and wrote back about all the beautiful
scenes. She hadn't realized that there was so much beauty
between Minneapolis and Berkeley until then; and I felt that
perhaps she could finally appreciate some of the good things
about this country. 1It's hard for us to believe that she
could be a part of this. I could understand how she could
feel about a lot of things; I feel strongly about a lot of
things myself, because I'm close enough to some of the
bureaucracy to know what goes on. But I don't understand
how she could actually act it out. From what I know of
Camilla, I should think she could have thought of better ways
to bring about solutions.

Did you feel that at times there was a constantly negative

theme that ran through everything with Camiila?



Yes, for a long time. During the last election, when
Nixon won by such a landslide, I know she was very much
worked up over that and very much disappointed. She
attended some of the rallies; one of them was for Wallace
in Minneapolis. She said that she didn't want to vote
for Wallace, but that she wanted to see what they had to
fight. She wanted to get a good look at Wallace so they
would know what they had to contend with. And she said
that she thought Wallace brought along his own agitators
that started trouble in the crowds. She and her friends
were on the edge of the crowd, and I guess it got pretty
wild.

I'm perplexed too because from what I've seen so far of
her letters, I couldn't pick up the anger and the hatred
that is usually there somewhat underneath the surface and
along with the positive motivation.

Well, we have destroyed some of her letters, because for

a while the FBI was coming around awfully close. We didn't
know what they might do. We didn't know whether they would

demand to see her letters or whether they would come in
unannounced while we weren't here. We just didn't know

what they would be able to do. And we were frightened,

because she did speak out a great deal. We could understand

many of the things she said, because we felt rather strong

about some of these things ourselves.

Well, it helps to know thai fact; because it was almost like

there was something missing between the last letter and

where she'd been before. So you could see more of that
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change in her letters?

Yes. I wish now I hadn't destroyed them, but I was
worried.

When did you notice that change taking place?

Do you mean that she was becoming more radical?

Yes.

Well, you know we only saw her once or twice a year. She
had been to visit us at Christmas time, the Christmas
before the tragedy. And we just felt there was something
different about her. She seemed older; she didn't quite
have her sparkle. Oh, we had fun and laughed and all that;

but there was something, an undercurrent there. We couldn't

figure it out. It bothered us a little; but we just
couldn’'t bring ourselves to open it up, you know... We
thought it was just something she had to work out. And at
that point, I don't think anything we could have said would
have made any difference. Apparently, plans were already
under way for going underground. She didn't discuss them
with us, and we didn't ask any questions.

But the last letter that was sent to you, the one that was
found on her body, she really talked about how she felt.
Had she talked about any of that eaflier? Had there been
anything like that in any of her previousiletters?

No, except that she had told us that she was going to move
to Palo Alto. We didn't quite understand that, what she
was going to do there and why she didn't know where she

was going to live. We just couldn't bring ourselves to
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press it though., There are certain levels on which you
can't communicate sometimes even though you're the best

of friends in other ways. And we just had a feeling like
that. So often my husband says, "Oh, if I had only just
asked her what's going on, what's wrong; let's talk about
it." But we didn't. I don't know that it would have done
any good.

So you could pick up that there might be something wrong,
but there was not that much directly in the letters you
destroyed that really talked about this?

No, they didn't spell out anything at all. I don't under-
stand why Mizmoon dropped all correspondence with her family.
From what I read, she wrote and told her family to destroy
anything that was hers. Camilla didn't write and ask us to
destroy her things, but she did send us a box of her papers.
Sherhad kept very good account of all the pictures she sold,
all her expenses and that. And she had paid off all her
bills before she went underground. She took care of every-
thing very well, I think. Of course, we didn't know what
she had sent us in the box until later. She sent us photo-
graphs of most of her drawings, snapshots of some of her
friends, an& some of her artwork. We couldn't quite under-
stand this either. We wondered that if she were moving to
another place, why couldn't she keep her things. She just
wrote one day that she was sending us a box that she wanted
us to keep for her. She said we could even look through it,

which we did because we got a little frightened when the FBI



was so close to us. And we wanted to know what was in

the box...

So all of this time, there was no appearance of anything
abnormal or no hint that her life was any different?

The appearance of abnormality was that she called up and
said that she was going to move. And she had put in so
much work into this little house, putting in a garden.

And she had given us a drawing of the garden and everything.
Then, she was applying for this work as a gardener. So
when she said she was going to live with some girls, well
that didn't sound too strange. But what did sound strange
was that she wanted us to take her cat... We had no idea
ahead of time what was going on. When the robbery took
place, I received a call from a Swedish journalist in
California who had been reading the reports and was going
to send the story on. He had a report from Minneapolis

that my wife was dead, that I was a widower. I told him
that wasn't true. Then he asked me if Camilla wore glasses.
I said that she did. So, he said that the girl who was in
this picture didn't wear glasses. I said that it would be
impossible for her to function without glasses; because she
had tried contact lenses, and they hadn't worked. You

know, she couldn't see five feet ahead of herself without
glasses. On that basis, we were pretty convinced that she
wasn't the one. And then when the shootout took place, there

was talk about her being there. But when the body wasn't
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found at first, we really felt that this cleared it all

up. Some people at church were congratulating us that
morning; we were all so happy. We thought that now with
the shootout taking place, she couldn't have anything to
fear, and she could let us know whére she was. We didn't
know whether she was hiding out because of the SLA or
hiding out because of knowing something about the SLA. The
FBI was after her, and she probably didn't want to betray
her friends...

It was suggested by one of Camilla's friends that she was
ill. Do you know anything about that?

She was ill. In fact, she was taking treatment before she
came home at Christmas... She went to a doctor at first and
then turned to herbal treatment. She was drinking garlic
water. Now it may have been, and this is something for a
psychologist to ponder, that she thought she was under the
same sentence of death as her brothers and sister.

Yes, I'm sure that that certainly played a part in her life;

bdt I'm not sure how.
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INTERVIEW WITH SUPERVISOR AND CO-WORKER
AT THE HENNEPIN COUNTY WELFARE DEPARTMENT

TAPE 4 IN TABLE 1

Alan Carlson, Supervisor

Jean Bigzelow, Co-Worker

Harvey Honig

You knew Camilla in what relationship?

Well, at the time that Camilla worked in our agency, we

had a separate section called the unmarried mothers section.
There were four units in the department, and I was one of
the unit supervisors. She was not in my particular unit,

but she was in a unit near mine. Occasionally she came

to me for supervision when her own supervisor was not in

the office. So, I got to know her sort of indirectly that
way. I did get to know Camilla quite w=2ll... We called her
Candy in the office. To my knowledge she was a happy person.
I never once saw her depressed or disgruntled or cantankerous
or in an ugly mood; she was always nleasant and smiling.

She seemed to have good rapport with the other social

workers... There seemed to be a comradery in her relation-

ship with other staff members. She was intelligent. She

was interesting. She was talented. She was just the sort
of person who seemed to relate pretty well with other people.
I learned after her death in California that she was a
homosexual .

Do you have any knowledge whether she was here?

No. It never affected her work. I never heard any adverse

comments about that.
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One of the things I'm trying to find out in terms of my
own research is whether this was a development that took
place later in her life. I know that she got involved in
the gay rights movement at the University of Minnesota; but
her high school classmates fegl that she was very much
heterosexually oriented and that this came out later.

I think it did come out later. In fact I think she was
probably looking for her sexual identity, maybe even while
she was here. I did hear that she had dated black men; so,
I think she was trying to relate heterosexually. When I
say that she wasn't attractive, I say that with some hesi-
tancy; because once you got to know her, she was attractive
in terms of a total person... One of the things that maybe
detracted from her physical appearance was her clothing.
She always wore kind of loose-fitting, baggy clothes...
Candy wanted to be comfortable, without pretense; so,
because it was comfortable, she'd wear it. She was always
clean; her hair was cut and stylish... But she would
probably have been considered attractive to about ten per-
cent of the available men.

There was almost some feeling of her reducing her sexual
attractiveness by the way she dressed?

Possibly. But maybe not even consciously. Maybe it was
subconscious... But, again, she had a good personality...
She also did a lot of poetry writing; she showed me some A
of her poentis, I'm not a judge of poetry; but it met my
needs in terms of poetry. I thought it was good. And I

saw some of her artwork and talked to her about her going

169



AC:

AC:

to California and what she was going to do there. She
said she hoped to sell some of her artwork. Like her
poetry, I thought her artwork was good...

Did you notice any indications that her experience of
herself was in some ways masculine?

No, not at all...

On a vocational interest test I saw, her interests were
much more in the traditional masculine fields. She sort
of rejected the feminine vocations...

Social work tends to be a feminine profession. And, of
course, art and writing poetry are kind of feminine... T
think having a cat around even tends to be feminine...

I never would have expected Candy to be homosexual; but
maybe her immediate supervisor would have thought differ-

ently about that... Her supervisor, Delores Peck, happens

.

to be a very conservative person...'She was glad I did the

interviews on television, because she felt she couldn't
have been quite as positive about Candy as I was. But I

don't think that relates to any of this. I think that

relates to Candy's maverickness. She was a nice person, a

very sweet person--Mrs. Peck-~but I also think that anyone

who gave her any kind of a hard time in terms of questioning

policy, would upset her,

I noticed that in the performance reviews, Initially, she

was very positive about Candy. Later she said that Candy

had difficulty accepting department policy.
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I can bélieve that Delores would say that. I look for

that in social workers... I want the social workers to
question long-standing policies.

In my experience there are two typés of people who are
questioning or sort of rebelling. Oné is very much wanting
to change it; they'll raise a lot of waves, but it's really
because they are positively motivated. The others are sort
of expressing hostility.

You're absolutely right, and I would say Candy is the
former. It wasn't just because she wanted to be nasty or
mean or because she had unmet needs herself or had hostility
in her soul, Not at all with Candy; she was not that kind
of person. If she questioned, it was because she felt that.
policy needed changing. And it ‘probably did to tell you the
truth. That's my impression of her. If she was critical,
it was for positive reasons not négative reasons.,

What was your personal reaction when you found out she was
involved in the SLA?

I was totally surprised. I really didn't expect it at all.
I was upset when she was destroyed--that's the way I look
upon it--T think that was tragic... Another thing I would
say relative to her is that I'm sure she believed in what
she did out there; but at the same time, it kind of bothers
me that maybe she got "hooked" on the thing. And if T know
Candy, I'm sure she had second.thoughts and was trying to
figure a way out of this thing and yet save face. Because

she was an intelligent person, and she must have realized
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that this was a "dead-end street." I don't know if this
was because of her emotional tie to this woman that

caused her to stay in this thing; but I'd be willing to
bet that if I could have gotten to her before the police,
she'd say: "I'm in this thing, and I don't know how the
hell to get out of it. I know this is going to end up
tragic, but I don't know what to do about it.” I'd be
willing to bet on that, because she was not a sap. She
had her head screwed on okay, I think.

She was aware of what the consequences would be?

Sure. She was too. bright not to figure out how this thing
was going to end up... I can see how she could have gotten
into it, but I bet her "wheels were spinning" on how to get
out of it gracefully. It obviously would have been very

difficult to do...

How would you have described Candy when she was working
here?

She was a funny combination of things. She was very witty;
she was fun to be with; and she was very svmpathetic and
helpful. If you needed a favor or needed to talk, she was
really very compassionate. And yet she also had very
strong, kind of passionate, ideas...

What kind of social concerns was she involved with here?
Well, this was unmarried mothers. At the time that I knew
her, she was very turned off by her inability, or all of us-

in social work, to actually help people. I think she thought
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that generally; she was not limiting that to unmarried
mothers. She was turned off on social work as a means

of really helping people change and really being of

service to them.

Do you think that developed while she was working here,
that feeling that it was pretfy hopeless, pretty fruitless?
I think that it was sort of an underlying theme with her,
the need to be in a helpful position. In fact, I think she
entered social work with a lot of enthusiasm, almost too
much idealistic enthusiasm... She was really pretty disil-
lusioned by it. I think she was "riding" on her funny
cynicism for awhile,..

She was client-oriented, I'm sure. Definitely.

Of course, I think a lot of us go through that. You have
to make your own decision what helping people is, and 1
don't think she ever got through that. She wanted to get
completely away from it; and then, of course, she did have
her art skills. It was prett§ natural that she go to
California, I guess.

Did she seem to you to be angry about the fact that people
weren't being helped?

She never came off as an angry person. She would be intense
about a case and frustrated sometimes in trying to help
someone... She also had supervisory problems. Her supervisor
had more of a traditional approach to the problems of her
clients, and she felt Alan was much more flexible to work

for and in his approach to the situation. She wanted to be
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transferred to his unit... I giess I thought that it was
more bitterness at disillusionment rather than anger.

And she felt frustration in her weakness... She didn't
present this trip to California in terms of an answer to
everything; it was more like, "It isn't here, and I'm
seeking it."

Up until Camilla's last day, Delores had been basically
positive with some criticism about the fact that she was
too impatient. But the day she left, she put a note in
her file that Camilla was supposed to come back in to
talk with her but didn't. Do you know why that was or
what her feelings were about leaving?

I don't know what ber feelings about her supervisor were
at this time; but she wight have felt that it was another
meaningless gesture... I don't think it would be like her
to not come to an appointment if .she felt it was valuable
to her or to the person...

She seemed also like the kind of person who was very

direct at times and who could also be confronting at times

with people or at least very frank.

Yes. ’

I never saw that part of her; what I know of that is just
what I heard. .

Camilla gave me a poem that she had written about a boy-
friend of hers. I can send that to you if you wish.

I would like that. because one of the things I'm curious

about personally is at what point in her life and why she
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changed from a heterosexual orientation and whether her
orientation was really basically bi-sexual. Sometimes it
feels like she became completely involved in the women's
movement and very identified with that, and part of that
led to the sexual expression.

Yes.

The poem would also indicate that at that time she was
very much involved with men.

Yes. Neither one seems strange to me. I can see that
sympathetically and empathetically she might begin to
identify with women...

What' was your personal reaction when you found out she
was part of the group out there?

Well, I think it gave me a lot of insight that I might not
have had. I wasn't really too surprised. I mean, I was
in terms of the violence; becausé she was non-violent.
But yet she had that streak of logical dedication, which
I could see simply as an extension of her feelings. And
logically if you couldn't make people change, then maybe
this would be an approach. And the communal thing seemed
very much like Candy; I could see that. I have my own
feelings about the incident. I think it was despicable,
the way it was handled.

The final incident?

Oh, yes. I was surprised at the shooting of that principal,

the bank robbery and the fact that she had a gun; and I was
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not surprised that Patty would become very influenced by
Camilla. Her philosophies would really suit this person.
She wasn't overly pragmatic, but she was in her applica-
tion of her philosophies,

The interviews with the Harrises that I've read, indicate
that at that time she was reélly pretty comfortable with

a gun and with using it and really knew how to use it.

Does that surprise you?

Well, that's a little hard to accept; but I can believe it.
Some of the people I've talked to about this really

thought that Candy must have "flipped out." But I don't
think I ever really thought that; I thought it was a
logical way for her to go. Not that I would have predicted
something like that; but as long as she had gone that way,
she did so for reasons which also made her empathetic,
sympathetic and underdog oriented.

Do you think she got into the SLA because of her own ideals
or because of getting involved with people. In other words,
I can see where she would have either gotten involved with
the SLA because she really believed it and wanted to dedicate
herself to the cause; or she was very close to Pat Soltysik,.
who was very involved in this, and part of her closeness
and her identity with people and her really wanting to
belong to that group would have led her to really commit
herself.

I can see that happening, but I would say that it would

have to be because she "bought" it intellectually and



emotionally also... Which came first, I don't know.

One of the things you're saying is that she was a
person of complete integrity and...

Well, I'm sure that her complete dedication would be
greatly influenced by her ties to the person; but also,
if she had not had such an influential tie with that
person, she might not have become so involved. She
wasn't just an intellectual being.

Do you feel like your evaluation of her has changed in
any way by the fact that she was killed?

I was remembering back to the time when we talked about
it. Some people thought she had "flipped out,” but I
didn't feel that that was really true. My awareness of
it is that I could understand her going that way. Also,
our understanding of the SLA was largely presented in the
news media by the FBI, who emphasized the violence...
When I talk to people about Candy, theyv're almost univer-
s#lly very positive about her, and I wonder if they are
eliminating the negative parts because of her death.

The halo effect?

Right.

I think I would describe Candy the same way.

So do/I. I know I was surprised that she was involved
with the violence. She was a pacifist, and to go this

route is a little bit out of character.
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Well, except maybe as a logical extension. If you

find that you cannot change the system, you cannot

help people without taking methods like this, you have
to set your priorities about what is more important to
you. To be a pacifist would be secondary to the need
to help people... I wish I knew more about her family.
I know that her sister and brothers had all died young,
and she had a self-esteem problem with regard to that.
i don't know too much about that, though. I guess I
think of her as being tremendously self-demanding, very
hard on herself, crushingly so. And so, needing to be
carried along in part of a bigger philosophical movement

would explain and justify her actioms...
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When did you meet Camilla?

I met her in 1968, I was working for the Hennepin Couﬁty
Welfare Department. I was there about a year and then
she started. What kind of things do you want to know?

I want to know how you saw her when she was there, how
you saw her when she was here, and what kind of changes
you saw taking place if any.

Okay. When I first knew her she was really into the
anti-war movement. It was interesting, because I had no
opinion about it at all; and she really told me why I had
to be against this terrible thiné. And she was right,
She really turned me on to a lot of things. It was inter-
esting; because she was really a very feeling, thinking,
seeking person. And she was very, very tender hearted.
It's weird how she changed. She was very honest, very
deep-down honest, a really good person. Everybody who
met her liked her. Everyone liked her.

And she was a person who formed her own:opinions, and she
didn't take opinions from anyone else?

No. She had it allitogether; she had it all figured out.
You could talk to her, she wasn't unreasonable; but she
would probably have her opinions set about it. Camilla

turned me on to cats, especially Siamese; and she turned
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me on to the outdoors, to nature. She really did a lot

of nice things for me. I asked her one time why she did
that; she said she just knew I had the potential. I
thought that was really a nice compliment. So, that was
her when I knew her back there.

Did you see her as having anlunderlying anger or was she
just very determined? How would you describe her?

She was pretty determined. She really knew her own mind.
It waspretty hard to change her mind... I could see Camilla
changing, and the politics was only part of the change. It
wasn't the whole thing at all. Underneath all that happiness
was a lot of anger. Her parents visited out here once, and
she was in competition with her father. Well, not really
competition. Camilla was a lot like him. He was a very
"upper”" type person, happy, jolly, with lots of nice stories
to tell... Camilla would get extremely angry when he would
treat her like a child, like his little girl. That was
part of the anger. She was élso really angry with the
Judaic-Christian church.

Why?

That's another thing she really changed me on; her opinions
on that were very true. I worked for a Catholic adoption
agency... It's frightening. And I think she felt pretty
much that same way. I think her father helped turn her
against it, because he was a minister. The political part
of it, the Vietnam war and all that, is only part of the
whole thing. It's a minor part, too. It just followed in

the path of everything else.
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The anger that you saw in relation to her father is
interesting; because I've tried to see where her anger

was coming from, and other peoplg didn't see it.

Oh, but Camilla and I knew each other really well. We
were really close friends for about a year and a half,

and we would have some very deep talks. We would just

sit around and talk to each other; we would get into

each other's head. So, I know that that's where it

came from, where the anger came from. I've thought a

lot about it, you know. I sat and watched her get killed
on TV and thought about why she did that. And before the
house was burned to the ground, I knew that all those guys
had committed suicide. They had tried their best and
nothing worked; so, they committed suicide, right on TV...
I think Camilla had tried her best, and nothing worked;
she just couldn't change the world... The FBI visited us
one day; they just showed up here. I was at work; but
Dick was here, and he talked to them. That was just after
Patty Hearst was stolen. Before that, about six months
before that, people kept tracing her here because she had
lived here. It seems she wasn't paying the taxes; this
was another thing that really angered her. She hadn't
been paying the tax on the telephone bill that went for
the Vietnam War, something likevone percent'I think. And

80, the government got so angry that they sent the

Treasury Department out to her bank, and they took out

that 825 that she owed on whatever that tax was. And then
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they charged Camilla $25 for doing this. They said that
she could either pay the charge or leave the bank. And

she was outraged! She was so angry. and so, I think

that helped to tip something in there. I think that

really screwed her up that the government could have

such ultimate power over her, that they could touch her
personally like that.

I suppose she wouldn't have been too reluctant then to

see the bank as one of the targets.

I suppose not, yes. I can see that; she was a little
outraged with it...

Now, the way you're describing her is in some ways
different than the people described her back in Minneapolis.
Yes. She changed. But, you see, I knew her in a cifferent
way than they did anyway. '

So,; was that anger always there?

Sure, but nobody knew about it back there. She hid it too
well. You know a funny thing happens when you move to

Los Angeles; it happens to everybody. They become more of
whoever they are... That happened to Camilla; she just sort
of mellowed out and got angry and went to extremes. And
she became an artist. We have one of her-drawings, too.
It's really a nice significant one; it's this big blue
monster chasing this poor little girl... So she became an
artist. She used to do really cute things, really funny,
punning things; and then they got a little bit angrier,
about police authority and authority in general. Then she

moved to Berkeley; but she would come down here for street
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art shows, and I would go visit her. But we had had a
real break in our friendship... That was about six
months after she had moved up there and by then this
lesbian element came in. It was very evident; and it
became stronger and stronger until she quit doing the
artwork... '

Were you surprised by this lesbian element?

Yes, because that had never come into our relationship
at all... There was never any overture to me. I had no
idea.

From talking with another friend of hers, I don't think
she was homosexual until later. It seemed like this was
part of her reaction against the past when she came out

here.

Oh, poor Camilla, the boys didn't like her. They liked
h?r as a buddy,; but she had no sex appeal. She was fat.
Why do you think she got herself taken advantage of so
many times? _

She did. I don't know; I think she liked to see the
goodness in people.

There were so many ways in which she was really a very
aware person in terms of what was happening.

Yes, but she was also a very needful person, too. She

never would be romantically involved; she might be buddies

with someone; but I think that really bothered her tod.

It bothered her that men would never be attracted to her?

Yes. Yes. But then, you know, there's reasons for people

being fat too. To hide.
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What do you think she was hiding?

What was Camilla hiding. I don't know. I think maybe

she was afraid to get involved; but I don't know if

that's true or not. I don't know.

Was she hiding her anger?

Maybe she didn't like men because her father made her

so angry. I don't know.

That relationship is very interesting to me; because it
seems that in some ways she liked and admired and identified
with him, and in other ways she was really angry with him.
Oh, absolutely. There was a real love-hate thing going on
there. Is her mother still living? Is she still doing
social work?

Yes. .

She liked her mother; but she séw her mother as kind of
weak. Her father was the strong one. So, maybe she just
liked her freedom; maybe she was fearful of losing that.
Hﬁen she would get angry with her father, when they would
clash, what kind of things would that be about?

I don't know; but it would end up: "You're treating me
like a little girl. I'm a grown up. I'm intelligent."
Whatever the argument started out on, it would end up like
that. It was a real bad, unhappy thing going on there.

I don't think Professor Hall was aware of it at all, 'cause
he wouldn't want that to go ‘on.

Did you agree that he was treating her like a little girl?
Or was she over-reacting?

Not from what I saw. In a way, because she was his daughter.
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And in another way he was treating her as a grown up.
He was talking on an equal level with me, and it seemed

like he was talking on an equal level with her, But

" maybe she didn't see it that way.

When did she stop using the name Candy?

That was interesting. It must have been when she moved
out here. She said, "I'm no longer Candy. I want my name
Camilla. Don't call me Candy any more." And we'd keep
calling her Candy, and she'd get really angry with us.

So, it finally became Camilla. There was no Candy. It

- was Jjust Camilla.

And that symbolized the change or seemed to fit with the
change? .

1 think she had done a lot of thinking before she came
out here about what she was going to do when she got here.
In fact, I know she did. She had it all planned-out,
because Camilla would plan these things out down to the
letter,.. She always planned everything out very well.
She knew that she would come out here and try to be an
artist, She said she had some ideas that she wanted to
put in front of the people. She even knew what kind of
artwork she would be doing...

So then, you can't see her getting into the SLA without

knowing the consequences very well?

Oh, she wasn't a victim of circumstances at all. The quotes

that came from the SLA sounded so much like her thinking.
They sounded like ways that we had talked, not subjects,
but thinking, mental things. So, I think she knew exactly
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what she was getting into. She just went the limit; she
just couldn't hack it. She stayed in 1969, with that
whole set of ideas. Do you remember 19692 There were
lots of things happening, lots of riots and things?

Yes, I remember being pretty angry myself.

I was at an age where we didn't care about politics,
Camilla was just that much younger; so, she cared a lot.
And I couldn't understand it. I can now, of course.
But, there was that age split there. People of her age
think a certain way, and people of my age think another
way.

And it seemed to take place just about that time. It
was, between 1963 and 1965 that high school kids started
to become really aware,

That's when the whole revolution started taking place...
And it reached it's peak in 1969... The feeling of the
time was really split: some people were really angrv,
and the rest of them didn't care.

You know, you're the first one who has mentioned this
anger.

Oh, I'm not surprised.

I've been pursuing it, because I was sure it was there.

Yes. Why wouldn't it be there. How could it not be there.

What is the other motivating factor?
It's interesting, because even the MMPI she took when she
started at the university showed a kind of bland profile.

She may have been covering up her anger back then.
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It was really submerged then maybe.

But when she talked with you then in terms when you
really got into it, she was pretty honest about the
anger, the rage she felt toward the system and what they
were doing?

Yes, she was pretty blatant. And I ha& no opinion at
all, she woke me up to a lot of things., 4nd I can see
that what she said was true, and it wasn't just political
things. She had a good hold on the world as it was; so,
that I think she was "right on" as far as her political
concerns were, too. Later on, she got twisted; but she
really knew what was happening in the beginning. She
really grew fast...

Some people have seriously said that there must have
been two Camillas; and I don't believe that, but I can
see where psvchologically they might have felt that at
some time. ‘

Né, I don't believe that either. What I think is that
she just plain evolved, like a butterfly evolves. She
evolved from somebody who's real naive starting college.
As the years rolled by, I could see that whoever she was
began to be. She began to be who she was...

wWhat happened to change her relationship with you?

Oh, she thought I had taken something from her; and I
hadn't. I tried to explain to her, because it was very
obvious that I hadn't done this thing. aAnd she didn't

want to hear about it. My feelings were hurt at firsec,
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because I couldn't understand it. Then after a couple

of months I started thinking about it, and it came to me
that she wanted to break the relationship. She had to
break the relationship with me... And she did it.

Why did she have to break off the relationship with you?

I don't know. But that was when she was going to Berkeley.

She was going to Berkeley in two or three weeks, and she

. had to slice the relationship. We talked about that at

one time. She told me about how she had moved from place
to place so often in her childhood; and she said that when
she left one place she would leave those people behind.
She said, "I don't write letters. I don't do any of this
kind of thing. I don't try to maintain that relationship.
I just leave those people where they are; and if I come

back and they're still there, that's great.” She said

‘that she did that. She lived in the present...

I got that impression from others too, that she really cut
off relationships every time she moved., And they were so
important to her, and she would get very close; but when
she left, it was Jjust cut off.

Yes, she believed in doing that; but why she was so
definitely with me, I don't know. N
Was she acting in ways that were unknown to you or were
different to you? ’

No, just a little more extreme., When she first started

doing her little drawings, they were fun and their meaning

was obvious. But they kept getting more and more obscure.
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If I didn't understand the meaning of her drawings, she
would get really angry with me... It got to the point
where it was senseless to talk to her about artwork any
more, because she was off in some other head from me...
Her thinking that you stole something from her, was this
all just her way of breaking your relationship?

I think so, because both Dick and I had a very honest
relationship with her; and she had never questioned us on
anything befofe... In general, though, I think she was
getting a little more distraught and a little more
unhappy. Our relationship kind of went down the drain
even before that circumstance. I knew it was ending.

She was going someplace else; she was evolving out of my
interests.

What was she into?

Oh, she was into her art. And I think she got into
homosexuality about a year bgfore she left here...

So maybe part of her distancing herself was her need to
involve hers;lf in a kind of a more close sexual relation-
ship with other women? | ,

Maybe. And more artsy too. She wanted to get totally
into the art thing, and I'm not an artist at all., I
don't know... I do think that hef interests and ours
became radically different; and therefore, we couldn't
talk together any more. And that's when friendships break
up, when you have no common base any more.

And yet, Camilla could talk with many different people on
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many different levels.

Oh, yes. I think she could talk to just about anyone.

She was a kind person and really interested in other
people... ‘

Do you think she cut off her relationship with you partly
because she was getting really close? Sometimes people
get frightened when another person gets that close to
them,

Oh, no. She had moved away from here before that. It was
after she got her own place and got into her artwork.

She got real sure of herself and began to change in other
ways; and I think that's when she got into lesbianism...
Then there was no communication any more; our friendship
was ending...

Do you know why Camilla moved to Berkeley?

No; but I'm sure she had something in mind. She liked to
make moves; she didn't like to stay in any one place very
long. But by then communic;tion wasn't good between us;
so, I really don't know.

Were thére any indications of paranoid thinking in other
areas? Did she seem overly suspicious of other people or
other things?

Yes; but then she might have had her reasons, real reasons
not imagined... I can't think of any specific instances,
but it was there... I think that whatever her paranoia was,
part of it was for real reasons. I don't think her

reasoning was that far off. When the Treasury Department
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took that money out of her account, she realized what
power the government had, what terrible power, that they
could just do whatever they wanted to; so that was
probably sitting in the back of her mind.

What was the part that was non-based? She was ripped

off by the government and had a right to be féarful of
the government; but Qhat was going on in her own life, in
her relationships with other people?

I don't know. I don't think she was frightened of other
people. I think her relationships with other people were
pretty solid...

You began to lose the relationship with her and then the
next awareness was when you started reading about tﬁe.
kidnapping and the FBI got in touch with you?

She moved-up to Berkeley, and we saw her occasionally.
Then Patty was stolen about February 4; so, I think they
turned up on February 5 or 6. Something like that. I
was at work, and Dick was here. There #ere two of theﬁ,
and he stood out by the gate and talkgd with them. They
were asking what we knew about Camilla Hall, where she
was, her political thinking, and that kind of thing. And
Dick said, "What's she done now," because he thought mavbe
the Treasury Department was looking for her again. He
said, "What's she done now--steal Patty Hearst?” He was
really afraid they would think he knew something about it;
but he just opened his big mouth and said that... She

wasn't the kind to get into things like that, you know,
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nasty thingé like stealing somebody's person. But it was
just a joke on Dick's part, because it was on all the news.
Were you really surprised?

Yes, I just couldn't believe it. But then again, I guess
I could. When the dialogues came out from the SLA, their
thinking and their demands sounded so much like Camilla.
There was no mistake; it was the Camilla Hall we knew.
People don't change that much; they don't change underneath
that much. So we knew it was no fluke that she was in
there, because it was her thinking as I remembered it
coming through on those communiques. Yes, it was really

a surprise though.

So,'the way of thinking didn't surprise you; but the fact
that she would be involved in a group that was so viclent
did surprise you? .

Yes. Yes. It's one thing to be angry, but something else
to do such a rash thing as that.

You feel like all six of them committed suicide?

Oh, yes. I'm sure of it. I watched them there, and I

was trying to make sense out of it. And they didn't come
out; that's the thing... When I first started watching it
on TV, they were shooting out; but the cops hadn't shot
back in yet. So, I watched the whole thing, with the

tear gas and then the fire in the house. I wondered why
they didn't come out; I kept hoping they'd give themselves

up. And then I knew that they were rommitting suicide.
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Some people think that Camilla and Nancy were trying

to come out.

I think they did. I think that at the last second, they
decided to give up. That part wasn't shown on TV...

So why would somebody who loved life as much as Camilla
want to commit suicide? ‘

I think she reached the bitter end. Her thinking didn't
work. That's why I say she was stuck in 1969; I don't
think she could change her way of thinking. She couldn't
get Along in the world she was living in, because her
thinking was all screwed up. And she couldn't understand
why nobody could understand her. That's just a theory
that I've evolved.

This friend of hers who lived up in San Francisco has
described a different Camilla; but I suspect that's
because Camilla was different with people, she was always
a little to the left of anyone she was talking to. This
friend said she couldn't believe that Camilla was involved
in it, because the communiques were so badly written...
Do you mean grammatically? Well, maybe she didn't put it
down in writing; but it was her ideas going down on that
paper...

Anyway this friend's theory is that Camilla was having
kidney trouble and that set off a whole fantasy about her
own mortality since her brothers and sister had died

from this.
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Yes, that's right. She was fearful; she had that fear

of dying too... She hardly ever talked about it, almost
never, One time, I remember, I was visiting her in her
apartment back in Minneapolis. And I asked her about

it; and she told me about how they had died. And then
she said, "I'm the last one;"

What feelings were connected with that?

I don't think she ever worked through her mourning. Well,
what would you think if your three brothers and sisters
died all of natural causes? Scared.

I'd have two things I'd have a hard time dealing with.
One is that I would be scared; I would feel an awful lot
of pressure. And the other thing is I would probably be
very angry. Somebody in that family has to be angry, and
I haven't seen it in the father either. I don't think
he's ever worked it through either...

Rage is part of the mournins process; it's like step two
of that process. Maybe he just said, "Well, it's God's
will.” Which I'm sure just enraged Camilla.

That's closer to my theory, that all of this became a
working out of her anger.

Yes. Not just from the dead brothers and sisters; but
from her father too. The father's the key one I think.
But that the anger toward the father may have started it.
He became a representative of God, you think?

Yes, because he was always defending God and the Judaic-

Christian church. And he was always so right. He was
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always the professor. _

My feeling about him is that he is much less certain
about any answers. Not that he's not still Christian;
but part of this has really touched some deep spot in
him that doesn't know the answers any more.

Oh, Camilla would be very happy to hear that, that he
wasn't perfect. Maybe she thought he thought he was
perfect; and ﬁe certainly actéd that way. He wasn't
an unlikeable person; he was nice. But he always had
the answer, and he was always even-flowing, and unpene-
trable... That was a little irritating to me too, that
he didn't have any flaws at all. And I suppose that

made Camilla angry.

. Her anger toward her father may have stemmed from the

fact that he continued to defend God, that he stili
believed in the whole thing.

Yes, his faith was unshakeable.

Yéu were saying that she was trying to get her dad to
take her seriously, to see her as someone to reckon withs
and that seems like what that group was doing in rela-
tionship to society.

Yes, it is... I still have not figured out why they did
what they did. Why do &ou think they did it? To get
:eéognized? What was their message?

Thé two interviews with the Harrises in the New

Times probably come as close to explaining it from their
point of view. I think paft of their feeling was that

somehow people would rise up in support of them.
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To what end? What was their purpose?

Revolution.

Camilla was always into revolution. I met her in 1969,
and she was into that way of thinking--violence is the
only way,'nothing else works. Well, since then we've
learned that other things Qork too. Sometimes non-
violence works too. And she never saw that--ever.

So even back then, she believed that there would have
to be a revelution?

Yes, it was here. She went to several gatherings, not
riots, but get-togethers protesting things. And she was
sprayed with mace one time, and she wore contact lenses;
so, they really almost blinded her for a week. That
made her pretty angry tooc... She wasn't into guns
violence, just get-up-and-shout violence.

Did she simply believe in demonstrations even if they
led to violence, or did she actually believe that the
government would have to be~overthrown? Even back then,
did she believe there would have to be a revolution in
this country?

I think in the beginning she felt that if the people
showed their power, the government would change things.

But then as things went on and they didn't change, she

" might have thought that if you can't talk to people,

then in desparation, you must use violence. You must get

their attention some way. And if you can't do it by talk-

ing and pleading with them and demonstrating, then you

keep going until you do get their attention.
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INTERVIEW WITH UNIDENTIFIED FRIEND IN BERKELEY
TAPE 7 IN TABLE 1

UF = Unidentified Friend

HH = Mr. Harvey Honig

UF: I went to high school with Camilla. I didn't know her well.
She wasn't my closest friend, but she was everybody's'friend.
She was the class clown; it said so in the class yearbook.

And she weighed a lot more. She had a tremendous wit, a
powerful wit. Nobody disliked her. She was one of those
pPeople that everybody liked. 4ind then I didn't see her for
six years. She went her way, and I went mine after we gradu-
ated. I was out here in Serkeley in a performing company...
One of the places she lived in Berkeley was across the hall
from another of these performers, who kept bugging her to come
see the show, She fipally came, saw me and recognized me from
high school. We became fast friends. I saw her once or twice
a week for a period of two years except for the time she was
in Europe.

Hi: That was 1972-1973?

UF: ...In '69 she was in LA and did some drawing§ there, and then
she came up here. It might have been '7l1 that X ran into her
again; because it seems to me that it was only like two years

'(1971-1973). We were very close. I was taking guitar lessons
at the time, and Camilla played classical guitar. -My teacher
was a block away from her house. So, I would walk over to see
her every week (at least once a week for sure), have dinner with

her and sit and talk some evenings. She was going through a
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bunch of different trips. One of them was drawing. And, then,
at one point, she stopped drawing. '72 in fact. She did not
Qraw after '72. All of her drawings are dated 1969 to 1972.
She just one day stopped doing it all together, packed every-
thing away and wouldn't look at it any more. She started
gardening; that was her new trip. And she landscaped this
garden in the back of the house.where she was living. It was
just beautiful. She turned this weed muck into a landscaped
garden. One of the images that sticks with me is Camilla, the
pacifist, going out at night to collect the snails in a burlap
bag to take them out to Lake T to release them as opposed
to putting out poison. Camilla, the pacifist, that's bizarre.
And then the FBI man asked me if I thought she could handle a
gun. Could and would are two different things. And then I saw
the picture of her in the paper. It was a bank robbery, and
there she Qas with a gun in her hands.v Unreconcilable images.
That's the puzzle to me.

It is a puzzle. I still have dreams where she comes between
the bank robbery and her death in LA. I have this dream that
she comes to my house, and I hide her in the basement. And I
try to talk to her about what's going on in her head. Sometimes
it's just noise, and I can't understand her.

Can you tell me that dream as fully as possible?

There's a knock on the door; it's late at night. I open the
door, and it's Camilla, looking distraught. I pull her inside,
take her down into the basement to set her up to sleep, and we

sit down together to talk. I ask her what's going on with her,
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why she's doing what she's doing. Is she all right? Does.

she need any food? But mostly why. I want to know why. And
when she tries to talk to tell me why, either no sound comes
out or it's electronically garbled so that I can't comprehend
it. We can talk about anything else, and I can hear her speak;
but when it gets to that--to whyQ-the answers are always very

frustrating. And I wake up shortly thereafter. I can't make

-myself tell me why. I can't pull one out of there; it's Jjust

too weird.

She had a bladder or kidney infection for awhile, which is what
her other siblings died of. 1 chonic kidney ailment, I believe.
Do you know when this was?

The spring of '73. No, late winter of '72--like January or
February. She was drinking garlic tea, I recall. She was
drinking a lot of garlic tea and offered me some when I came to
visit., "No thanks," I said, "I'll settle for water." She
explained to me that she had seen a doctor for a kidney infec-
tion; he told her it was a simple.infection and gave her some
pills. She took the pills, and they made her uncomfortable: so,
she stopped taking them. They didn't seem to be doing any good:
so, she stopped taking the pills and started treating herself
with garlic tea. I have a very strong rooting in medicine, both
my parents are doctors; so, I tend to not believe in garlic tea
and to believe in medicine. We would have continual arguments
about treating yourself and Adele Davis' philosophy of herbal
treatment, which she subscribed to to an extent. She wasn't

into it like a fanatic; but she was on the fringes of it and
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certainly trusted it and definitely rejected medicine.

Let's pick up the story where she came to that performance and
saw you. You got together again and became good friends?

Yes, right away; instantly. She was one of those people that I
wanted to know, and it was mutual. It's strange. He couldn't
have been picking up on anything-from high school except
nostalgia; because we didn't know each other that well in high
school. And we were both so very different by then; it's strange
the differences. But she played classical guitar and so did I;
we both had that in common. The more we talked, the more we
liked each other. We talked politics a lot. After the fact,
that seemed strange; but at the time, it seemed perfectly normal.
What did she talk about? i

She would talk just to the left of where I was. Whatever posi-
tion I was arguing, she would go a little further left. I can
see that now in perspective, looking back., I didn't notice it,
wasn't conscious of it, at the time. I presumed she was telling
the truth. I've since learned frbm these other members of the
art collective, two of whom are more radical than I in degrees,
that she would talk to their level to them and to my level to me.
This is something we found out by getting together after her
death. For example, after the kidnapping but before she
disappeared, she was sﬁill in town living at hceme (I've since
heard it implied that she was a lookout for the SLA and that she
participated in some manner); and I was over visiting. We were
talking about the kidnapping of Patricia Hearst and what a

ridiculous, useless revolutionary weapon kidnapping a rich
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person was. The kidnapping was not the way to change the
world. And she agreed; we argued the same side.

She agreed?

Yes, that's what's so bizarre. We were both talking about what
a wasted effort that was for a revolutionary movement. It was
not a practical revolutionary activity. .

She doesn't seem like the kind of person who would have done
that totally as a front.

I never knew her to lie to me. I never felt like she was lying
to me. I always thought I knew where she was coming from; so,
I don't know how to explain it. Maybe, she had some schizo-
phrenic relationship to the revolutionary group and the rest

of the world, even me. .

If shé were very shrewd at covering up, I could see that as a

very good front to talk that way.

'No, I don't think it was a matter of'covering up. I think it

was a matter of her not being sure of what she'd done. It's a
supposition, but I would rather believe that she was voicing
her own misgivings‘and bouncing them off me . I think that's
more likely; I never thought that she was being dishonest.

So, in this art collective that you are part of, was Pat
Soltysik in that?

No, the art collective got together after the deaths of the
SLA members. When Camilla left town to go underground, she
left her drawings with different people. 4And when the FRBI
started showing up, we started calling to warn each other about

the FBI. That's when we found out that we had all these
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drawings. So, we talked about getting together; and very
shortly thereafter, Camilla was dead. Then, we did get
together,

So you lived close to her, and you were close friends; but

you never lived with her?

No, I never lived with her. TheAplace where she first lived
in Berkeley, on Channing, is where Pat Soltysik lived upstairs.
I met Pat; she was a distant person, hard to get to know, a
very private kind of person, kind of dark and glowering. But
she really wasn't glowering; it was just kind of a way to keep
people from getting too close. I never felt threatened by her
or anything; but she didn't want to get close to me. I would
come over, the two of them would be there, and Pat would leave
shortly. It was like she was not very sociable. I didn't feel
any personal affrontery, though. Camilla would tell me some-
times about their relationship. She told me about how good
she felt about discovering that she was homosexual, about
being free of the chains of trying to be a bad heterosexual,
the freedom and joy of discovering and releasing herself to
being a homosexual and finding that she was attractive to
women,

When did she discover that?

In 1969, apparently, when she moved out to LA. That's when
she was just settling in. In fact, evan after she was

settled in. She fell in love with Pat Soltysik, Mizmoon, and
wrote her poems and such.

Was that when she discovered it? When she fell in love with

Pat?
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No. It was before that. She.had intellectually determined

her homosexuality before she met Pat and maybe had some
relationships. I'm not sure; I don't recall the details of
that.

What led her to discover that?

Depression probably; I don't know. An intense sense of
dissatisfaction, discomfort in the real world.

Dissatisfaction with the relationships she had up until then?
Yes, yes, heavy dissatisfaction. In fact, she went into a rap
once about how she had always been ugly in high school. So,
she didn't care if she got fat; because that was a noticeable
ugly, and she didn't have to worry about being facially ugly

or plain. She figured that her good humor and her wit were
mechanisms to get people to like her, since she didn't have
looks. She wasn't attractive to men except as a friend, and
that always bothered her. She never. had any dates in high
school; and she couldn't get into solid, long-lasting relation-
ships Qith men that she liked. So she stopped liking any of
them and stopped trying. She got more and more depressed and
more and moré lonely. And one day, she decided that wasn't the
only answer. There was another solution; there was another way

out. And when it dawned on her, she was delighted.

So, initially, it was kind of an intellectual thing?

I believe so, yes, rather than a singular person. Yes, that was
the impression she gave me. Whether that was made up or real,

I don't know. But, she was clearly in love with Pat Soltysik.
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She experienced herself, is that right? But it seemed like in
high school and when she was working, she would almost empha-
size that--the way she dressed, the way she came on.

And, she continued to carry that weight until she moved to LA.
That's when she lost all the weight; and that's when she

started thinking of herself as attractive to other people, not
necessarily men., I think that was the order. She decided she
had to weigh less; she was disgusting herself. Aind then, that
started a chain reaction. She weighed less, looked better,
started attracting people, noticed it, and stopped being so
lonely.

Then, she became involved with Pat?

Yes. I don't know why she moved from LA to Berkeley. I'm sure
I asked her, and I'm sure we talked about it; but I don't remem-
ber why she made the change.

wWhere did she meet Pat?

In Berkeley. I think she moved into the building where Pat
lived upstairs. I think that's how they met; but I'm not sure.
When I ran into Camilla again, Pat was living upstairs and she
was living down; and they were traversing the stairs regularly.
I remember.it went on fine for awhile, and then their relation-
ship got rocky. Camilla was in a kind of hysterical depression.
I mean that on a normal neurotic level, like we all get when
things start busting up. She did not spena a lot of time talking
about her love for Pat. She spent a small amount of time talking
about being homosexual and how hard it was to tell her parents.

That was the one thing she couldn't do, explain that to her
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parents., She hadn't done it yet, her parents were coming to
visit, and she was worried about whether or not she was going
to be able to tell them this time. I think, in fact, she
didn't.

When was that?

They would have to tell you the date. They came to visit her,
and she had a showing of her oﬁn drawings in her apartment; so,
it was back before she stopped drawing. It must have been '71.
She didn't tell them. I know they were surprised.

No, she didn't tell them; but she meant to. She had told me a
couple times, more than once, that she was going to tell them,
that this was it... Then, her relationship with Pat started
breaking up; and I think, that's when she took off and went
traveling in Europe alone. She went backpacking for the year.
She did hot spend a lot of time talking about it not working;
but it kept coming up in the conversation. She wouldn't delve
into it and discuss it with me; and I didn't push her for it.
But it was on her mind a lot; I could tell that.

Do you know‘if that is when Pat started getting involved with
the SLA?

I don't know. My impression is that the whole SLA thing was
later than that. After Camilla got back from Europe, they
started their relationship up again. And I think that while
Camilla was gone, Pat got into the SLA; I think that was in the
fall of '72...By this time, Camilla had quit drawing but was
still writing poetry and gardening. I was looking for a physical

Jjob at the time, an outdoor job. Camilla was out of work, looking
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for a job; her pictures weren't selling well enough to make a
living at yet. And I think she finally frustrated out at that
point. It was just too hard to keep it going. She decided to
abandon the drawing and try something else. So, she got into
gardening and started looking for gardening jobs. I found a

job and gave her an application @hat had come to me for a
gardening position. It was a temporary summer job., She took

the application and got the job. And, I think, she was the

first woman. Mayvbe not. But she certainly was in that immediate
vicinity 6n that crew, the Lake T____ crew. And she organized
them. She organized the temporaries into a political movement

to demand more rights and more hirability at the end of their
temporary jobs--more permanent status. I don't know how success-
ful she was, but she was definitely actively involved in it for

awhile. We would talk female politics, women politics a lot, and

generalized Nixon-ship politics (that was that year). But she

never seemed terribly depressed by politics or even terribly
excited by it, or awfully involved until it was very immediate

to her. She seemed very excited about organizing the temporaries:
that was something thrilling for her.

Camilla, from what I know of her history before this, usually got
involved in a much more personal than an ideological way. She'd
get behind a cause or she'd see people who needed help and get
involved. Why do you think she got involved in something so
heavily ideological as the SLA?

I have no idea. I cannot comprehend it. I can't see an iota

of Camilla in all the writings of the SLA so prolifically
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‘printed everywhere, I've listened to every message on the

radio. Work would stop when there would be a new communique
from the SLA, and we would all listen to it. And I never

heard anything that remotely resembled the Camilla I knew.

What hypothesis have you developed?

I have an off-the-wall theory that the Halls won't like at

all. I know that her siblings died of a kidney disease, and

I remember when her sister died. Camilla and I were in the
same class; I think it was when we were in eleventh grade that
her younger sister died. I had met her younger sister a couple
of times. They all died of kidney ailments; so, she was the
last living child of these parents. She probably felt some
heavy monitoring, at least personally, if not from her parents,
about her kidneys. I remember (although I'm not sure if this is
memory or putting something on memory) that there was more than
just local concern for the kidney infection that she had. It
was more than just a passing cold. Maybe that's what I felt,
because 1 knew her siblings had died of kidney infection. So
when she got a kidney infection, I was uptight about it. I
wanted to hear more about it; I wanted to know how she felt.
And she kept saying she was fine, she was getting better, the
garlic tea was working. Well, my off-the-wall theory is that it

wasn't working. And that the reason she switched to garlic tea

' was because the pills weren't working. And the pills weren't

working, because she really was sick and really was going to die.
That puts a whole new light on it. If I can assume that she

knew she was going to die, then I can make the leap, the mental
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leap, that it takes to turn that person into a suicidal
personality. If you're going to die anyway, suicide is a lot
easier it seems to me. It's easier to go out in a flash if

you know you're going anyway in the immediate future.

I can believe that; but why would she choose that form of
suicide? '

Because it was handy. By then Pat was involved in the SLA and
was probably trying to get Camilla involved. Whether or not
she was involved politically or ideologically was not as
relevant as how much she liked Pat and how much she needed a
cause right now to die for. That's my off-the-wall theory:
that Camilla was looking for an immediate cause to die for, and
the SLA was handy. It was there, set up, and she just walked
into it--willingly. Th%t's the only thing I can imagine; because
she was too logical, too rational, a person to think that they
would succeed. You don't get together with six, eight, ten
people and plan on using automatic weapons against the powers
that be and expect to overthrow the world. It's just not going
to happen. I cannot believe for a minute that they believed it.
Maybe one or two of them were crazy enough to believe that; but
Camilla wasn't crazy.

She seemed to have too much integrity to be willing to kill
other people of her own choice.

I would like to think so; but I saw her holding a gun in the
bank. So that picture in the paper, I can't reconcile that
either. Maybe that was just part of the game. Maybe she

wouldn't kill someone else, but she would be with people who




would; because she was with people who would.

According to the interview with the Harris's (they described
her in passing), she seemed to be very good with a gun.

She was very good with her hands. I did not say that to the
FBI man; but I can say it toc you. Yes, I can imagine her being
very good with a gun. She was méchanically intelligent; she
had very good, very skilled hands. She took a carpentry class
and built herself a bed, a very professional-looking, solid
bed. She would dabble in mechanical things and pick them up
instantly.with no problem, with no fear. That's basically what
keeps women away from mechanical things: "It's over my head; I
can't handle it." TIt's all bullshit; it's very simple. Well,
she was not fooled by that. She was easily involved in small
projects; and when things would break down, she would try to
fix them.

I talked with two people from the welfare office in Minneapolis,
both of whom liked her very much and admired her very much. But
one was very surprised that she éot into what she did, not that
she got involved because she was fairly radical and very
involved in political movements, but that she would ever get
involved in anything violent.

Yes, well radical politics in Minneapolis at that time was what
we can now look back and call liberal. She was not into that
trip. Well, that's how I felt she was when I talked to her
here in California, that she was slightly left of me but not

much. But I was wrong.
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But the other person there said.she could really understand it,
because Camilla was very logical and consistent and would have
kept following the logical consequences of her thought until

she finally believed that this was the only step left, to
overthrow the government,.

Except that she was intelligent enough to know that an auto-
matic machine gun and six crazies are not going to overthrow

the government. That, in fact, she would die in the attempt.

I cannot believe otherwise. That is the absolute I can't get
passed. She must have known, as I knew when I saw the first
reports of the kidnapping, that these people were out to die.
There is no way they were going to live through that. There
may have been one or two people in the SLA who were psychotic
enough to believe they could live through it and could overthrow
the government; but Camilla could not have been one of them.

She couldn't have fooled herself that far. I just don't believe
it. That's why my off-the-wall theory comes out, because it's
the only way I can make her get into that.

It's certainly one of the theories that has some importance to
me. The day fhat she died was the day of her brother's birthday.
I believe the one that she was closest to.

I didn't know that.

May was a very significant month... March, April and May was

the period when all the kids died. So, back in February if she
began feeling that she was having a kidney problem, living

through those months could have been rough.




It may have been longer than that. I remember she came to

our Christmas party in December. I figure it was after that,
but not much, that I first heard about the kidney infection.
When I first heard about it, she was élready drinking garlic
tea. That's how I heard about it; she hadn't spoken about it
before then., So, it had been going on for awhile; because she
had been going through medications before she turned to the
garlic tea.

You knew Pat but not well?

I knew her to recognize her.

Did you get.to talk to any of the others?

No, none of them.

Do you feel that Camilla could have gotten involved because of
Pat?

That theory was propounded in the newspapers: but I don't

‘believe it. See, that's another reaéon why my off-the-wall

theory comes to mind; because I rejected everybody else's
theories. The first theories from newspaper writérs were that
she was a crazy radical, like they were all crazy radicals; and
you could wfite them off as human beings. I couldn't do that.
because I knew her. Then, they started writing about each one
of their personalities and trying to delve in some superficial
newspaper reporter-type way. 3More than one. reporter came to the
conclusion (Marilyn Baker was one of them, and I hated her book.
What a liar.) that Pat drew her siren-like into this. I just
can't buy that. I know that she had a close relationship with

Pat, it fell apart, and they got back together. It is easier
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for me to believe that they got back together again because
Camilla was looking for a suicide place than that they got back
together again and Camilla joined the SLA in order to be close

to Pat. I have to admil it's possible; but I just don't buy it
myself, that she would allow another human being to.influence

her that heavily. See, if you reject the suicide thing (say
she's not sick, she's perfectly healthy), then I can't buy that
for the love of one person she would turn all of her politics
inside out; and would go to an extreme that is clearly suicidal;
lose her intelligent, rational ability to judge what's going on;
and fall head-over-heels into this thing because she wanted to be
near someone, That she would change her life and her personal
integrity for the sake of a love, that someone else wouldn't have
her unless she changed, I can't accept that. For one thing, Pat

fell in love with the Camilla of before and did not demand a

-change of her polities. There was a relationship without that...

Do you know whether she had any relationships that were intense
with other women?

I know that she had a few, but not a long-standing one. And I
rather doubt that they were as intense...

Just from talking with her politically, vou wouldn't have fore-
seen that kind of development?

No. I didn't see it coming. I told you, we talked about the
kidnapping and how it was an irrational move for a revolutionary
activity.

Is it possible that all along she was more radical than she let

on with you?
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Yes, it's possible. I suspect that it was a late development.

I suspect that up until a certain point, she was telling the
truth to me. That was honestly where she was. And then, at
some point for some reason, she needéd the SLA. And in joining
it, her politics changed so fast and so radically that she could
not lay that on her friends without freaking them out and pushing
them away. So, she. began layiné it on them slowly. 4And with
people who were left, she could go a little further left.

Her folks mentioned that when she was visiting them that
Christmas, her thinking had become somewhat apocalyptic. Did
you get any of that?

In what sense?

Expecting the economy to collapse, that this country was going
to fall apart at any time.

Yes, we did talk like that, but I talk like that with a lot of

"people. I did not think of that as a burning political force

that was running through her mind. I did not think of that as
the oniy way she was thinking; but it was certainly one of the
ways... In the context of Berkeley at that time, that was not
unusual, especially because that was the end of Nixon at that
time. That's when he was coming down. We took great joy in
that... It was a sign of capitalism deéaying and coming down.
But this was not to the exclusion of more practical, more
realistic, more day-to-day politics.

Is there any way in which you could see Camilla as naive about
the SLA?

Yes. She was naive in a number of ways; but that's a part of
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growing up for all of us, I think when her relationship with
Pat started getting rocky, she lost some of her naiveté...

Do you think she was really aware of what the SLA was?

You don't go to a gun range and practice firing weapons with

a group of people intent on getting good at it, wiﬁhout the
intention of using them. And for her to make that leap from
the politics that I thought shé was at, requires some incred-
ible intervening factor. iAnd it's not naiveté. And it's not
a love affair,

The two things that seem important about Camilla are the death
o her siblings and the possible guilt...

And the responsibility (which I heard in many conversations) of
being the only child left. That's one of the reasons she
couldn’'t tell her parents that she was homosexual, because she
was their only kid.

I wonder if she was searching for a family, and if the SLi
provided it.

Except for not being able to tell them she was a homosexual, I
felt that she was close to her parents in a loving, warm way.
So, it doeén't ring right that she was looking for a familv.
Do you mean as a replacement for her siblings? She called the
temporary workers she organized brothers and sisters. She
called me sister a few times.

The literature I.read about the SLA described the extraordinary
closeness of the members. Perhaps, being under a constant

death threat made this possible.
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I think that has to happen. I see that happen to a much lesser
degree in the theater, You get a bunch of people together for
an intense activity, and they do become very close. And
certainly the SLA was an intense activity. Whether she got
into it for that closeness or got into it for another reason
with the closeness developing of its own volition, I don't

know which comes first... A

When did you put together your off-the-wall theory?

I didn't put together my theory until much later, after this
dream started occurring to me. What happened was that towards
the end of February ('74), Camilla announced to me and a few
other friends that she was having a house sale; because she was

moving. The story was that she was moving to Palo Alto to an

estate to be the gardner. She went to great detail in describing
the place. She said her new qua;ters would be very small, sc she

" could only take what would fit in her car. That's how I got a

lot of her pictures. It was a big whirlwind move; she anncunced
her move just a few days before she planned to leave... So, any-
way, she had this big story about where she was going to move
and what she was going to do; and we all believed it. I asked
her what her address was so I could write to her, and she said
she couldn't remember it off-hand. She said she would write to
me with the address when she got there. She said I could expect
a postcard in a week or so. Then she disappeared, and eight or
ten days later I saw the newspaper picture of Camilla Hall, the

bank robber. I recognized her instantly, even though she was in
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disguise.,.. One of the bizarre things about her disguise 'as
that she was not wearing her glasses. Camilla had extremely
poor eyesight; she was blind without her glasses... She had

said one time that she couldn't wear contact lenses, because
they couldn’f make them strong enough for her. She said they
wvere useleés to her... I don't know how she could have walked
around in that bank with no glasses.

That would suggest that she had no intention or no capability
of using the gun in the bank robbery.

Perhaps.‘ In the films of the bank robbery she moved around like
she could see; so, maybe she got contacts that were just suffi-
cient., I don't know; but it's weird. I also have another theory
that there are two different people. I like that one, because
it resolves all the conflicts.

How does that theory go?

Oh, just that we're all crazy, that there are really two different
people, that Camilla is down in Palo Alto somewhere gardening,
and that somebody who looked just like her did these things.
That's not really a theory; it's just a wish... It was shortly
after I saw the picture of the bank robbery in the newspaper
that I started having this dream. It was even a daytime dream,
a wish that she would come to me. It was a hope that she would
come to me. I would hide her. I would be willing to commit a
felony to find out why the heck she had done this, what had
changed her so and to try to pull her out of it. I could see

from the time of the kidnapping, how suicidal the SLA was; and
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we had talked about that briefly. And I thought we were on

the same side of that one. Now, I could see she was part of
it; and I wanted to shake her by the shoulders and make her
live.

She agreed that they were suicidal?

I don't know that that specifically came up in the conversation.
I don't know that I was that ciear on it then. But that they
were crazy, yes, we used general kinds of things like crazy and
hopelessly divided against themselves. And the idea of taking
up guns and kidnapping somebody is not going to change the
world; it's not going to bring down capitalism; it's not going
to bring down the United States government. The FBI will wipe
them all out in a few weeks. That kind of thing. But, to

speak of it specifically as "their intent is suicidal”, I don't

~think we did that. I think that was my own thought process

later., But it leads to that. If whaf they're doing is hopeless,
then if they are rational beings, they are suicidal...

The reason I'm interested in yowdream, also, is because usually
on an unconscious level, we pick up intuitions of what really

is going on. Your dream suggests that even on that level it
doesn't make any sense, that it just doesn't add up.

Even my off-the-wall theory is not satisfying me at a dream
level. I'm still having that dream...

There is one other thing I've been trying to figure out. Almost
everyone who gets this involved in a revolutionary cause seems
to be very angry. But, I don't see any evidence that Camilla

was angry.
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No more so than a normal person. A lot of people were angry

at Nixon, and a lot of people were angry at the SLA. There

was that kind of removed anger. Camilla certainly had that.
But was she an angry person?

No, there was no intense hostility in Camilla. That would
explain it all to me, and I wouldn't continue to have this
dream.

The other thing is that during the time she was in Minneapolis
there seemed to be very little depression.

Yes, the most depressed I ever saw her was when she was on the
rocks with Pat, and that was a very localized depression. It
did not permeate her life. The other time I saw her in a kind
of depression was when she decided to give up drawing and to
get down to the practical reality of making a living. But that
was not.a depression so much as a frustration. It certainly
wasn't a heavy anger.

Most people who are suicidal are pretty heavily depressed.

Yes, fhat's why my off-the-wall theory makes up for that: the
theory is that Camilla suddenly saw her own'mortality. That it
wasn't depression itself that brought on ner suicidal. It was
her physical mortality, knowing that she was going to die in the
next few months. That brought it on.

There are a lot of things that fit, and a lot that don't.

She was pacifistic, a very warm, very generous, very loving
person., She hadn't lost any of the charm that made her class
clown. Her wit was just as sharp as ever... She dragged me

hiking one day and took great relish and joy in how tired I was
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getting. She knew that I had enough ego and pride to keep
going no matter what. She kept teasing me. We did a ten mile
hike with no preparation. She was in tremendous good shape.
Well, now I see that in retrospect as part of the getting in
shape thing, of part of the whole physical .-fitness thing the
SLA was on. She was in tremendoﬁs good shape; it just didn't
phase her at all. But, it practically destroyed me to walk
ten miles out, sleep overnight, and walk ten miles back.

Th#t is another thing that doeén't seem to fit in the suicide
theory. When she decided to get into it, she really got into
it.

But all things are possible once you make that leap. Once

you've decided that it doesn't matter, then anything can happen.

You can take any direction you want to take. In fact, making
yourself more physically fit is a kind of fanaticism that is
directly related to that. You know you are going to die very
soon, and now's the time to get your body in perfect shape and
enjoy the end of it. The alternétive is to lie in bed and die.
So, the opposite of that is to take ten mile hikes and do
push-ups, the opposite of passively accepting the inevitable...
In your dream, Camilla's words are'all scrambled and garbled;
but what is she like?

She's calm, sincere, straight while she's answering me., She's
trying to tell me; she's trying to explain to me.

While she's telling you, she's calm, she's fairly serene?

Yes. She can tell me; but I can't hear.

Is she talking like someone who is calmly accepting her death?
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That's interesting. I never thought of it like that. It is

a kind of peace that I can easily associate with that. When
she comes to the door, she's not distraught, she's exhausted.
She's very tired, malnourished, dirty and obviously has been
through a lot; but she's also happy, smiling and at peace.
She's very calm, not frantic or hysterical; I'm the one who's
frantic, hysterical. I'm trying to get her in out of the street
lights, to hide her in the basement.

So maybe she wasn't in hiding. Maybe she was all right.

In my dream she is, yes.

I suspect that if she was like that in your dream, she was like
that in reality.

Serenely accepting whatever it was she got into to? That's
easier to believe than that she was working agéinst her will.
She was a strong-willed person, with very strong integrity. I
can't believe she would work against her will in something she
didn't want to do... .

Have &ou heard that she was trying to get out of the SLA?

I might have; but I don't remember for sure. The ACLU report
(which is fhe report about the burnout, the last minute) indi-
cated that perhaps they were trying to get out of the burning
house, that they were coming out with their hands up. But bad
communication between the FBI and the attack squad resulted in
their being shotdown while trying to surrender. Whether or not
that was true, who knows? When you get right down to the last
minute, perhaps hope does come back and you want to live. Ais

far as wanting to leave earlier than that, I can't remember
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hearing that. Was that a reporter's theory?

That was a letter found on her body.

How could a letter be found on a body charred beyond recogni-
tion? I remember hearing that a letfer was found; but I find
that very bizarre. The body was so charred that they recog-

nized her, unrecognized her, and recognized her again. They

kept changing their minds all day. In fact, that's when the

idea came up that she would come to me, that I would hide her

and find out why... It's not a nightmare in the sense of scary;

it's a nightmare in the sense of the intense frustration I feel.

I don't think I'll ever get rid of it.
I don't think you will until you resolve what it meant to you.

From right now, from this perspective, the more likely possi-

bility is that I was wrong about her. I don't accept that, but

it is a possibility.

Let's take that as an hypothesis, that she might have done that

to you. Can you think of why she might have done that?
No, I wasn't useful to her in any political way.
So, she really wouldn't have been covering her tracks by doing

that?

Oh, you mean she wouldn't tell me the truth in order to protect

me?

I don't know. One possibility at that point, is that telling
you the truth éould have been the equivalent of telling her
parents about her homosexuality. You were an important friend
to her, and she knew that you couldn't accept this radical

activity at all.
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So, rather than lose our friendship, she misrepresented her
perspective. Yes, that's possible., But it still doesn't
work. Either she was lying to me from the beginning or else
she changed at some point. I'm opting for the second possi-
bility, that she changed later for whatever reason... But the
important thing is why did she change, not that sheiwas making
things up for me. What made her change? That's what I can't
reconcile... I thought I understood Camilla Hall, her basic
sense of reality was very humane, life-enhancing, very warm,
loving and hopeful. But the pblitics she ended up with was
very inhumane, very unwarm, unloving and very hopeless. And
to make that drastic a change in such a short period of time,
is inconceivable unless there is an intervening factor like

her approaching death...
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§T. JoHNY BV LUTHINAN CHURSH

LINCOLNWOOD, ILL

DR. GEORGE F. HALL . Pastor

August 9, 1976

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

Mr. Harvey Honig, a graduate student at Loyola University,
is writing a dissertation on the subject of my daughter,
Camilla Christine Hall.

My wife and I will be pleased if you will extend every
courtesy to him and assist him in the inquiry which he

is making. He has our permission to examine any records

you have in your files.

4707 PRATT AVENUE - LINCOLNWOOD ILLINOIS 60646 ALL FHONES - 312-673-3378
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E v W UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA student Counseling Bureau >

TWIN CITIES i 101 Eddy Hall
' Minneapolis, Minnesota 55455

August 30, 1976

Harvey Honig
3731 North Pine Grove
Chicago, ILL 60613

Dear Mr, Honig:

After your contact with me | had follow-up conversations with staff in the
Office of the University Attorney. Your request for access to a deceased
student's file was unusual enough so that our policies needed to be
reviewed.

The University of Minnesota attorney has indicated that a properly signed
release from the parents of the student will be adequate to permit

access. | have talked to Dr. George Hall so that we could be assured
that he had provided iniormed consent. He assures us that this was his
intention.

| am writing to you to indicate that you may have access to informaticn
from University files which would otherwise be open to the student or

the student's parents. | am sending a copvy of this letter to John Fisher
in the Office of Admissions and Records and to Pamela Dizikes, Assistant
‘University Attorney. VYou may contact the Student Ccunseling Bureau at
such time as you are prepared to review the file information, We will
provide our cooperation to you. You may also wish to use a copy of this
letter to you with other University offices who may wonder about providing
access to student's file information.

tf we can provide additional information to you, please write.

Cordially,

Plerre Heyerkﬂzf*ﬂ

Assistant Director and
Assistant Professor

cc: Pamela Dizikes
John Fisher




THESIS ZPPROVIL NOTICCT
Departmental Review Board for 226
the Protection of Human Subjects

Harvey K. honig

Student
Address 3731 N. Pine Grove, Chicago, I1. 60613
Department Fsychology

Thesis Cimmittee A1 Detiolfe (Chairperscn)

Frank Kobler, John Shack

-

. . ’ 7/ - e
Date Submitted to the Review Board ,/ AL

//7‘[//' 7

Thesis Title (as filed with the CGraduate School, section II of
the tnesis outline):

A psychotiogrartical study of Camilla dall
Py

Action of the Departmental Review Committee:

e R T P
..__;'_.__\,3 PEREEE MR & 3 “‘:, 3l . T
A N R R o hariyTe -

PR . ! ’f/‘. :
LIGLa g-ig-7e renesh A e S
FGN

LI I R 0

Two copies of this form are needed, one copy to be returned to
the student and the other to be filed with ths graduate school.



227

APPROVAL SHEET

The dissertation submitted by HARVEY H. HONIG has been read and
approved by the following cammittee:

Dr. Alan De Wolfe
Dr. Frank Kobler

Dr. John Shack

The final copies have been examined by the director of the dissertation
and the signature which appears below verifies the fact that any
necessary changes have been incorporated and that the disseration

is now given final approval by the Committee with reference to

content and form.

The dissertatior is therefore accepted in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

wfes 7% e 5 b tvete

DATE / / DIRECTOR'S SIGNATURE



	A Psychobiographical Study of Camilla Hall
	Recommended Citation

	img001
	img002
	img003
	img004
	img005
	img006
	img007
	img008
	img009
	img010
	img011
	img012
	img013
	img014
	img015
	img016
	img017
	img018
	img019
	img020
	img021
	img022
	img023
	img024
	img025
	img026
	img027
	img028
	img029
	img030
	img031
	img032
	img033
	img034
	img035
	img036
	img037
	img038
	img039
	img040
	img041
	img042
	img043
	img044
	img045
	img046
	img047
	img048
	img049
	img050
	img051
	img052
	img053
	img054
	img055
	img056
	img057
	img058
	img059
	img060
	img061
	img062
	img063
	img064
	img065
	img066
	img067
	img068
	img069
	img070
	img071
	img072
	img074
	img075
	img076
	img077
	img078
	img079
	img080
	img081
	img082
	img083
	img084
	img085
	img086
	img087
	img088
	img089
	img090
	img091
	img092
	img093
	img094
	img095
	img096
	img097
	img098
	img099
	img100
	img101
	img102
	img103
	img104
	img105
	img106
	img107
	img108
	img109
	img110
	img111
	img112
	img114
	img115
	img116
	img117
	img118
	img119
	img120
	img121
	img122
	img123
	img124
	img125
	img126
	img127
	img128
	img129
	img130
	img131
	img132
	img133
	img134
	img135
	img136
	img137
	img138
	img139
	img140
	img141
	img142
	img143
	img144
	img145
	img146
	img147
	img148
	img149
	img150
	img151
	img152
	img153
	img154
	img155
	img156
	img157
	img158
	img159
	img160
	img161
	img162
	img163
	img164
	img165
	img166
	img167
	img168
	img169
	img170
	img171
	img172
	img173
	img174
	img175
	img176
	img177
	img178
	img179
	img180
	img181
	img182
	img183
	img184
	img185
	img186
	img187
	img188
	img189
	img190
	img191
	img192
	img193
	img194
	img195
	img196
	img197
	img198
	img199
	img200
	img201
	img202
	img203
	img204
	img205
	img206
	img207
	img208
	img209
	img210
	img211
	img212
	img213
	img214
	img215
	img216
	img217
	img218
	img219
	img220
	img221
	img222
	img223
	img224
	img225
	img226
	img227
	img228
	img229
	img230
	img231
	img232
	img233
	img234
	img235
	img236
	img237
	img238

